
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   Horsham.gov.uk   Chief Executive – Tom Crowley

222 1

Council
Wednesday, 7th December, 2016 at 6.00 pm
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

To: All Members of the Council

(Please note that prayers will be taken by The Reverend Canon Guy Bridgewater, Vicar of Horsham 
before the meeting commences)

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Tom Crowley

Chief Executive
Agenda

Page No.

1.  Apologies for absence
2.  Minutes 5 - 8

To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 19th 
October 2016

3.  Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members

4.  Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Council, the Leader, 
Members of the Cabinet or the Chief Executive

5.  Questions from the Public
To receive questions from the public under Rule 2.1(e)

6.  Questions from Members under Rule 10.2
To receive questions from Members under Rule 10.2 (Questions by Members 
on notice)

7.  Recommendations from Cabinet 9 - 10

To receive recommendations from the Cabinet meeting of 24th November 2016 
on the Medium Term Financial Strategy
(agenda online at: Cabinet_agenda )

Public Document Pack

http://horsham.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=302


8.  Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee
To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
held on 28th November 2016 (to follow) 
(agenda online at Overview_and_Scrutiny_agenda) 

9.  Revised Constitution 11 - 184

To receive the report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services on the 
proposed revised Constitution

10.  Electoral Review of Horsham: Warding Arrangements 185 - 202

To receive the report of the Chief Executive on the Council’s response to the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England’s consultation on 
warding arrangements for Horsham District Council.

11.  Interim Review of Polling Districts and Places 203 - 206

To receive the report of the Electoral Registration Officer on an interim review 
of polling districts and places as a consequence of changes to the County 
Council Divisions

12.  Appointment of External Auditors 207 - 212

To receive the report of the Director of Corporate Resources on an invitation 
from Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited for Horsham District Council to 
become an opted in authority for the purposes of appointing external auditors

13.  Appointments to Committees
To receive the nominations of the Conservative Group Leader to fill vacancies 
on the following Committees and to note the appointment of Councillor Billy 
Greening to the Development Management (North) Committee:

 Licensing Committee
 Standards Committee
 Planning and Development Policy Development Advisory Group

14.  To receive reports from representatives on outside bodies
15.  Urgent Business

To consider matters certified by the Chairman as urgent

http://horsham.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=250


GUIDANCE ON COUNCIL PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4A of the Council’s Constitution)

Addressing the 
Council

Members must address the meeting through the Chairman.  When the 
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at 
the time must stop.  The Chairman will decide whether he or she prefers 
Members to stand or sit when addressing the Council.

Minutes Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the 
minutes only

Declarations of 
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and 
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or 
pecuniary).  If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting

Announcements These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no 
debate/decisions

Questions from the 
public 
(Notice must have 
been given in writing 
to the Chief Executive 
by 12.00 on the last 
but one working day 
before the meeting) 

Directed to Leader, Cabinet Member or Chairman of an ordinary 
committee. 2 minutes in total to put 1 or 2 questions.  Appropriate 
Member to reply.  Questioner may ask one supplementary question.  
Member to reply. 
Overall time limit for questions of 15 minutes.  If a questioner is unable 
to attend, the Chairman may ask the question or a written reply may be 
given.
If a question cannot be dealt with at the meeting (lack of time or 
absence of relevant Member), a written reply to be given.
No discussion but any Member may move that a matter raised by a 
question is referred to Cabinet or committee.  If seconded, no 
discussion – vote taken.

Petitions
(See petitions 
procedure – Part 4J of 
the Council’s 
Constitution)

Petition organiser has maximum of 5 minutes to present the petition.  
Relevant Cabinet Member has maximum 5 minutes right of reply.  
Members discuss for overall maximum of 30 minutes – each Member 
speaking has a maximum of 3 minutes.  Council decides how to respond 
(e.g. recommend Cabinet Member to take specific action or ask for 
further investigation/report).

Cabinet 
recommendations
(see also rules of 
debate)

Leader/Cabinet Member presents and moves recommendation(s) – 
seconder required.  Members may: 
- ask a question on the item under consideration – max 2 minutes; 
and/or 
- make a statement – max 5 minutes. 

Questions from 
Members on Notice
(Notice must have 
been given in writing 
to the Chief Executive 
by 12.00 on the last 
but one working day 
before the meeting)

These are directed to the Chairman, Leader, Cabinet Member or 
chairman of any committee: 
- 2 minutes maximum for initial question
- 5 minutes maximum for the response
- 1 minute maximum for a supplementary question
- 2 minutes maximum for a response to the supplementary question
-  5 minutes maximum for the questioner to make a final statement in 

response, if they wish
- If an oral reply is not convenient (e.g. too lengthy) a written answer 

may be circulated later.
No discussion.

Page 3

Agenda Annex



Rules of debate The Chairman controls debate and normally follows these rules but 
Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.

- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain 
purpose) and seconded

- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to 
him/her before it is discussed

- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the question under discussion or a personal 

explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes)
- A Member may not speak again except:

o On an amendment
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been 

amended since he/she last spoke
o If first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the 

main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply.  Mover of motion at end of 

debate on original motion and any amendments (may not 
otherwise speak on amendment).  Mover of amendment 
has no right of reply.

o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of 
Council Procedure Rules or law.  Chairman must hear 
the point of order immediately.  The ruling of the 
Chairman on the matter will be final.

o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier 
speech by the Member which may appear to have been 
misunderstood.  The Chairman’s ruling on the 
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.

- Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for 

(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert or add others (as long as this 

does not negate the motion)
- One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided 

upon.
- Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which 

further amendments may be moved.
- A Member may amend a motion that he/she has moved with the 

consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified 
without discussion).

-  A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the 
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified 
without discussion).

- The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate 
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Voting Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show 
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- A majority of the Members present request a ballot; or
- A single Member requests a recorded vote (this overrides a request 

for a ballot).
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be 
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or 
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Page 4



1

Council
19 OCTOBER 2016

Present: Councillors: John Bailey, Andrew Baldwin, Toni Bradnum, 
John Chidlow, Jonathan Chowen, Philip Circus, Paul Clarke, 
Roger Clarke, David Coldwell, Roy Cornell, Christine Costin, 
Leonard Crosbie, Ray Dawe, Brian Donnelly, Matthew French, 
Tony Hogben, David Jenkins, Nigel Jupp, Liz Kitchen, Tim Lloyd, 
Paul Marshall, Christian Mitchell, Mike Morgan, Stuart Ritchie, 
Jim Sanson, David Skipp, Ben Staines, Simon Torn, Michael Willett 
and Tricia Youtan

Apologies: Councillors: John Blackall, Alan Britten, Karen Burgess, Peter Burgess, 
Jonathan Dancer, Adrian Lee, Gordon Lindsay, Josh Murphy, 
Godfrey Newman, Brian O'Connell, Connor Relleen, Kate Rowbottom 
and Claire Vickers

Also Present:

CO/34  MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 7th September 2016 were 
approved as correct records and signed by the Chairman.

CO/35  DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest.

CO/36  HORSHAM YOUNG PERSONS' COUNCIL (HYPER)

The Chairman welcomed the representatives from the Horsham Young 
Persons’ Council (HYPER) and invited them to give their presentation.

The representatives of HYPER provided Members with an overview of what 
HYPER does and how they operate.

Members praised HYPER for their work and what they represent.

CO/37  ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Chairman thanked the Chief Executive for raising £2300 for the Chairman’s 
Charitable Trust Fund.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Protection announced that HDC’s 
Environmental Health Department had been invited to the International 
Regulatory Conference, and took a moment to praise the work of the officers.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Council
19 October 2016

2

CO/38  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

No questions had been received.

CO/39  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS UNDER RULE 10.2

Councillor Andrew Baldwin asked the following question:

Following confirmation that Britanniacrest Recycling Limited intends to submit to 
West Sussex County Council a planning application for an energy from waste 
mass burning incinerator in North Horsham will the Cabinet Member Continue 
this Council’s past policy of actively promoting recycling to avoid the need for a 
waste incinerator? Furthermore, will he use his Cabinet office to strongly lobby 
West Sussex County Council against any proposal for an incinerator and in so 
doing hold seminars and meetings with Members, Officers and relevant Parish 
Councils as part of such a strategy?

Councillor Ray Dawe, Leader of the Council replied as follows:

Thank you for the question and the opportunity to clarify the role of the Council 
in this process.  West Sussex County Council is the planning authority for 
minerals and waste planning applications.  We understand that they have been 
approached by a commercial waste company to develop a facility to sort, 
separate, and treat waste from commercial, industrial and/or municipal sources 
and therefore this is not related to household recycling.  The proposal is at the 
former Wealden brickworks site which is allocated for a waste management 
facility in the West Sussex local plan.  The Council will be a consulted on any 
planning application but the decision will be made by West Sussex County 
Council.  However, please be reassured that any planning application will be 
required to demonstrate how the environmental requirements have been fully 
met and this will include traffic impact, landscape impact, air quality, noise, etc.
 
I can confirm that the Council will continue to actively promote recycling. We are 
already very active in this area, and continue to achieve the highest recycling 
rate across West Sussex authorities.

CO/40  MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

The following minutes were received:
 
Standards Committee – 14th September 2016
           
CenSus Joint Committee – 23rd September 2016
 
Personnel Committee – 28th September 2016

Page 6



Council
19 October 2016

3

3

CO/41  ACCOUNTS, AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE OF 13TH 
SEPTEMBER 2016

The minutes of the Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee meeting held 
on 13th September 2016 were received.
 
Councillor Stuart Ritchie, the Vice-Chairman of the Committee, moved the 
recommendation contained in Minute No. AAG/23.

Revision of the 2016/17 Treasury Management Strategy
 
            RESOLVED
 

That the 2016/17 Treasury Management Strategy be amended with an 
increase in the limit on long term investments from £8,000,000 to 
£12,000,000 and an increase in the limit on pooled funds other than 
Money Market Funds from £5,000,000 to £10,000,000.

 
REASON

 
(i)         The annual treasury report is a requirement of the Council’s 

reporting procedures. The report also covers the actual Prudential 
Indicators for 2015/16 in accordance with the requirements of the 
relevant CIPFA Codes of Practice.

 
(ii)        External economic developments together with an increase in the 

monies needing to be invested necessitate a revision to the 
current strategy.

CO/43  MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The minutes of the meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
26th September 2016 were received.

CO/44  TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM REPRESENTATIVES ON OUTSIDE BODIES

Councillor Costin reported that the Horsham in Bloom’s Schools competition 
2016 results were available on the Horsham in Bloom Website.

CO/45  URGENT BUSINESS

There was no urgent business.

The meeting closed at 6.47 pm having commenced at 6.00 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



17

COUNCIL
7TH DECEMBER 2016

CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS

Details of RecommendationS to Council made at the Cabinet Meeting held on 24th 
November 2016 are set out below.

EX/49 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets reported that the review of the 
Financial Strategy, as part of the budget setting process, enabled a balanced 
budget target to be established with a focus on an affordable level of Council Tax, 
delivery of the corporate priorities and policies of the Council and the continued 
enhancement of value for money and satisfaction with services for the residents of 
the District.

The 2016/17 budget was set in February 2016 and future deficits had been 
projected for 2017/18 through to 2019/20.  Since then there had been a period of 
planning on a range of income generation ideas, continuing the business 
transformation journey to the next stage and other efficiency measures. The current 
report set out the proposed strategy for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 to establish 
the context for the Council’s budget and medium term financial planning scenarios 
and assumptions.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL

(i) That the projected budget gap be noted as detailed in the report.

(ii) That the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20 be approved.

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



18
Page 10



Report to Council 

7 December 2016
By the Monitoring Officer
DECISION REQUIRED

Not Exempt 

Revised Constitution for Horsham District Council           

Executive Summary

The Constitution Review Group created at Full Council on 27 April 2016 has concluded its 
review of the constitution and is recommending a revised constitution for Horsham District 
Council. 

Recommendations

That the Council is recommended:

i) To agree the revised constitution for Horsham District Council (attached at 
appendix 2), with effect from 8 December 2016.

ii) To dissolve the Council’s Personnel Committee and transfer all functions of 
the Personnel Committee to the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive).

iii) To create a Governance Committee comprising nine Councillors including 
the Chairman of the Council, the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and  one Cabinet Member.

iv) To agree (subject to Council’s agreement to recommendation iii above) that 
the Governance Committee (and not the Accounts, Audit and Governance 
Committee) now undertake the review of the effectiveness of the changes to 
governance arrangements agreed by Council on 27 April 2016. 

v) To note that the Monitoring Officer will make any minor, typographical and 
presentational adjustments to the revised Constitution in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Council.  

Reasons for Recommendations

i) To satisfy the requirement for the Council to keep its Constitution under 
review pursuant to section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 (as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011). 

ii) To satisfy the resolution of Full Council, 27 April 2016, that a review be 
undertaken according to the terms of reference set out, and that 
recommendations be made to Full Council for consideration. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



         

Background Papers

Presentation to all members, 23 November 2016

Wards affected: All wards.

Contact: Paul Cummins, Head of Legal and Democratic Services. 

Page 12



Background Information

1 Introduction and General Background

1.1 It is a legal requirement for the Council to have a Constitution under the Local 
Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011). 

1.2 The Government originally issued a ‘model’ Constitution for adoption by all Councils 
under the Local Government Act 2000 but since that date there have been no 
further updates. As a result, Councils have updated their Constitutions themselves, 
overtime, usually by adding to the document as new legislation has been enacted or 
in response to internal changes within the Council, such as, reorganisation of 
governance arrangements or restructures of the Council’s management. It has 
meant Councils Constitutions have moved away from the model and in many cases 
have become bigger, more bureaucratic and complex as a result. Horsham District 
Council has been typical in this regard and it was clear that a major review of the 
Constitution was necessary.

1.3 Since the Localism Act 2011 many Councils have reviewed and rewritten their 
Constitutions as that Act, as well as bringing about significant change in local 
government, it gave Councils the opportunity to examine their governance 
arrangements. A major review of governance arrangements took place at the 
Council following the 2015 Election and this together with the Council’s 
transformation agenda has driven the need for the Council review its Constitution.

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 The Corporate Plan 2016-19 heading Efficiency- Great value services will be better 
enabled by a modern, agile constitution which is flexible, permissive, well-
understood, and realigned to a model constitution in an accessible single-document 
format.

3 Details of the Review

3.1 At Council on 27 April 2016 it was resolved to form a Constitution Review Group of 
Members to oversee a rewrite of the Council Constitution and facilitate member 
engagement in the review. The Constitution Review Group comprised; the 
Chairman of the Council, the Vice-Chairman of the Council, the Leader of the 
Council, the Deputy Leader of the Council, the Leader of the minority group, the 
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Vice-Chairman of Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, the Chairman of Standards Committee, the Chairman of 
Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee and a Cabinet Member.

3.2 The terms of reference for the group were set by council in April. The Group  
wanted to create a document which was shorter, up to date, consistent, more easily 
understood and fit for purpose. It was important for the Group that the document 
contained several key requirements; that it was clear what comprised the budget 
and policy framework, the functions of Cabinet and Scrutiny, had an effective key 
decision and forward plan framework, specified open and transparent decision-
making, clear and meaningful financial limits and compliant with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015.

Page 13



3.3 The Group was supported by the Monitoring Officer and Governance Project 
Manager. The Group met fortnightly over a four month period to consider reports 
and draft sections produced by those officers. Sections were draft by the officers 
comprising a combination of best practice from other Councils and templates 
produced by law firm Bond Dickenson (commissioned by Monitoring Officers 
nationally following the Localism Act 2011). In between meetings Members 
undertook further work in reviewing documentation and drafts.

3.4 The completed draft document has reduced the size of the Constitution from the 
current 358 pages to 170 pages. Duplication and unnecessary sections of the 
document have been removed. The Scheme of Delegation has followed current 
best practice in being set out as an ‘exception based’ scheme rather than a list of 
legislative provisions. A full schedule of changes is set out at Appendix 1.

Personnel Committee

3.5 As part of the review the Group have recommended that the Personnel Committee 
be dissolved. Under legislation staffing matters are a function of the Head of Paid 
Service (the Chief Executive) and therefore it is proposed that the functions of the 
Personnel Committee are transferred to the Head of Paid Service. The Head of 
Paid Service has discretion to report to Full Council on staffing matters.

Governance Committee

3.6 The Group have recommended the creation of a new Governance Committee which 
will be tasked with maintaining the Constitution, recommending future amendments 
and supporting the Monitoring Officer on any mandatory changes as a result of new 
legislation or minor changes, for example, changes in job title of Senior Officers. 
The Governance Committee will undertake a review of the Council new governance 
arrangements, including the operation of Policy Development Advisory Groups 
(PDAGs) in 2017, consequent to the recommendation of Full Council in April 2016. 
The terms of reference of the Committee will also include overseeing Electoral and 
Boundary Reviews. 

4 Next Steps

4.1 The revised Constitution becomes effective from the resolution of council, 8 
December 2016. 

4.2 Members will be appointed to the Governance Committee at Council on 15 
February 2017.

5 Outcome of Consultations

5.1 The Constitution Review Group carried out a thorough review and revision of the 
Council Constitution between July 2016 and November 2016. A number of other 
Members attended meetings of the Constitution Review Group and contributed to 
this process.

5.2 An All-Member Briefing took place on 23 November 2016.

Page 14



5.3 The Senior Leadership Team have been briefed on major changes to the 
Constitution and Senior Officers have commented on drafts of sections relevant to 
their area.

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 It could have been decided not to carry out a review of the Constitution at this time.

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 There is no cost associated with the changes. The new less bureaucratic and more 
easily understood document will create opportunities for more efficient processes 
and working practices.

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 Under the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) it is 
a legal requirement for the Council to have a Constitution. 

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 The recommendations within this report are part of mitigating corporate risk CRR08 
described in the Corporate Risk Register. The risk source: The Council’s decision-
making processes are based on Constitution that is overly bureaucratic and 
unnecessarily complicated. Event: Non-compliance with the Constitution and delays 
in decision-making. The potential consequences described are: opportunities lost, 
complaints/claims/litigation/financial losses and lack of openness and transparency.

10 Other Considerations

10.1 The Constitution and its Procedures, Rules and Codes act as an enabling tool in 
helping the Council meet its obligations under the Human Rights Act 1998, Equality 
Act 2010.

10.2 Consideration of how projects and proposals can secure environmental, social and 
economic benefits and reduce negative consequences should be an integral part of 
decision-making and the Constitution will facilitate such considerations.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 - Summary schedule of revisions proposed, December 2016.

Revised constitution 
from 8 December 2016

As at 1 December 2016 Narrative

Part 1 Summary and 
Explanation

Part 1 Summary and 
Explanation

Re-aligned to model

Part 2 – Articles Part 2 – Articles

Re-aligned to model. Dissolved original 
Article 11 and realigned wording to 
responsibility for functions. Articles made 
more consistent, Article 11 is now Decision 
Making.

Article 8 sets out committees and 
Chairmanship. Accounts, Audit and 
Governance renamed Audit Committee (no 
longer limited to minority group Chairman)

Personnel Committee Dissolved

New Governance Committee (9) constituted. 

Development Management Committees 
renamed ‘Planning Committees’ 

‘Key decisions’ to be made by Cabinet 
collectively
 

Part 3.3 Delegation of 
Cabinet functions by 
Leader of the Council

Part 3A Executive 
Responsibilities 

Refreshed and individual Cabinet Members 
limited to ‘non-key’ decisions 

Part 4b Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Part 3B Scrutiny and 
Overview Committees

Addressed discharge of function by ‘sub-
committees’ rather than ‘working groups’

Part 3C Scheme of 
Delegation to Committees

Re-aligned to model and clarify. New 
Governance Committee. Certainty of matters 
to be considered at Planning Committees. Part 3.2 Scheme of 

delegation of functions to 
committees of the council Part 3D Discharge of 

functions by area 
committees

Dissolved. 

Article 9 – Joint 
Arrangements Part 3E Joint Arrangements Aligned to model 

Part 3.4 Scheme of 
delegation to officers

Part 3F Officer Scheme of 
Delegation

Comprehensive review in line with best 
practice to provide certainty of decision 
making
 

Part 4 Council Procedure 
Rules

Part 4A Rules of Procedure
Re-aligned to model, consistent approach to 
questions

Part 4b Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Part 4C Scrutiny and 
Overview Procedure Rules

Modernised following the model and Localism 
Act. Addressed Call-in function. Minor 
consequential adjustments

Part 4d Budget and Policy 
framework procedure 
rules

Part 4D Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules

Comprehensive review, removed repetition 

4g Access to Information 
Procedure Rules Part 4E Access to 

Information Procedure Rules

Re-aligned to model and 2014 openness 
regulations

Part 4e Financial 
Procedure rules

Part 4F Financial 
Regulations

Aligned to model. References to Financial 
Regulations replace embedded Financial 
Regulations. Financial Regulations 
responsibility of S151 Officer

Part 4f Contract 
Procedure Rules

Part 4G Contract Standing 
Orders

Re-aligned standing orders with model. 
Procurement code now responsibility of S151 
Officer

Part 4g, Officer 
Employment Procedure 
Rules

Part 4H Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules

Senior officer dismissal added September 
2015. Cross checked with model 

Page 17



Part 4 Council Procedure 
Rules

Part 4L Public Speaking at 
Meetings

Re-aligned with model and openness 
regulations

The council will handle 
any petitions according to 
the
Residual requirements of 
the
2009 Act (the law 
prevails)

Part 4J Petitions Procedure

A document that was required
between 2009-2011,
requirement removed by
Localism Act 2011.

Part 5A Members Code of 
Conduct Part 5A Members Conduct Cross –check with good practice in Sussex 

and re-align to model 
Part 5B Code of conduct 
for council employees

Part 5B Officer Code of 
Conduct

Cross –check with good practice in Sussex 
and re-align to model

Article 13 & Part 3.5.3 – 
Monitoring Officer

Part 5C Monitoring Officer 
Protocol

Duplication of sections

Planning Protocol now 
issued at new 5C.

No part 5d or 5E – 5E had 
never been issued and is 
the protocol on planning.

Planning protocol now issued

Operational document Part 5F Local Code of 
Corporate Governance

Extract from Constitution

Part 5A, 5B Officer and 
Member codes of conduct

Part 5G Protocol on 
Member/Officer relations

Reviewed according to model

4e. 40 Partnerships Part 5H Protocol on 
Partnership Working

Contextual review with regard to Cabinet 
responsibilities

Dissolved Part 5L Assets of 
Community Value

Not required

6 Scheme of Members 
Allowances Part 6 Members allowances Unchanged

Part 7 Management 
Structure

Part 7 Management 
Structure

Updated 

Part 9 Register of Cabinet 
Members

Part 8 Register of Executive 
Members

Unchanged

Page 18



 
 

  Constitution  
Final draft  

November 2016 

Page 19



INDEX 
 

Description       Page Numbers 

1. PART ONE – SUMMARY     (TO BE INSERTED) 

2. PART TWO – THE ARTICLES 

Article One – The Purpose of the Constitution 

Article Two- Members of the Council 

Article Three- Members of the public and the Council 

Article Four- Full Council 

Article Five- Chairman of the Council 

Article Six- Overview and Scrutiny 

Article Seven - Cabinet 

Article Eight- Committees and other bodies 

Article Nine – Joint arrangements 

Article Ten – Statutory officers 

Article Eleven – Decision-making 

Article Twelve – Finance, contracts and legal matters 

Article Thirteen – Review and revision of the Constitution 

Article Fourteen – Suspension, interpretation and publication 

3. PART THREE – DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 

4. PART FOUR – RULES OF PROCEDURE 

5. PART FIVE – PROTOCOLS AND CODES 

6. PART SIX – SCHEME OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 

7. PART SEVEN – MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

8. PART EIGHT – GLOSSARY AND PROPER OFFICER DESIGNATION 

9. PART NINE – REGISTER OF CABINET MEMBERS 

Page 20



 
Part One 

Summary  
 

The Council’s Constitution 

The Constitution of Horsham District Council sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that decisions 
are made efficiently, transparently and with accountability to local people.  Some of 
these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to 
choose. 

The first part of the Constitution is divided into 14 Articles which set out the rules 
governing the Council’s business.  Detailed procedures and protocols then form parts 
two to five.  

What is in the Constitution? 

Article 1 of the Constitution explains the purpose of the Constitution and commits the 
Council to exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution.   

Articles 2–14 explain how the key parts of the Council operate.  These are: 

• Members of the Council (Article 2); 
• Members of the public and the Council (Article 3); 
• The meeting of Full Council (Article 4); 
• Chairing the Council (Article 5); 
• Overview and Scrutiny of decisions (Article 6); 
• The Cabinet (Article 7); 
• Regulatory and other committees (Article 8); 
• Joint arrangements (Article 9); 
• Statutory Officers (Article 10); 
• Decision making (Article 11); 
• Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 12); 
• Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 13); 
• Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 

14). 
 

How the Council operates 

The Council is composed of 44 Councillors elected every four years.  Councillors are 
democratically accountable to the residents of their ward.  The overriding duty of 
Councillors is to the whole community but they have a special duty to the people in 
their ward, including those who did not vote for them. 

Page 21



All Councillors meet together as the Full Council.  Meetings of the Full Council are 
open to the public. In those meetings they decide the Council’s policy framework and 
set the budget each year.  The Council is also responsible for appointing the Leader 
of the Council who then appoints a Cabinet where some Councillors, known as 
Cabinet Members, have responsibilities for a specific area of the Council’s activities (a 
Cabinet portfolio). The Council’s chosen form of governance is the Leader and 
Cabinet model. 

Full Council also appoints committees, some of which are responsible for overseeing 
and reviewing the decisions of the Cabinet, while others discharge regulatory 
responsibilities or other functions which by law may not be discharged by the Cabinet, 
for example planning and licensing. 

How decisions are made 

The Cabinet is made up of the Leader and up to nine other Councillors (Cabinet 
members). The Leader has overall responsibility for Cabinet functions.  The Leader 
may delegate such functions to the Cabinet as a whole, and to others within the limits 
set out by legislation.   When key decisions (see Article 11.5) are to be discussed or 
made, these are published in the Forward Plan in so far as they can be 
anticipated.  These key decisions are made at meetings of the Cabinet, which are 
open for the public to attend except where personal or confidential matters are being 
discussed.  The Cabinet has to make decisions which are in line with the overall 
budget and policy framework set by full Council. If the Cabinet wishes to make a 
decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, the decision must be 
referred to the Full Council to decide. 

Overview and Scrutiny 

The Council has an Overview and Scrutiny Committee which may review and 
scrutinise the decisions of the Cabinet. It may make reports and recommendations to 
the Cabinet and to the Council as a whole on policies, budget and service delivery. It 
may involve non-councillors from the wider public sector, voluntary and community 
groups to help in its work. It can create Sub-Committees. 

It monitors decisions of the Cabinet and can “call-in” a decision of the Cabinet which 
has been made but not yet implemented.  It may recommend that the Cabinet 
reconsiders a decision.  It may also be consulted by the Cabinet or the Council on 
forthcoming decisions or the development of policy. 

The Council’s Staff 

The Council has people working for it (called “Officers”) to give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some Officers have a 
specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources 
wisely.   

 
 
 

Page 22



 
Part Two

 The Articles 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Article 1 
Page 23



The purposes of the constitution 
 

1. Powers of the Council 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. Where there is a conflict between the Constitution and the law then the 
law prevails.  

1.2 Purposes of the Constitution 

The purposes of the Constitution are to: 

a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 
partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 

b) support the active involvement of people in the process of decision-
making; 

c) help Councillors represent people effectively; 
d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to 

public account; 
f) ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they 

have been directly involved; 
g) ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly 

identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for 
decisions; 

h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the 
community;  

i) ensure the orderly conduct of District Council business. 
 

1.3 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 
action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the 
purposes stated above. The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of this 
Constitution.  

Throughout this Constitution use of words of gender (e.g. “he”) include all other 
genders (e.g. “she”).  Expressions in the singular shall include, where appropriate, the 
plural and vice versa. 

 

 

 

Article 2 
Members of the Council 

2.1 Composition 

Page 24



The Council shall comprise 44 Members, otherwise called Councillors.  One or more 
Councillors shall be elected by the voters of each ward.  

2.2 Eligibility 

There are regulations set out in the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 qualifying eligibility for people to stand for election as 
a Councillor. 

2.3 Election and Terms of Councillors 

The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four 
years beginning in 2015. The terms of office of Councillors shall start on the fourth day 
after being elected and shall finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular 
election. 

2.4 Roles and functions of all Councillors 

All Councillors will: 
 

a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out the functions set out in 
this constitution; 

b) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage 
community participation and citizen involvement in decision making; 

c) effectively represent the interest of their ward and of individual constituents; 
d) respond to enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially; 
e) participate in the governance of the Council; 
f) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 
g) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

 
2.5 Rights and Duties 

2.5.1 Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, information, land 
and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions and in accordance with the law. 

2.5.2 Before making public any confidential or exempt information without the consent of 
the Council or divulging information given in confidence to anyone other than a 
Councillor or officer entitled to know it, Councillors should consider the situation 
carefully and, if appropriate, seek guidance from the Monitoring Officer. 

2.5.3 For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4G of this Constitution. 

2.6 Conduct 
Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct set out in Part 5A of 
this Constitution. 
2.7 Allowances 
Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Page 25



 
 

 
  

Page 26



Article 3 
Members of the public and the Council 

 

Members of the public have certain rights and responsibilities in their dealings with the 
council.  The following list is a general summary of rights in terms of information, the 
opportunity to participate and the ability to make complaints. 

3.1 Voting and petitions 
 
Members of the public on the electoral register in the Horsham district have the right to: 
 

a) Vote; 
b) Sign a petition to request a referendum for a different form of governance in 

accordance with the timetable as prescribed under legislation, and to vote in 
any local referendum in respect of an increase in the local authority’s precept; 

c) Sign any other petition they wish to support. 
 

3.2 Information 

Members of the public have the right to: 

a) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where confidential or 
exempt information is likely to be disclosed and the meeting is therefore held in 
private; 

b) attend meetings of the Cabinet except where confidential or exempt information 
is likely to be disclosed and that part of the meeting is therefore held in private; 

c) find out from the Forward Plan what key decisions will be taken by the Cabinet 
and when; 

d) see agendas, reports and background papers, and any records of decisions 
made by the Council, the Cabinet and Committees, except where confidential 
or exempt information is likely to be disclosed; and 

e) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external 
auditor. 

f) ask questions at Council meetings on matters relevant to the business of the 
meeting. Questions received by the Proper Officer that are not matters relevant 
to the agenda shall not be asked at the meeting of council but shall be 
responded to by the relevant cabinet member within 10 working days of receipt 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.3 Complaints 

Members of the public have the right to complain to: 

Page 27



a) the Council itself under its Complaints Scheme;  
b) the Ombudsman; (subject to having first made a complaint directly 

to the Council); or 
c) the Standards Committee about a breach of the Councillors’ Code 

of Conduct. 
 

3.4 Responsibilities of Members of the Public 

Members of the public must not harass, be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors 
or officers and must not damage anything owned by the Council, Councillors or officers. 

  

Page 28



Article 4 
 Full Council 

 

4.1 The Council 

The Full Council is a formal meeting which all 44 members are entitled to attend and to 
speak and vote. It provides a central forum for debate and gives the opportunity for 
Councillors and members of the public (subject to 3.2 above) to ask questions about the 
Council or matters affecting the Council. 

Such a meeting is limited by law to take specific decisions. It is responsible for 
determination of the Council’s Budget (specified at 4.3 below) and Policy Framework 
(specified at 4.2 below) and regulatory functions that are not the responsibility of the 
Cabinet. It will carry out some of its functions directly but others will be delegated to 
Committees or named officers through the officer scheme of delegation provided in part 
three of this constitution.  

4.2 Policy Framework 

The Policy Framework means the following three categories of plans and strategies: 

Those required by law to be adopted by the Council, namely: 

a) Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan; 
b) Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy; 
c) Council's Corporate Plan;  
d) Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 
Those which the Council has chosen to adopt as part of the Policy Framework, namely: 

e) The Council's Housing Strategy;  
f) Any plan or strategy required by law to be sent to a Minister of the Crown for 

approval. 
 

4.3 Budget 

Responsibility for the Budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different 
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, determining the Council tax base, 
setting the Council tax level, decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing 
requirements, investments, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of 
expenditure limits and the setting of limits on the transfer of funds from one part of a 
budget to another. 

4.4 Functions of the full Council 

Only the full Council will exercise the following functions: 

a) adopting the Constitution; 
b) changing the Constitution, other than mandatory changes required by law or 

immaterial changes, for example changing a job title 

Page 29



c) approving or adopting material changes to the Policy Framework, the 
Budget and any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any 
Housing Land Transfer; 

d) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (as in Part 4 of this Constitution), making decisions about 
any matter where the Cabinet is proposing to make a decision which would 
be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to/or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget; 

e) appointing and removing the Leader; 
f) determining which Committees and Policy Development Advisory Groups 

shall be established as standing committees, the terms of reference of each 
body, the number of members (voting and non-voting) that each consists of 
and making the necessary appointments to the bodies; 

g) appointing representatives to joint authorities, joint committees and other 
outside bodies unless the appointment is a Cabinet function or has been 
delegated by the Council; 

h) adopting a scheme for members’ allowances; 
i) changing the name of the Council’s area; 
j) conferring the title of Honorary Alderman or Freeman of the District; 
k) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; Chief Finance 

Officer and designating the Monitoring Officer and the taking of any 
disciplinary action against these Officers and the designating of “Proper 
Officers“; 

l) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting byelaws and 
promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills; 

m) adopting a Code of Conduct for Members (Councillors); 
n) the making of Procedure Rules (except the Cabinet Procedure Rules) 

including in relation to Contracts and Finance; 
o) the delegation of non-cabinet functions to Committees and officers, subject 

to the right to amend the Delegation Scheme from time to time as may be 
required; 

p) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the decision of the 
Council as a whole; 

q) to consider reports on lawfulness and maladministration; 
r) to consider cabinet decisions referred from the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in respect of cabinet functions where decisions have not yet 
been implemented and the Committee considers the decisions may be 
contrary to the Budget or Policy Framework; 

s) to receive reports from the Leader or Cabinet on urgent decisions contrary 
to the Policy Framework; 

t) to take all decisions in respect of delegating non-cabinet functions to 
another local authority; 

u) to set the Council Tax base and the Council Tax; 
v) any function under a local Act other than a function specified or referred to 

in Regulation 2 or Schedule 1 of The Local Authorities Functions and 
Responsibilities (England) Regulations, 2000 as amended; 

w) applications to the Secretary of State under Section 10 of the 
Representation of the People Act 2000 for an Order to proceed with pilot 
election arrangements. 

 
 

Page 30



4.4 Council Meetings 

There are three types of Council meeting: 

a) the annual meeting; 
b) ordinary meetings; 
c) extraordinary meetings. 
 

These will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

4.5 Responsibility for Functions 

The Council will keep under review the responsibility for functions provided in Part 3 of 
this Constitution which sets out the responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are 
not the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

 

 

  

Page 31



Article 5 
Chairman of the Council 

 

5.1 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council will be elected by the Council 
annually.  The Chairman and in his absence the Vice-Chairman, will have the 
following responsibilities: 

a) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the 
Constitution when necessary 

b) to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business is carried out 
efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the 
community 

c) to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of 
concern to the local community; to promote public involvement in the Council’s 
activities 

d) to be the conscience of the Council 

e) to attend or be represented at such civic and ceremonial functions as the 
Council and the Chairman determines appropriate 

f) to determine any matter referred to the Chairman under the urgency provisions 
of the Access to Information Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution  

g) to be consulted on any matter to which consultation with the Chairman of the 
Council is required under this Constitution; and 

h) to act as an apolitical guardian of the interests of all the Members of the District 
Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

Article 6 
Overview and Scrutiny 

 

Page 32



The Council is required to arrange for the discharge of the Overview and Scrutiny 
function.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should contribute to the review and 
development of policies and also hold the Cabinet to account for its decisions. Overview 
and scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way and should aim to contribute to 
the delivery of efficient and effective services that meet the needs and aspirations of local 
people.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should not shy away from the need to 
challenge and question decisions and shall make constructive criticism.  

6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Council has appointed an Overview and Scrutiny Committee which may appoint Sub-
Committees which between them will:- 

a) review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 
discharge of any of the Council’s functions whether by the Cabinet or  another 
part of the Council and any of its Committees; 

b) make reports or recommendations to the Cabinet or the Council in connection 
with the discharge of any functions; 

c) consider any matter which affects the Council’s area or its residents; and 
d) exercise the right to ‘call in’ for reconsideration key and non-key decisions 

made but not yet implemented by the Cabinet. 
 

6.2 Role and Scope of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.2.1 The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be: 

a) To assist in the strategic development of policy 
b) To review issues of local concern 
c) To review the policy of others within and outside the Council 
d) To call-in Cabinet decisions 
e) To scrutinise the Council's decision-making processes 
f) To monitor the internal and external delivery of services 
g) To review specific services 
h) To monitor and scrutinise the activities of outside bodies  

 

6.2.2 The scope of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be: 

a) any function of the Cabinet and 
b) any overview and scrutiny matter prescribed by legislation or regulation  

 

 

6.3 Overview and Scrutiny Functions 

6.3.2 Policy Development and Review 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Sub-Committees may, subject to the 
procedure rules provided in part 4 of this constitution: 

a) assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development of its budget and policy 
framework by in depth analysis of policy issues; 

Page 33



b) conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy 
issues and possible options; 

c) question members of the Cabinet and/or Committees and Chief Officers or their 
deputies from the Council about their views on issues and proposals affecting 
the area; 

d) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, 
regional or local, to ensure that the interest of local people are enhanced by 
collaborative working; and 

e) consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a difference.  
 

6.3.3 Scrutiny 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Sub-Committees may, subject to the 
procedure rules provided in part 4 of this constitution: 

a) review and scrutinise the decisions by and performance of the Cabinet and/or 
Committees and Council Officers in relation to individual decisions and over time; 

b) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and/or particular service areas; 

c) question the Leader of the Council and members of the Cabinet not less than once 
in every twelve month period about their decisions and performance, whether 
generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period of time, or in 
relation to particular decisions, initiatives or project; 

d) make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or appropriate Committee and/or 
Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process; 

e) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and invite 
reports from them by requesting them to address the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or its Sub-Committees and local people about their activities and 
performance; and 

f) question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent). 
g) set up sub-committees to assist them in their work, the membership of which may 

include any member of the council (not being a member of the cabinet) and on a 
non-voting basis any other person who appears to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to be able to assist them in their work.  

 
6.4 Resources 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will exercise overall responsibility for any budget 
allocated to the function.  

6.5 Annual Report 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report annually to the full Council on the 
discharge of the overview and scrutiny function, including proposals for its future work 
programme.  

 
  

Page 34



Article 7 
The Cabinet 

 

The Cabinet is appointed by the Leader to carry out those Council’s functions which are 
not the responsibility, by law, of any other part of the Council. Most decisions will be made 
by the Cabinet, rather than the full Council. 

7.1 Form and Composition of the Cabinet 

The Cabinet will consist of:- 

a) the Leader of the Council (the “Leader”); and 
b) at least two but not more than 9 Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the  

Leader. 
 

7.2 The Leader 

a) Election 

The Leader will be a councillor elected to that position by Full Council. The Leader 
will hold office until:  

 
I. he resigns from the office; or 

II. he is disqualified from being a Councillor; or 
III. where the Council passes a resolution removing him from 

office. 
IV. subject to (i) to (iii) above, the first annual meeting after the next 

following ordinary election of Councillors 
V. in the event of any casual vacancy in the position of Leader, the 

Deputy Leader shall act in the Leader’s place until the 
appointment of a new Leader by the Council. 

 
b)    Role of the Leader 

The Leader will discharge all of the Council’s executive functions which are not the 
responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this 
Constitution. 

7.3 Deputy Leader 

a) Appointment 

The Leader will designate one of the members of the Cabinet as Deputy 
Leader.  

b) Duties of the Deputy Leader 

The Deputy Leader may exercise all the functions of the Leader where the 
Leader position is vacant or where the Leader is absent or is otherwise 
unable to act.  

Page 35



c) Removal from Office 

The Leader may remove the Deputy Leader from office at any time. 

7.4 Cabinet Members 

Other Cabinet Members will be Councillors appointed by the Leader.  Each Cabinet 
Member shall hold office until: 

a) they resign from that office; or 
b) they are removed from that office by the Leader by notice, a copy of which shall be 

supplied to the Head of Paid Service; or 
c) they cease to be a Councillor. 
 

The Leader may at any time appoint a Cabinet Member to fill any vacancy.  

7.5 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

The proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

7.6 Delegation of Functions 

The Leader may personally exercise executive functions or otherwise make arrangements 
to delegate responsibility for their discharge as set out below, to: 
 

a) the Cabinet as a whole; 
b) a Committee of the Cabinet (comprising cabinet members only); 
c) an individual Cabinet Member; 
d) a joint committee; 
e) Another local Council or the executive of another local authority; 
f) A delegated Officer. 

 
Part three of this constitution provides the scheme of delegation of functions. 

 
7.9 Leader of the Opposition 

The Council shall receive the nomination of the Leader (if any) of the largest minority 
group (if any) for the office of Leader of the Opposition. The Leader of the Opposition shall 
hold office until  

I. he resigns from the office; or 
II. he is disqualified from being a Councillor; or 

III. where the Council passes a resolution removing him from 
office. 

IV. subject to (i) to (iii) above, the first annual meeting after the next 
following ordinary election of councillors 

 

7.10 Deputy Cabinet Members 

Other Councillors, except for the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Council,, may, from 
time to time, be designated by the Leader as Deputy Cabinet Members.  Such Councillors 
will not be a member of the Cabinet and will not participate in Cabinet decision making, 

Page 36



but may work closely with a Cabinet Member. A Deputy Cabinet Member who is also a 
Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committees will need to declare 
an interest where an item of business arises at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or 
Sub-Committee and in which they have had involvement in their role as a Deputy Cabinet 
Member. 

A Deputy Cabinet Member may support the Cabinet Member through the delegation of 
tasks as agreed for his/her area of responsibility, including attending/chairing meetings; 
speaking/opening events; reading and commenting on papers; meeting officers; agreeing 
press releases/comments and carrying out interviews; and represent the Council on 
appropriate groups.  A Deputy Cabinet Member will not, however, have any delegated 
functions, nor decision making powers, and will not be entitled to vote at Cabinet Meetings 
nor deputise for the Cabinet Member when the Cabinet Member is called to appear at the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or its Sub-Committees. 

  

Page 37



Article 8 
Committees and other bodies 

 

The Council will appoint committees and other bodies to undertake regulatory and other 
functions that are the responsibility of the Council but which do not have to be carried out 
by the full Council. Nominations will be made by group leaders in accordance with the 
Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. Subsequent (in-
year) changes to membership will be delegated to group leaders in accordance those 
regulations.  
 
8.1 Standing Committees 

The following Standing Committees shall be formed annually to discharge the functions 
set out in Part three of this constitution. Political balance shall be applied unless a different 
provision is made by arrangements approved by the authority without any member of the 
authority voting against them. 

a)  Audit Committee (7 Members) 
b) Planning Committee (North) (all ward members for the area of the 
committee), together with the Cabinet Member with responsibility for 
Development Management 
c) Planning Committee (South) (all ward members for the area of the 
committee), together with the Cabinet Member with responsibility for 
Development Management 
d)  Licensing Committee (15 Members) 
e)  Standards Committee (7 Members) (to include the Chairman of the Council, 
one member of the cabinet (but no more than one), two persons independent of 
the Council co-opted to assist the Committee in an advisory capacity only on 
standards matters (Independent Persons), two parish councillors co-opted to 
assist the committee in an advisory capacity only on parish matters (Parish 
Representatives). Advisory members will not be entitled to vote at meetings 
f)  Governance Committee (9 Members) (to include the Chairman of the 
Council, the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and one 
member of the Cabinet (but no more than one)). 
 

8.2 Other Committees and Bodies  

The Council will appoint such other committees or bodies as it considers appropriate to 
exercise functions. Any committee appointed by the Council may at any time appoint 
additional sub-committees.  Their terms of reference and delegation of powers to them 
shall be explicit and within the appointing committee’s terms of reference.  

The Council, in the case of Standing Committees or the parent committee in the case of 
sub-committees will, in the case of sub-committees, appoint the members to serve on the 
committee, sub-committee other body subject to the right of a political group within the 
meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and any regulations made under 
that Act to make nominations for those appointments at the meeting that makes the 
appointments before the appointments are made. 

Page 38



To discharge the functions set out in part three of this constitution or in the case of policy 
development advisory groups, part four, the Council will form: 

a) Employment Committee (the Leader of the Council, the Chairman of the Council 
and the Leader of the Opposition Group or their named substitute) 

b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (15 non-cabinet members and not including 
the Chairman of the Council) and in accordance with the provision set out in Part 
4B.5  

c) One Policy Development Advisory Group per Cabinet Member (11 Members to 
include the Cabinet Member) (A variance in size (not exceeding 11) will be 
permitted by notification of group leaders and the subsequent assent of Annual 
Council) 

d) Henfield Commons Joint Committee (the councillors for the Henfield Ward, one 
councillor for the Bramber, Upper Beeding and Woodmancote Ward and three 
parish councillors from Henfield Parish Council).  

e) Census Joint Committee (2 members of the Cabinet) 
 

  

Page 39



Article 9 
Joint arrangements 

 

There are circumstances where the Council or the Cabinet is entitled to carry out certain 
functions jointly with another Council. 

9.1 Joint Arrangements 

a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to 
exercise functions which are not Cabinet functions in any of the participating 
authorities, or to advise the Council.  Such arrangements may involve the 
appointment of a joint committee with these other local authorities.  

b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to 
exercise functions which are Cabinet functions.  Such arrangements may involve 
the appointment of joint committees with these other local authorities.  Except as 
set out below, or as permitted or required by Law, the Cabinet may only appoint 
Cabinet Members to such joint committees and those Members need not reflect 
the political composition of the Council as a whole. 

c) The Cabinet may appoint members to a Joint Committee from outside the Cabinet 
where the Joint Committee has functions for only part of the area of the Council 
and that area is smaller than two fifths of that local authority, by area or 
population.  In such cases, the Cabinet may appoint to the Joint Committee any 
Councillor who is a member for a ward contained within the area.  Political balance 
requirements do not apply to such appointments.  

9.2 Access to Information 

The Access to Information Procedure Rules apply to joint arrangements. If all the 
Members of a Joint Committee are Members of the Cabinet in each of the participating 
authorities, then its access to information rules will be the same as that applied to the 
Cabinet. If the Joint Committee contains members who are not on the Cabinet of any 
participating Council, then the Access to Information Rules in part VA of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) will apply.  

9.3 Delegation to and from other local authorities 

The Council can delegate non-cabinet functions to another local authority or, where those 
functions are the responsibility of the Cabinet of another local authority, to that 
Cabinet. The Cabinet can delegate executive functions to another local authority or the 
executive of another local Council as permitted by law. The decision whether or not to 
accept such a delegation from another local authority is reserved to the full Council.  

9.4 Contracting Out 

The Council (in respect of non-executive functions) and the Cabinet (in respect of 
executive functions) may contract out to another body or organisation functions which may 
be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an order under Section 70 of the 
Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994; or under contracting arrangements where the 

Page 40



Contractor acts as the Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, provided there 
is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making.  

 

  

Page 41



Article 10 
Statutory Officers 

10.1 Statutory Officers 

The Council will appoint persons for posts required by statute. The Head of Paid Service 
shall have responsibility to amend the functions and areas of responsibility of the Chief 
Officers as he considers necessary to deliver the Council’s functions, vision and priorities. 
Such changes will be carried out in accordance with any relevant HR policies. The 
responsibilities of statutory officers are described in part three of this constitution. 

10.2 Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown in the departmental structure 
shown in part X of this constitution: 

a) Head of Paid Service 
b) Chief Finance Officer 
c) Monitoring Officer 

 
10.3 Structure 

The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall 
departmental structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment 
of officers. This is set out in Part 7 of this Constitution. 

10.4 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such 
officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow 
their duties to be performed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



Article 11 
Decision making 

11.1 Responsibility for Decision Making 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of which part of the Council or which 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to 
particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.2  Principles of Decision Making 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles: 

a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome) 
b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers 
c) respect for human rights 
d) a presumption in favour of openness 
e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes 
f) consideration of any alternative options, and, 
g) the giving of reasons for the decision and the proper recording of those reasons. 

 
11.4 Decisions reserved to full Council  

Only decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4, and Part 3 (functions and 
responsibilities of the full Council) will be made by the full Council and will not be 
delegated. Subject to Article 4, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

11.5 Key decisions  

A “key decision” means a Cabinet decision which is likely: 

a) To involve expenditure or savings of £250,000 or more as well as otherwise 
being significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates; or 

b) To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more wards in the district. 

In accordance with section 38 of the Local Government Act 2000, in determining the 
meaning of “significant” regard shall be had to any guidance for the time being issued by 
the Secretary of State.  

The Cabinet may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules and the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution. Subject to Article 7, the Cabinet meeting will follow the Cabinet 
Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

11.6 Considerations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Overview and Scrutiny committees will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

Page 43



11.7  Decision Making by Committees and bodies established by the Council 

Subject to Article 8, Council committees will follow those parts of the Council Procedures 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as apply to them. 

  

Page 44



Article 12 
Finance, contracts and legal matters 

 

12.1 Financial Management 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with 
the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.2 Contracts 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure Rules set out 
in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.3 Legal Proceedings 

The Monitoring Officer is authorised to institute, defend, participate in or settle any legal 
proceedings and take all necessary steps in any case where such action is necessary to 
give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case where the Monitoring Officer 
considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

The Monitoring Officer may authorise officers to appear in court on the Council’s behalf. 

12.4 Authentication of Documents 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the 
Council, it will be signed by the Monitoring Officer or other person authorised by him, 
unless any enactment or otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has given 
requisite proper authority to some other person. 

Any contract with a value exceeding £50,000 entered into on behalf of the Council shall be 
made in writing. Subject to the Contracts Procedure Rules, such contracts must be signed 
by at least two officers of the Council or made under common seal of the Council attested 
by at least one officer if they exceed £50,000 in value. 

In addition to any other person who may be authorised by resolution of the Council, the 
proper officer for the purposes of authentication of documents under the Local 
Government Acts shall be: 

a) The Head of Paid Service; 
b) The Monitoring Officer; 
c) The Chief Finance Officer 
d) Any Chief Officer of the Council concerned with the matter to which the document 

relates; or, 
e) Any deputy chief officer authorised in writing by such Chief Officers or by the 

Monitoring Officer. 

Page 45



 

12.5  Common Seal of the Council 

The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the 
Monitoring Officer. A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority for 
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision. 

12.6 Sealing and Execution of Documents 

The common seal of the Council shall be affixed to a document only on the authority of:- 

a) a resolution of the Council 

b) a resolution of the Cabinet, a Committee or Sub-Committee which the 
Council has empowered to authorise the use of the seal 

c) a decision by the Council, or by a Committee, Sub-Committee or officer 
exercising functions delegated by this constitution, to do anything where a 
document under the common seal is necessary or desirable as part of the 
action. 

The affixing of the common seal shall be attested by the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer, or such deputy chief officers duly nominated by them. 

12.7 Record of Sealing of Documents 

Any entry of the sealing of every deed or document to which the Common Seal has been 
affixed shall be made by the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring 
Officer, their nominated deputies, or a chief officer of the council. A record will be kept of 
the sealing of any document. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Article 13 
Review and revision of the constitution 

 

Page 46



13.1 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure 
that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect. The Chief Finance 
Officer shall be responsible for keeping under review the Financial Procedure Rules set 
out in Part 4 of the Constitution. The making of necessary amendments and revisions as 
are required from time to time shall be recommended to the committee of the council 
identified in part three of this constitution. That committee shall recommend any 
amendments to the full council.   

13.2 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of the Constitution by Monitoring Officer 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to make recommendations for ways in which the 
Constitution could be amended in order to better achieve the purposes set out in Article 1. 
In undertaking this task, the Monitoring Officer may: 

a) Observe meetings of different parts of the Member and officer structure; 
b) Undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
c) Record and analyse issues raised with him by Members, officers, the public and 

other relevant stakeholders; and, 
d) Compare practices in this Council with those in comparable authorities, or national 

examples of best practice. 
 
13.3 Changes to the Constitution 

a) Approval 

Subject to b) and c) below, changes to the Constitution will only be 
approved by the full Council upon the recommendation of the committee 
that discharges that function.  

b) Minor Changes 

If, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a change is: 
 

1. A minor variation; or 
2. Required to be made to remove any inconsistency or 

ambiguity; or 
3. Required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the 

Council or its committees or the Leader and the Cabinet, 
4. Where Part 7, Management Structure needs to be updated, the 

Monitoring Officer may make the necessary changes upon 
receipt of notification from the Chief Executive that he/she has 
made changes to that structure. 
 

in which case the Monitoring Officer may make such a change. Any such 
change made by the Monitoring Officer shall come into force with immediate 
effect.  
 

c) Legislative Change 

Any part of the Constitution may be amended by the Monitoring Officer 
where such amendment is required to be made so as to comply with any 

Page 47



legislative provision. Such amendments shall take effect when the 
Monitoring Officer so decides or the legislation (where relevant) so provides. 
Such changes shall be reported to the next committee meeting for noting. 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 48



Article 14 
Suspension, interpretation and publication of the 

Constitution 
 

14.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

a) Limit to Suspension 

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The Council Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution may be suspended by the full Council to the 
extent permitted within those Rules and the law. 

b) Procedure to Suspend 

A motion to suspend any Rules will not be moved without notice unless at least 
one half of the whole number of councillors is present. The extent and duration of 
suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the 
purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1. 

14.2 Interpretation 

The ruling of the Chairman of the Council (or other person presiding) as to the 
construction or application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the 
Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such interpretation 
shall have regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

14.3 Publication 

Upon Members first being elected to the Council: 

The Monitoring Officer will make available to each elected councillor a copy of this 
Constitution. 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies of the constitution are available for 
inspection at Council offices, and on the Council’s website. 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Constitution is made widely available 
within the area and is updated as necessary. 

 

Part Three 
Responsibility for and delegation of 

functions 
Page 49



 
 
This scheme of delegation provides the necessary authority for those council bodies to 
discharge the functions as set out in the scheme. The functions in the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) shall be 
discharged by this scheme of delegation.  
 
a) Council functions 
 
Council functions are those functions which, by law, are not to be the responsibility of the 
Cabinet. In some cases, such as adopting the Council’s Budget or the Policy Framework, 
only the Full Council meeting may take the decision. In other cases, the Council may 
delegate the responsibility for taking the decision to a Committee (formed by Article 8) or 
to an officer pursuant to this scheme of delegation. 
 
b) Cabinet functions 
 
All other functions are cabinet functions. Decisions on these functions will be taken by the 
Cabinet as a whole, or the Leader, a specific Cabinet Member, or an Officer. Key 
Decisions are reserved to the Cabinet meeting together in public, Operational and 
Administrative decisions shall be made by officers pursuant to this scheme of delegation, 
and Non-key, non-operational and administrative decisions shall be made by Cabinet 
Members individually.  Non-key decisions are those decisions that are neither Key 
decisions nor operational and administrative decisions reserved to officers within the 
finance procedure rules set out in part 4 of this constitution.  
 
c) Officer delegations 
 
All operational and administrative functions that are not specifically reserved in this 
constitution to Council, the Cabinet, Cabinet Members individually or a Committee are 
delegated to Officers in accordance with the Officer Scheme of Delegation at section 3.4. 
Decisions that are operational and administrative are any decisions that are not Key or 
Non-Key within the financial and contractual procedure rules set out in part 4 of this 
Constitution.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.1 Responsibility for Council functions 

 
In addition to any functions set out elsewhere in this Constitution, including but not limited 
to the Articles of the Council and Council procedure rules, the full Council will:   
 

1. Exercise the Council’s functions in relating to parishes and parish councils under 
Part II of the Local Government & Rating Act 1997 

2. Exercise of functions on the following electoral matters:-  
 

a. Division of parliamentary constituencies and local government wards or 
electoral divisions into polling districts 

Page 50



b. Approval of pilot schemes for local elections  
c. Making recommendations to the Local Government Boundary Commission 

in ward boundary reviews, electoral division reviews and parliamentary 
constituency reviews 
 

3. Appoint the Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer for Local 
Government Elections 

4. Delegate responsibility for other matters relating to elections set out in Part D of 
Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
(Regulations) 2000 to the Returning Officer 

5. Make and amend the Constitution of the Council, Standing Orders, Standing 
Orders Relating to Contracts and Financial Regulations. 

6. Appoint the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 
Officer upon the recommendation of the Employment Committee 

7. Designate the roles of Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer 
8. Delegate the appointment of other chief officers to the Employment Committee 
9. Delegate all other staffing matters, including the appointment of “proper officers” to 

the Head of Paid Service 
10. Approve the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Finance Officer following the recommendation of such a dismissal by the 
Employment Committee of the Council appointed for that purpose. 

11. Determine the scheme of members allowances. 
12. Appoint the Committees and other bodies of the Council set out in Article 8  
13. Set out the functions of the committees of the council in this scheme of delegation. 
14. Agree the Budget, and the policies that form the policy framework described in 

Article 4. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

3.2 Scheme of delegation of responsibilities to Committees 
of the Council 

Article 8 establishes the Committees of the Council, this scheme allocates responsibilities to those 
Committees.  

 
3.2.1  Audit Committee 
 
a) Oversee the implementation of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003/533 (as 

amended or replaced) 
b) Review the effectiveness of the Council's system of internal control and to consider 

quarterly internal audit reports and the main issues arising, seeking assurance that 
appropriate action has been taken as necessary. 

c) Review the effectiveness of the Council's system of internal audit and to consider the 
findings of such review 

d) Consider the Council's statement of accounts and to approve the same 
e) Consider the auditor’s or Audit Commission’s annual letter 
f) Monitor the effectiveness of the Council's financial regulations 
g) Monitor the effectiveness of the Council's risk management arrangements 

Page 51



h) Approve the Annual Governance Statement, ensuring that this properly reflects the 
control environment, and to review actions required for improvement 

i) To consider the annual borrowing and lending parameters requested by the Director of 
Corporate Resources annually and to agree the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy 

j) To consider such other matters referred to the Committee by the Chief Finance Officer 
or the Monitoring Officer. 

 
3.2.2  Functions of the Planning Committees 
 
a) To discharge those functions falling within The Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, regulations 2 and 3 and Schedule 1 Part 
A paragraphs 5-31, Part I paragraphs 46-47A and Schedule 2 paragraphs 16-18 and 
as may be amended.  

b) Those matters referred to in an agreement between South Downs National Park and 
Horsham District Council, having effect from 1 April 2011, shall be discharged by the 
Planning South Committee only.  

c) Determination of applications as follows: 
i. applications made by or on behalf of, the Council 
ii. where the application has been made by a Member or an officer or a 

member of their immediate family 
iii. where a member of the relevant Planning Committee requests; such 

request to be in writing (to include e-mail) and received by the Development 
Manager within 35 days of the date of validation of the application 

iv. where eight or more persons in different households or bodies make a 
written representation (to include email), which discloses a material 
planning consideration within the consultation period and is inconsistent 
with the Development Manager’s recommendation; 

v. any application that is defined as a departure application under the Town & 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)(England) Order 
2015, where the recommendation of the Development Manager would 
represent a departure to the development plan 

vi. where the Parish or Neighbourhood Council makes a written representation 
(to include email) which discloses a material planning consideration and is 
inconsistent with the Development Manager’s recommendation, within the 
consultation period, and wishes to address the Planning Committee 

vii. Where the Development Manager considers the application should be 
presented to the Development Management Committee for a decision 
 

 
3.2.3  Functions of the Employment Committee 
 
a) Make recommendations to the Council on the appointment of the Chief Executive and 

Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance (Section 151) 
Officer 

b) appoint chief officers ‘Directors’ 
c) Determine any matters relating to the discipline and grievances of the Chief Executive 

and Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer (Section 151) 
and Directors having regard to the Council’s discipline and grievance procedures, any 
statutory procedures and the views of the Standards Committee. 

 
3.2.4 Functions of the Governance Committee 
 

Page 52



a) To receive reports of the Monitoring Officer to amend the Constitution of the 
Council and make any consequent recommendation to the council 

b) To consider reports of the Monitoring Officer about governance, the Council’s 
structure and procedures consequent to Article 13, clause 13.2 of this constitution 

d) Community Governance Reviews 
e) Electoral Reviews  

 
3.2.5  Functions of the Licensing Committee 
 
a) Discharge the functions of the Council as a Licensing Authority under the Licensing 

Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 (with the exception of any functions which are 
reserved to Council), and miscellaneous matters as set out in the Functions 
Regulations. The Licensing Committee shall discharge the functions of the Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 2013 (Relevant Sub-Committee to be convened when appropriate 
to deal with contested applications and hearings.)  

 
3.2.6 Functions of the Standards Committee 
 
a) Discharge the functions, save for matters reserved to the Monitoring Officer, set out in 

the Localism Act 2011 Chapter 7 and any regulations made under the Act. 
 
3.2.7 Functions of the Henfield Commons Joint Committee 
 
a) The management of Henfield Common, Broadmere Common, Oreham Common 

and Tanyard Field open space. 
 
3.2.8 Census Joint Committee 
 
a) to co-ordinate the procurement of information and communication technology 

hardware, software and associated services and the management and 
maintenance of the same for that purpose 

b) to provide strategic direction to the Board 
c)  to agree the Programme 
d)  to agree any modifications to the Programme 
e)  to agree the Projects comprised within the Programme 
f) to monitor the implementation of the Programme 
g) to keep under review the workings of this Agreement and to proposes (as 

appropriate) the creation of special purpose vehicles for the achievement of the 
Strategic Purposes including companies, formal partnerships or consortia, the 
expansion of joint working arrangements under the Agreement, to include other 
local authorities, the conclusion of contracts with other persons and the provision of 
services, supplies and works to other persons 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 Delegation of cabinet functions by the 
Leader of the Council 

 
3.3.1 Cabinet members are responsible for the functions set out below and may make 

non-key decisions within their portfolio of responsibilities. Individual Cabinet 
Members may not make decisions reserved elsewhere by this Constitution, 
including, but not limited to Key Decisions (which are reserved to Cabinet 
collectively) and Operational and Administrative Decisions (which shall be made by 
Officers pursuant to this scheme of delegation, unless such officers seek a non-key 
decision pursuant to provision 3.4.20 below).  

 
3.3.2  Functions of the Leader of the council 

 
a) Community leadership. 
b) Co-ordination of strategy and policy on behalf of the Cabinet and overall 

responsibility for performance. 
c) Overall responsibility for the development and proper functioning of 

partnerships with the public, private and voluntary sectors. 
d) Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 

Council’s Sustainable Community Strategy under the Local Government Act 
2000 Part I. 

e) Overall responsibility for information management including data protection, 
data security, documents and records retention, environmental information, 
freedom of information, reuse of public sector information. 

f) Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan. 

g) Monitoring the implementation of and compliance with the Council's Corporate 
Plan. 

h) Overall responsibility for the standards and methods of delivery to the public of 
the Council's services and their improvement. 

Page 54



i) Overall responsibility for organisational development and business 
transformation. 

j) Overall responsibility for strategic economic development. 
k) Provision of support and training to members of the Council. 
l) Overall responsibility for corporate health & safety. 
m) Overall responsibility for the Council’s Communication, Consultations and 

Complaints Strategies and their development, implementation and review. 
n) Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 

policies affecting Horsham Town and ensuring cross-cabinet liaison on such 
matters 

o) Any other executive functions not specifically delegated or foreseen under this 
scheme. 

 
3.3.3  Functions of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Assets 
 

a)  General supervision and control of the finances of the Council and the 
auditing of the Council's accounts. 

b)  Overall responsibility for the production of the draft budget and jointly with 
the Cabinet, its proposal to the Council. 

c)  Overall responsibility for the Council's insurances. 
d)  The determination of requests for transfer of funds within budgets 

(virements) not exceeding £250,000 
e)  The writing off of debts in excess of £50,000 
f)  Overall responsibility for the administration of benefits. 
g)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 

policies for the procurement of services, supplies and works to the Council. 
h)         Overall responsibility for the proper management of the Council’s property 

assets including authorisation, subject to the key decision framework,  of the 
acquisition, disposal and dealing with any property assets and the 
development, implementation and review of the Council’s Asset 
Management Plan. 

i) Overall responsibility for the provision of facilities management to the 
Council's offices. 

j)  Overall responsibility for risk management throughout the Council. 
k)  The determination of applications for discretionary rate relief. 
l)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 

Council's Information and Communication Technology Strategy and 
electronic government policies 

 
 
3.3.4  Functions of the Cabinet member for housing and public protection 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for the provision management and maintenance of the 
Council’s retained housing stock. 

b)  Overall responsibility for the discharge of the Council’s functions relating to 
the homeless. 

c)  Overall responsibility for the improvement of housing stock in the District; 
the Council’s Community Link (Community Alarm) Service and the provision 
of associated financial assistance. 

d) Overall responsibility for the maintenance, protection, improvement and 
cleanliness of the natural and man-made environment with specific 
reference to pollution control. 

Page 55



e)  Overall responsibility for Council’s functions relating to alcohol, gambling, 
public health, food safety and hygiene, health and safety at work, animal 
welfare, stray dogs, public safety, scrap metal dealings, motor salvage 
operators, caravan sites, street trading, shops and Sunday trading, water 
and sewerage, public conveniences, markets and registration plates not 
being the function of the Licensing Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.5  Functions of the Cabinet member for the local economy 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for liaising with local businesses for the development 
of a strong local economy 

b)  Overall responsibility for liaising with outside bodies regarding the 
development, implementation and review of policies for education and 
lifelong learning. 

c)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s strategy for tourism. 

d)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s strategy for on and off-street parking including the provision and 
management of the Council's car parks. 

e)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s strategy for economic well-being. 

 
3.3.6  Functions of the Cabinet member for waste, recycling and cleansing 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council's policies and procedures for waste management, collection, 
recycling and disposal and associated education and enforcement. 

b)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s environmental and sustainability policies and procedures. 

c)  Overall responsibility for securing the development, implementation and 
review of the Council's policies and procedures for cleansing throughout the 
District. 

 
 
3.3.6  Functions of the Cabinet member for leisure and culture 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 
policies for the provision and promotion of leisure and recreational facilities 
and services. 

b)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 
policies for the provision and promotion of the arts, heritage and culture in 
the District. 

c)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 
policies for community facilities in the District. 

d)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of 
policies for burial grounds and crematoria. 

Page 56



e)  Overall responsibility for the development, management and maintenance 
of the Council's open spaces. 

f)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council's grounds maintenance responsibilities 

 
3.3.7  Functions of the Cabinet member for planning and development 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for the development and review of policies for and 
included in the development plan and the preparation, review and alteration 
of the Local Development Framework and the shaping and implementation 
of regional planning policy. 

b)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s strategic housing policies particularly those relating to affordable 
housing and housing investment programme and liaison with outside 
bodies. 

c)  Overall responsibility for the development and review of the Council's 
policies for transport of all kinds. 

d)  Overall responsibility for managing the relationship with utilities and 
infrastructure providers. 

e)  Overall responsibility for the planning aspects of major developments not 
being the responsibility of the Planning Committees. 

f) Overall responsibility for development management not being the 
responsibility of the Planning Committees. 

g)  Overall responsibility for building control. 
h)  Overall responsibility for the development and implementation of a strategy 

for effective engagement with communities throughout the District. 
 
3.3.8  Functions of the Cabinet member for community and wellbeing 
 
 

a)  Overall responsibility for the development, implementation and review of the 
Council’s Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy. 

b)  Overall responsibility for and championing the development, implementation 
and review of policies for social well-being including those relating to 
people, local community needs, community transport and community 
development. 

c)  Overall responsibility for securing the improvement of the health of those 
who live or work in or resort to the District. 

d)  The determination of applications for financial and other assistance 
including voluntary sector funding arrangements excluding applications for 
discretionary rate relief. 

e)  Overall responsibility for working with voluntary sector organisations to 
promote and deliver the Council’s priorities for the District’s communities. 

f)  Civil or wartime emergencies and business continuity. 
g)  Overall responsibility for equality and diversity. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 57



 
 
 
 

3.4 Scheme of delegation to officers 
 
3.4.1 The authority for delegating functions to the Cabinet, Committees, and Officers is 

contained in Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 14 of the 
Local Government Act 2000. The authority for the delegation of functions by the 
Licensing Committee is contained in Sub Section 10 (1) of the Licensing Act 2003. 
The delegations set out in this Constitution provide officers with the necessary 
authority to proceed from the date of delegation by this Constitution. 

 
3.4.2 In the case of absence of an appropriate Cabinet Member, any requirement for an 

Officer to consult before carrying out any action or function shall be replaced by a 
requirement to consult with the Leader of the Council. In the case of absence by 
the Leader of the Council, any requirement for an Officer to consult before carrying 
out any action or function shall be replaced by a requirement to consult with the 
Deputy Leader of the Council. 

 
3.4.3 Regarding the functions of the 'Proper Officer' and unless otherwise referred to in 

part 8, the Head of Paid Service or in their absence, the Monitoring Officer shall be 
appointed as the Proper Officer for the purposes of Section 270(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and in relation to any other statute or matters indicated 
herein.  

 
3.4.4 This scheme does not delegate to officers: 
 

a) any matter reserved to Full Council; 
b) any matter which by law may not be delegated to an officer; 
c) any matter expressly reserved to a committee by the Council’s Standing Orders 

or Financial   Regulations, or withdrawn from delegation by this scheme or by a 
committee; 

d) any power to change fees, charges or concession policies; 
e) any power to make a decision on permanent savings in a budget; 
f) any power to make an order for the compulsory acquisition of land; 
g) any power to acquire land in advance of requirements; 
h) any power to confirm any order, or to issue or grant any permission, consent, 

licence or other determination, which is the subject of a statutory right of 
objection that has been duly exercised. 
 

3.4.5 How delegations work 
 

a) Functions reserved by law to the full council may only be discharged by the full 
council. 

b) Functions reserved to the Cabinet by law may not be discharged by the full 
council.  

c) Key decisions may only be discharged by the Cabinet collectively.  

Page 58



d) Officers discharge operational and administrative functions according to the 
procedure rules of this constitution.  

e) Individual Cabinet members may make non-key decisions consequent to the 
discharge of their responsibilities where no other limitation is provided by this 
constitution. 

 
3.4.6 In respect of any matter falling within the parameters of this scheme, the Head of 

Paid Service may in writing make such detailed delegations to officers concerning 
functions and activities within a given area of responsibility as he considers 
appropriate. The Head of Paid Service may, in writing, delegate any function of the 
Council (or local choice function pursuant to the Functions and Responsibilities 
Regulations 2000) not the responsibility of the Cabinet) which has been delegated 
to the Head of Paid Service, and which is not otherwise delegated under this 
scheme, and he may vary in writing any delegation made under this scheme. 

 
3.4.7 This scheme delegates powers and duties within broad functional descriptions. It 

includes powers and duties under all legislation, present and future, within those 
descriptions, and all powers and duties incidental to that legislation, as well as 
authorising the affixing of the Common Seal. 

 
3.4.6 General Limitations 
 
3.4.7 An officer, in exercising delegated powers, shall consult other appropriate officers 

and shall have regard to any advice received.  
 
3.4.8 Any exercise of delegated powers shall be subject to any policy framework 

approved by the Council from time to time, including the Council’s employment 
policies and disciplinary procedures, equal opportunities policies, and any service 
delivery policies; and shall be guided by relevant codes of conduct or protocols 
produced or adopted from time to time by the Council (including any Code or 
protocol which has been included within the Council’s constitution) and the 
Corporate Plan.  

 
3.4.9 Any exercise of delegated powers shall be subject to:  

a)  any statutory restrictions  
b) the Council’s Constitution including Financial procedure rules and 

Contract procedure rules  
 

3.4.10 In exercising delegated powers, officers shall not go beyond the provision made in 
the revenue or capital budgets for their service, except to the extent permitted by 
the Financial Regulations or the Contract Standing Orders.  

 
Successor posts 
 
3.4.11 In the event that a post ceases to exist or where responsibilities are transferred to 

another post holder, temporarily or permanently, then the powers given by this 
Scheme of Delegation shall be exercisable by the officer in whose area of 
responsibility the power falls to be exercised. 

 
Delegations to officers 
 

Page 59



3.4.13 This scheme delegates operational and administrative Cabinet and Council 
functions pursuant to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000 (SI 2000 No. 2853). Operational and Administrative 
functions are limited to such matters not provided for elsewhere by this 
constitution. The functions or activities described in this scheme and varied from 
time to time are hereby delegated to the officers in the posts named in Part 7.  

 
3.4.14 Limitation of delegations - The powers delegated to officers under this scheme do 

not include any power to take a decision which is properly a matter for the Council, 
the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or a committee or sub-committee and does not 
include the power to take a key decision. Officers are, in the context of this 
scheme, responsible for the management of their services, the provision of advice 
to the Council, Cabinet and Members, and the implementation of policies and 
decisions. A decision which an officer takes, under a delegation made by or under 
this scheme, must:  

 
a) implement a policy previously approved or decision previously taken, by the 

Council, the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or a committee or sub-committee; or  
b) facilitate, or be conducive or incidental to, the implementation of a policy or 

decision previously approved, or decision;  
c) relate to the management of the human, material or financial resources made 

available for the functions for which the Council or Cabinet is responsible;  
 
Further Provisions 
 
3.4.15 An officer to whom a delegation has been made by, or in accordance with, this 

scheme may further delegate in writing all or any of their delegated functions to 
another officer (described by name and post), either fully or under the general 
supervision and control of the delegating officer. Delegations made under this sub-
paragraph may be made across service boundaries. 
 

3.4.16 This scheme of delegations shall be kept by the Monitoring Officer in accordance 
with section 100G of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 

3.4.17 A delegation to an officer which existed at the date of the introduction of this 
scheme shall, to any extent that it remains unaltered by (and is not inconsistent 
with) any delegation (or variation to a delegation) made by or under this scheme, 
shall continue to have effect. 
 

3.4.18 Where in respect of a given function or activity, no delegation is in effect, and an 
officer has a management responsibility in relation to the exercise of that function 
or activity, the exercise of any delegated authority  necessary to carry out the 
function or activity effectively shall be deemed to have been delegated to that post 
holder. 

 
3.4.19 All action taken under the terms of these delegations (and not falling within the 

description of an internal delegation in paragraph 1d above, or an individual 
delegation in paragraph 5.4a above) shall be properly documented in accordance 
with arrangements approved by the Monitoring Officer.  

Page 60



3.4.20 It shall always be open to a chief officer or service manager to consult the 
appropriate Cabinet Member, or Chairman of a Committee, on the exercise of a 
delegated function; or, not to exercise a delegated function but to refer the matter 
back to the Cabinet Member, Committee or the Council according to the function.  

3.4.21 In this scheme, “officer” means the holder of any post to which a function or 
activity, or powers and duties in relation to such a function or activity, may be 
delegated.  

3.4.22 Where a function or activity has been specifically delegated by or under this 
scheme to an officer, that function or activity shall not be exercised by another 
officer without the consent of the former, other than in circumstances of the death 
or incapacity of that officer or, in an emergency, where the officer to whom the 
delegation was made is absent or otherwise unavailable.  

3.4.23 An authority delegated to officers includes management of the human and material 
resources made available for the service/portfolio areas and any function 
concerned; to the extent of that authority within the limitations of this scheme, and 
subject to any specific delegations made by or in accordance with this scheme to 
another officer. 

3.4.24 In each case, a delegated authority excludes any determination of policy, any 
exception to policy, or of any budget by the officer concerned.  

 

 

  

Page 61



3.5 Statutory chief officers 
Local Government Act 1972 and Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 
3.5.1 Head of Paid Service 
 

1. Shall be the Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer for District Council 
Elections. 

2. Within the overall resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the 
Council's objectives, act on behalf of the Council on all matters including those 
which have been delegated to any other Officer provided that: 
  

a. the Head of Paid Service may not exercise a power which is reserved by 
statute to another Officer;  

b. before exercising the power of another Officer, the Chief Executive shall 
consult with that Officer if available;  

c. the Chief Executive when exercising any powers may authorise the 
incurring of expenditure in an emergency even if there is no specific 
provision in the budget of the Council. 

 
3. In consultation with the Leader or if absent the Deputy Leader, act in a case of 

emergency in respect of any matter affecting the Council/Cabinet respectively, 
subject to a report on the circumstances being made to the next Council/Cabinet 
meeting. 

4. Be responsible for the overall organisational structure of the Council, including 
making any adjustments necessary to facilitate the delivery of the corporate plan. 

5. Ensure the provision of professional advice to all parties in the decision-making 
process. 

6. Together with the Monitoring Officer to be responsible for a system of record-
keeping for all local authority decisions 

7. Represent the Council on partnerships and other bodies 
8. Be responsible for the health and safety of all employees of the District Council 
9. Sign any document on behalf of the Council and to witness affixation of the 

Council’s Common Seal to any document. 
10. Be the Proper Officer of the Council, except where legislation or arrangements 

names another Officer. 
 

 
3.5.2 Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
 

1. Within the overall resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the 
Council’s objectives to act on behalf of the Council on all operational and 
administrative matters relating to the discharge of the Council’s functions relating to 
the following service delivery functions, unless that function has been specifically 
delegated to another Officer or elsewhere within this Constitution. 

2. Exercise the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs under section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 114 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988.  

3. Be the Proper Officer under section 115 of the Local Government Act 1972.  
4. Have responsibility for the overall management of the internal audit function in 

accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (or any amending or 
substituted legislation, or legislation with a similar purpose or made for similar 
purposes).  

Page 62



5. Have responsibility for borrowing and lending within limits approved by the Council.  
6. Make determinations on an annual basis relating to capital expenditure  
7. Administer, subject to the Key Decision framework, the acquisition, re-use, 

appropriation and disposal of the Council's land and buildings, together with the 
granting or taking assignment or surrender of leases, tenancies, licences, 
easements, wayleaves and variations of rent of the Council's land and buildings 
and all consequent operational and administrative matters 

8. The services of policy and performance, corporate communications, marketing, 
programme and project management, legal and democratic services and elections 

9. Manage administration of complaints to the Council including issues of 
maladministration 

10. Be responsible for the delivery of ICT services, information management, Freedom 
of Information requests and street naming and numbering and have overall 
responsibility for the Council's Information Management Systems. 

11. After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 
Finance Officer will report to the full Council,  or to the Cabinet in relation to an 
Executive function,  and to the Council’s external auditor if he considers that any 
proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or 
is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to 
enter an item of account unlawfully. When the report is completed the Chief 
Finance Officer shall send a copy to: (a) the current auditor of the Council’s 
accounts; and, (b) each Member of the Council. 

 
 
3.5.3 Monitoring Officer 
 

1. Within the overall resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the 
Council’s objectives to act on behalf of the Council on all operational and 
administrative matters relating to the discharge of the Council’s functions relating to 
the following service delivery functions, unless that function has been specifically 
delegated to another Officer or elsewhere within this constitution. 

2. In consultation with the Head of Paid Service/ relevant Director to authorise the 
institution, defence, withdrawal, compromise or any other action relating to claims 
or legal proceedings, civil or criminal (except in relation to prosecutions where the 
authorisation of prosecutions is expressly delegated to another Head of Service).  

3. To authorise Officers of the Council to appear before Magistrates' Courts or County 
Courts and to settle on appropriate terms any litigation or claim taken by or against 
the Council.  

4. To issue or serve statutory notices on behalf of the Council in relation to any of its 
functions.  

5. To be the Proper Officer of the Council, except where legislation, or a delegation 
made by this constitution or under this scheme, names another officer; and to 
authorise the making and issue of any formal documents.  

6. After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer will report to the full council or to the cabinet (according to the 
material function concerned), if he considers that any proposal, decision or 
omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of 
stopping the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been 
considered.  

7. Contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through 
provision of support to the Standards Committee 

Page 63



8. Notwithstanding the duty of confidentiality, the Monitoring Officer shall be at liberty 
to disclose any information relating to the council’s affairs, and provide copies of 
any records or documents belonging to the council to the Standards Committee, for 
the purposes of investigation or determination of a complaint against a member.  

9. The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations into matters and carry out any 
other actions as directed by the Standards Committee and make reports or 
recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee. 

10. Together with the Head of Paid Service, ensure that Cabinet decisions, together 
with the reasons for those decisions and relevant Officer reports and background 
papers are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

11. The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in 
accordance with the budget and policy framework. 
 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 64



3.6 Non-statutory chief officers and deputies 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 
3.6.1 Director of Community Services 
 
Within the overall resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the Council’s 
objectives to act on behalf of the Council on all operational and administrative matters 
relating to the discharge of the Council’s functions relating to the following service delivery 
functions, unless that function has been specifically delegated to another Officer or 
elsewhere within this constitution: 
 
Sports and leisure centres, sports and active lifestyles/ Health and Well-being, 
Environmental Health, Animal Welfare and Pest Control, CCTV, Community Safety, 
Community Development, Parking and Licensing, including issuing and ensuring 
compliance with licenses on whatsoever nature other than those licenses falling within the 
responsibility of another officer in accordance with this Scheme of Delegation to Officers. 
 
3.6.2 Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property 
 
Within the overall resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the Council’s 
objectives to act on behalf of the Council on all operational and administrative matters 
relating to the discharge of the Council’s functions relating to the following service delivery 
functions, unless that function has been specifically delegated to another Officer or 
elsewhere within this constitution: Planning Policy, Development Management, Building 
Control, Housing Strategy and Economic Development and specifically: 
 

a) Administer, subject to the Key Decision framework, the acquisition, re-use, 
appropriation and disposal of the Council's land and buildings, together with the 
granting or taking assignment or surrender of leases, tenancies, licences, 
easements, wayleaves and variations of rent of the Council's land and buildings 
and all consequent operational and administrative matters.  

b) to exercise all the functions of the Council relating to town and country planning 
matters, including development management, except for those matters reserved 
to a committee in part three of this constitution 

c) Refer to full council if he is of the opinion that the relevant Planning Committee is 
minded to make a decision in which there are likely to be significant cost 
implications. 

 
 
 
3.6.3 Deputy Chief Officers  
 
The Deputy Chief Officers identified in Part 7 of this constitution shall, within the overall 
resources allocated by the Council and in direct support of the Council’s objectives act on 
behalf of the Council on all operational and administrative matters relating to the 
discharge of Council and Cabinet functions relating to the functions for which they are 
responsible, unless that function has been specifically delegated to another Officer or 
elsewhere within this constitution.  
 

Page 65



 
 

 

  

Page 66



Part four 
Rules of procedure 

Page 67



4 Council procedure rules 
 

4.1 Annual meeting of the council 

Timing and business 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will take 
place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors. In any other year, the 
annual meeting will take place in March, April or May. 

The annual meeting will: 

a) elect a person to preside if the Chairman nor the Vice Chairman of the Council is 
not present; 

b) elect the Chairman of the Council; 
c) elect the Vice-Chairman of the Council; 
d) receive any announcements from the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive; 
e) at the first annual meeting following the ordinary election of councillors without 

debate elect the Leader; 
f) without debate, appoint the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Standards 

Committee and such other committees as the Council considers appropriate to 
deal with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are executive 
functions (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution); 

g) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year. 
 

4.1.1 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 

At the annual meeting, the Council meeting will: 

a) decide which committees to establish for the municipal year; 
b) decide the size and terms of reference for those committees; 
c) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with political 

balance rules; except upon the application of d) below 
d) a different provision is made by arrangements approved by the authority 

without any member of the authority voting against them  
 

At the first ordinary meeting after the annual meeting in the year of the ordinary election of 
councillors, the Council meeting will make appointments to outside bodies except where 
appointment to those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by 
the Cabinet. 

4.2  Ordinary meetings 
 
Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with the notice of meetings 
decided at the Council’s annual meeting. The order of business at ordinary meetings will 
be as follows: 

a) elect a person to preside if the Chairman nor Vice-Chairman are not present; 
b) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
c) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 

Page 68



d) receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader, members of the 
Cabinet or the Chief Executive; 

e) receive a report from the Leader or Cabinet Member and receive questions and 
answers on the report; 

f) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to matters 
which in the opinion of the Chairman are relevant to the business of the 
meeting; 

g) receive any petitions from the public in relation to matters which in the opinion 
of the Chairman are relevant to the Council’s functions; 

h) consider recommendations from the Council’s Committees (if any), for which 
the minutes of the relevant meeting of that committee shall be included with the 
summons; 

i) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of 
joint arrangements and external organisations; 

j) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 
consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s budget 
and policy framework and reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

k) consider motions; and 
l) receive with questions from Members in accordance with Rule 4.20. 

 
 
 
4.3 Extraordinary meetings 
 
Calling of an extraordinary meeting 
 
The Chief Executive may call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings and the 
following listed below may request the Chief Executive to call additional Council meetings: 

a) the Council by resolution; 
b) the Chairman of the Council; 
c) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented 

to the Chairman of the Council and he has refused to call a meeting or, 
within seven days of the presentation of the requisition, has failed to call a 
meeting. 

 
4.3.1 The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be restricted to the 

item of business contained in the request for the extraordinary meeting only and 
there shall be no consideration of previous minutes or reports from committees. 

4.4 Time and Place of Meetings 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Head of Paid Service and 
notified in the summons. 

4.5 Duration of Meetings 

At an ordinary meeting of the Council, when 3 hours have elapsed after the 
commencement of the meeting, the Chairman shall, at the conclusion of the debate on the 
item of business then under consideration, put the matter to the vote. 

If there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that remain to be dealt with, 
a motion may be moved to adjourn the meeting and reconvene it on a date and at a time 

Page 69



specified to deal with the remaining business. The vote will be taken on this motion 
without debate. 

When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the Chairman will declare 
the meeting closed. 

4.5 Notice of and summons to meetings 

The Head of Paid Service will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 
meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. At least five clear 
days before a meeting, the Head of Paid Service will send a summons to every Member 
of the Council. The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and 
specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are 
available. 

4.6 Chairman of meeting 

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chairman. 
Where these rules apply to committee and sub-committee meetings, references to the 
Chairman also include the Chairman of committees and sub--committees. 

4.7 Quorum 

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members. During any 
meeting if the Chairman counts the number of Members present and declares there is not 
a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

Questions by the Public 

4.8 General 

4.8.1 Members of the public may ask questions of Members of the Cabinet or 
Committee Chairmen at ordinary meetings of the Council, subject to 4.2 (f)  

4.8.3 Each speaker will be limited to two minutes in which to ask the question or 
questions. Subject to the Chairman’s discretion, there will be an overall limit of 15 
minutes for public questions, or a total of six questions, whichever is the greater. 

4.9 Order of questions 

Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that the 
Chairman may group together similar questions. 

4.10 Notice of questions 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by 
electronic mail to the Proper Officer no later than 12.00 pm three working days before the 
day of the meeting. Each question must give the name and address of the questioner. 

Page 70



4.11 Number of questions 

At any meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more than one 
question may be asked on behalf of an organisation. 

4.12 Scope of questions 

In addition to 4.2 (f) above, the Head of Paid Service may reject a question if it: 

a) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which 
affects the District; 

b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of 

the Council in the past six months; 
d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 

4.13 Record of questions 

The Head of Paid Service will immediately send a copy of the question to the Councillor to 
whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will include reasons for rejection. Copies of all 
questions will be circulated to all Councillors and will be made available to the public 
attending the meeting. 

4.14 Asking the question at the meeting 

The Chairman will invite the questioner to put the question, as submitted, to the Councillor 
named in the notice.  

4.15 Response to the question 

The Member responding to a question may speak for no longer than 2 minutes unless the 
Chairman consents to a longer period. 

4.16 Supplementary question 

A questioner who has put a question may also put one supplementary question without 
notice to the Councillor who has replied to his or her original question.  A supplementary 
question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.  The Chairman may 
reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds set out in Rule 4.12 above. 

4.17 Written answers 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of 
lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Councillor to whom it was to be put, 
will be dealt with by a written answer. 

4.18 Reference of question to the Cabinet or a committee 

Any Member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the Cabinet or 
the appropriate committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without 
discussion.  

4.19 Public speaking on agenda items  

Page 71



a) Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District and members of the 
public may make a statement on any item on the agenda when the matter 
arises for debate and at the time appointed by the Chairman. Each speaker 
will be limited to two minutes in which to make representations. Unless the 
Chairman specifies otherwise, the total time for such representations by 
members of the public shall not exceed 12 minutes in respect of each item. 

b) Speakers shall give notice by not later than 12.00 two working days before 
the date of the meeting of their intention to speak.  

c) Where the item concerns a planning or licensing application the rule in Rule 
4.19(a) is modified to allow parish or neighbourhood councils two minutes 
each, objectors two minutes each subject to an overall limit of six minutes, 
applicants and supporters two minutes each subject to an overall limit of six 
minutes. 

4.20 Questions by Members 

a)   On reports of the Cabinet or committees 

At a meeting of the Council, other than the Annual meeting, a Member of the 
Council may ask the Leader or the Chairman of a committee any question 
without notice upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a committee when 
that item is being received or under consideration by the Council. 

 b) Questions on notice at full Council 

Subject to Rule 4.21, a Member of the Council may ask: 
 

I. the Chairman 
II. the Leader 
III. a member of the Cabinet; or 
IV. the Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee,  

 
a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties 
or which affects the District. 

 

4.21 Notice of questions 

A member may ask a question under Rule 4.20 if either: 

a) they have given notice of the question in writing or by electronic mail no 
later than 12.00 pm 2 days before the day of the meeting to the Monitoring 
Officer; or 

b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the 
Chairman or member to whom the question is to be put and the content of 
the question is given to the Head of Paid Service by 9.00am on the day of 
the meeting. 

Page 72



4.22 Order and form 

a) Questions of which notice has been given under Rule 4.20 will be dealt with in the 
order determined by the Chairman of the Council. 

b) Questions under Rule 4.20 must, in the opinion of the Chairman: 

I. contain no expressions of opinion; 
II. relate to matters on which the Council has or may determine a policy; 

III. not relate to questions of fact. 
 

 Response 

        c)  An answer may take the form of: 

I. a direct oral answer at the meeting; 
II. where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 
III. where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated within 10 working days to the questioner. 
 

4.23 Supplementary question and statement in response by questioner 

a)A Member asking a question under Rule 4.20 may ask one supplementary question 
without notice of the Member to whom the first question was asked. The supplemental 
question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 

b)A Member asking a question or questions may make one statement in response to the 
answer or answers received and, unless the Chairman specifies otherwise, the time 
available to the questioner shall be limited to five minutes. 

 

4.24 Length of Speeches 

A Member asking a question under Rule 4.20 and a Member answering such a question 
may speak for no longer than 2 minutes unless the Chairman consents to a longer period. 

4.25 Time Allowed for Questions at Council Meetings 

a) The time allowed for consideration of questions submitted under 
Rule 4.19 shall not, without the consent of the Council, exceed 30 
minutes. 

b) At the conclusion of the answer to the question under 
consideration at the expiry of 30 minutes (or such longer period to 
which the Council has consented) from the time when the first 
questioner started to speak, the Chairman shall conclude the item. 

c) Any remaining questions shall be responded to in writing before 
the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

Page 73



4.26 Motions on Notice 

a) Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule X, written 
notice of every motion, must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 
5.00pm on the seventh working day before the Council meeting at which it is to 
be considered.  

b) Motion set out in agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 
order determined by the Chairman. 

c) Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affect the District. 

d) One Motion per Member 

No Member may give notice of more than one motion for any Council meeting, 
except with the consent of the Chairman. 

e) Time Allowed for Motions 

The time allowed for consideration of motions submitted under this Rule shall 
not, without the consent of the Council, exceed 30 minutes. At the conclusion of 
the speech being delivered at the expiry of 30 minutes (or such longer period to 
which the Council has consented) from the commencement of the Council’s 
consideration of the first such motion, the Chairman shall put to the vote, 
without further discussion, all the questions necessary to dispose of the motion 
then under debate provided that: 

I. if the speech to be concluded is a speech proposing a motion, the 
Chairman shall allow the motion to be formally seconded (without 
comment); 

II. if the speech to be concluded is a speech moving an amendment, 
the Chairman shall allow the amendment to be formally seconded 
(without comment) and the mover of the motion to exercise his 
right of reply; and 

III. otherwise, the Chairman shall allow the mover of the motion to 
exercise his right of reply. 

Any remaining motions submitted under this Rule shall be deferred to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council and shall be dealt with at that meeting in the 
same order and before any other motions of which notice is given for that 
meeting. 

4.27 Motions without Notice 

The following motions may be moved without notice: 

Page 74



a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual, without further debate; 
e) to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the summons for 

the meeting; 
f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or officers 

and any resolutions following from them; 
g) to withdraw a motion; 
h) to amend a motion, subject to the provisions of the Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules in relation to amendment of the Cabinet's 
proposals for the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework; 

i) to proceed to the next business; 
j) that the question be now put; 
k) to adjourn a debate; 
l) to adjourn a meeting; 
m) to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 
n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules; 
o) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 4.34(c) or to exclude them 

from the meeting under Rule 4.34(d); and 
p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution. 
 

4.28 Rules of Debate 

a) No speeches until motion seconded 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 

b) Right to require motion in writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chairman may 
require it to be written down and handed to him or her before it is discussed. 

c) Seconder’s speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate. 

d) Content and length of speeches 

I. Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to 
a personal explanation or point of order. 

II. A speech by the mover of a motion may not exceed five minutes 
without the consent of the Chairman. 

III. Subject to paragraph IV below, speeches by other Members may 
not exceed five minutes without the consent of the Chairman. 

IV. When the Council’s annual budget is under discussion, the leader 
of each political group on the Council may speak for up to ten 
minutes or such longer period as the Chairman shall allow. 

Page 75



 
 e) When a Member may speak again 

A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the 
subject of debate, except: 

I. to speak once on an amendment moved by another member 
II. to move a further amendment if the motion has been 

amended since he last spoke 
III. if his first speech was on an amendment moved by another 

member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the 
amendment on which he spoke was carried) 

IV. in exercise of a right of reply 
V. on a point of order, and 

VI. by way of personal explanation. 
 

 f) Amendments to motions 

I. An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion 
and will either be: 

II. to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 
consideration or reconsideration, without further debate; 

III. to leave out words; 
IV. to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
V. to insert or add words 

VI. as long as the effect of (I)-(IV) above is not to negate the 
motion. 

VII. Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any 
one time.  No further amendment may be moved until the 
amendment under discussion has been disposed of. 

VIII. If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the 
original motion may be moved. 

IX. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes 
the place of the original motion. This becomes the 
substantive motion to which any further amendments are 
moved. 

X. After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will 
read out the amended motion before accepting any further 
amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

 

 g) Alteration of motion 

I. A Member may alter a motion of which he has given notice 
with the consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will 
be signified without discussion. 

II. A Member may alter a motion which he has moved without 
notice with the consent of both the meeting and the 
seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. 

III. Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may 
be made. 

 

Page 76



 h)  Withdrawal of motion 

A Member may withdraw a motion which he has moved with the consent of 
both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified 
without discussion. No member may speak on the motion after the mover has 
asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 i) Right of reply 

I. The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the 
debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 

II. If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion 
has the right of reply at the close of the debate on the 
amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

III. The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the 
debate on his amendment. 

 
 j) Motions which may be moved during debate 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the 
following procedural motions: 

I. to withdraw a motion; 
II. to amend a motion; 

III. to proceed to the next business; 
IV. that the question be now put; 
V. to adjourn a debate; 

VI. to adjourn a meeting; 
VII. to exclude the public and press in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules; and 
VIII. to not hear further a Member named under Rule 4.34(c) or to 

exclude them from the meeting under Rule 4.34(d). 
 k) Closure motions 

I. A Member may move, without comment, the following 
motions at the end of a speech of another Member; 

II. to proceed to the next business; 
III. that the question be now put; 
IV. to adjourn a debate; or 
V. to adjourn a meeting. 

VI. If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the 
Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he 
will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and 
then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

VII. If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the 
Chairman thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he 
will put the procedural motion to the vote. If it is passed he 
will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply 
before putting his motion to the vote. 

VIII. If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 
seconded and the Chairman thinks the item has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so 
discussed on that occasion, he will put the procedural motion 

Page 77



to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the 
right of reply. 

 
 l) Point of order 

A point of order is a request from a member to the Chairman to rule on an 
alleged irregularity in the procedure of the meeting.  A member may raise a 
point of order at any time. The Chairman will hear them immediately. A point of 
order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure 
or the law. The member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he 
considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Chairman on the matter will be 
final. 

 m) Personal explanation 

A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the 
member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. 
The ruling of the Chairman on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be 
final. 

4.29  State of the District Debate 

 a) Calling of debate 

The Leader may call a state of the District debate annually on a date and in a 
form to be agreed with the Chairman. 

 b) Form of debate 

The Leader will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling the 
widest possible public involvement and publicity. This may include holding 
workshops and other events prior to or during the state of the District debate. 

 c) Chairing of debate 

The debate will be chaired by the Chairman. 

 d) Results of debate 

The results of the debate will be: 

I. disseminated as widely as possible within the community 
and to agencies and organisations in the area; and 

II. considered by the Leader in proposing the Budget and Policy 
Framework to the Council for the coming year. 

Page 78



 

4.30 Previous Decisions and Motions 

 a) Motion to rescind a previous decision 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council 
within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by at least ten members. 

 b) Motion similar to one previously rejected 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a 
meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of 
motion or amendment is signed by at least ten members. Once the motion or 
amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment 
for six months. 

4.31 Voting 

 a) Majority 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a 
simple majority of those members voting and present in the room at the time 
the question was put. 

 b) Chairman’s casting vote 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have a 
second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chairman 
chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

 c) Method of Voting 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule d the Chairman will take the 
vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the 
meeting. 

 d) Recorded vote 

If two members present at the meeting demand it, the names for and against 
the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in 
writing and entered into the minutes. 

 e) Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote 
will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the 
motion or abstained from voting. 

 f) Voting on appointments 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and 
there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of 

Page 79



the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new 
vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one 
person. 

4.32 Minutes 

 a) Signing the minutes 

The Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable 
meeting. The Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be 
signed as a correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed 
is their accuracy. 

 b) No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary 
meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing 
the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an extraordinary meeting), then the next following 
meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be 
treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of 
Schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 

 c) Form of minutes 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the form and order the 
Chairman put them. 

d) Record of Attendance 

All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their 
names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to 
assist with the record of attendance. 

4.33 Exclusion of Public 

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 4.35 
(Disturbance by Public). 

4.34 Members’ Conduct 

       a) Speaking at meetings  

When a Member speaks at full Council he/she must address the meeting 
through the Chairman. If more than one member signifies their intention to 
speak, the Chairman will ask one to speak. Other Members must remain silent 
whilst a Member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a 
point of personal explanation. 

 b) Chairman speaking 

When the Chairman speaks during a debate, any member speaking at the time 
must stop. 

Page 80



 c) Member not to be heard further 

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chairman by behaving 
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chairman may 
move that the member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be 
voted on without discussion. 

 d) Member to leave the meeting 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, 
the Chairman may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the 
meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be 
voted on without discussion. 

 e) General disturbance 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the 
Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 

4.35 Disturbance by Public 

 a) Removal of member of the public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the 
person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their 
removal from the meeting room. 

 b) Clearance of part of meeting room 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the Chairman may call for that part to be cleared. 

4.36 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules 

 a) Suspension 

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rules 4.31(d) and 4.32(a) may 
be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the 
whole number of members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be 
for the duration of the meeting.  

 b) Amendment 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, 
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

c) Application to Committees and Sub-Committees 

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council. None of 
the rules apply to meetings of the Cabinet, nor Policy Development Advisory 
Groups. Only Rules 4.5-4.7, 4.19, 4.26-4.36 apply to meetings of committees 
and sub-committees except that insofar as Rule 4.7 is concerned the quorum of 
a meeting shall be one quarter of the whole number of Members of that 

Page 81



meeting or three Members, whichever is the greater. Quorum applies to all 
bodies formed at the Annual Council meeting. 

  

Page 82



4a Cabinet procedure rules 
 

4a. 1 Arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions 

The arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions are determined by the 
Leader. The Leader may provide for Cabinet functions to be discharged by: 

a) the Cabinet as a whole 
b) a committee of the Cabinet 
c) an individual member of the Cabinet 
d) an officer 
e) joint arrangements, or 
f) another local authority. 

 

4a. 2 Delegation by the Leader 

Following the annual meeting of the Council, the Monitoring Officer, at the 
direction of the Leader, will prepare a written record of any changes to the 
cabinet function delegations made by the Leader for inclusion in the Council’s 
responsibility for functions and scheme of delegation at Part three of this 
Constitution. This will contain the following information about cabinet functions: 

a) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet members individually, 
including details of the limitation on their authority 

b) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet committees as 
the Leader appoints and the names of Cabinet members appointed to 
them 

c) the nature and extent of any delegation of cabinet functions to any other 
authority or any joint arrangements, and 

d) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of any 
limitation on that delegation, and the role of the officer to whom the 
delegation is made. 

 
4a. 3 Sub-delegation of executive functions 

Clauses (a-c) provide authority  

a) Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual member 
of the Cabinet is responsible for cabinet function, they may delegate 
further to an officer. 

b) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the Cabinet to 
whom functions have been delegated by the Leader may delegate 
further to an officer. 

c) Where cabinet functions have been delegated, that fact does not 
prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who 
delegated. 

 
4a. 4 The Council’s scheme of delegation and Cabinet functions 

The Leader may amend the scheme of delegation relating to Cabinet functions at any 
time. In doing so the Leader will give written notice to the Monitoring Officer and to the 

Page 83



person, body or committee concerned. The notice must set out the extent of the 
amendment to the scheme of delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal of 
delegation from any person, body or committee. The Monitoring Officer will present a 
report to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the changes made by the 
Leader. Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a committee of the 
Cabinet, notice will be deemed to be served on that committee when he has served it 
on its Chairman. 

4a. 5 Conflicts of Interest 

Where the Leader or any Member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should 
be dealt with as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated to a committee of the 
Cabinet, an individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, 
then the function will be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom 
the delegation was made and otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct 
for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

4a. 6 Cabinet meetings  

The frequency and timing of meetings of the Cabinet will be determined by the 
Leader. The Cabinet will meet at the Council’s main offices or another location to be 
agreed by the Leader. 

4a. 7 Public or private meetings of the Cabinet 

The Cabinet will hold its meetings in public, except in the circumstances set out in 
paragraphs (a) to (c) of Regulation 4(2) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
Briefly, these circumstances cover: 

a) confidential information; 
b) exempt information; 
c) advice of a political adviser or assistant; and 
d) disorderly conduct. 
 

4a. 8  Quorum 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be 3 including the Leader or Deputy 
Leader. The quorum for a meeting of a committee of the Cabinet shall be 3, including 
the Leader. 

4a. 9  How are decisions to be taken by the Cabinet? 

Decisions made by the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a meeting convened in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. Where cabinet decisions are delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, 
the rules applying to cabinet decisions taken by them shall be the same as those 
applying to those taken by the Cabinet as a whole. 

Page 84



4a. 10  Meetings of the Cabinet 

The Leader will preside at any meeting of the Cabinet or its committees at which he is 
present. In his absence, the Deputy Leader will preside.  In their absence, then a 
person appointed to do so by those present shall preside. 

4a. 11 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 

a) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
b) declarations of interest, if any; 
c) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in 
accordance with the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

d) to receive questions from and provide answers to the public in relation to 
matters which, in the opinion of the person presiding at the meeting are 
relevant to the business of the meeting, subject to an overall time limit of 
15 minutes 

e) consideration of reports of the Leader and Cabinet Members 
f) consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  
g) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall indicate 

which are key decisions and which are not in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

h) Review of the Forward Plan 
 
 

4a. 12a Consultation 

All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an officer on 
proposals relating to the Budget and Policy Framework must contain details 
of the nature and extent of consultation undertaken with stakeholders and 
the outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out 
the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of 
consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under 
consideration. 

4a. 12b  Reports on Key and Cabinet Member non-key decisions will detail the views 
of the Policy Development Advisory Group that considered the matter and 
will set out the details and outcome of any consultation as appropriate. The 
level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter 
under consideration. 

 
4a. 13  Who can put items on the Cabinet agenda? 

The Leader will decide upon the schedule for meetings of the Cabinet. He may 
put any matter on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting whether or not authority 
has been delegated to the Cabinet, a committee of it or any member or officer 
in respect of that matter. 

Page 85



a) Any member of the Cabinet may require the Monitoring Officer to make 
sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting 
of the Cabinet for consideration. 

b) The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Finance Officer may include an item for consideration on the agenda of 
a Cabinet meeting and may require that such a meeting be convened in 
pursuance of their statutory duties. 

c) In other circumstances, where any two of the Head of Paid Service, 
Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer are of the opinion that a 
meeting of the Cabinet needs to be called to consider a matter that 
requires a decision they may jointly include an item on the agenda of a 
Cabinet  meeting.  If there is no meeting to deal with the issue in 
question, then the person(s) entitled to include an item on the agenda 
may also require that a meeting be considered at which the matter will 
be considered. 

 4a. 14   Policy Development Advisory Groups 
 

a) The purpose of each Policy Development Advisory Group is to advise the 
relevant Cabinet Member on those functions (including all forthcoming key 
and non-key decisions) described in part 3 of this constitution  

b) A timetable of 6 Policy Development Advisory Group meetings per Group 
per year will be agreed and published at Annual Council 

c) Meetings of the group will be subject to a quorum of three (including the 
Cabinet Member)  

d) The Proper Officer will publish an agenda and notes for each meeting of 
Policy Development Advisory Groups on the council’s website 

e)  Visiting members may attend Policy Development Advisory Groups and 
may speak at the discretion of the Chairman 

f)  A record of the views of Policy Development Advisory Groups will be 
created, subject to Part 4a 12b of this constitution 

 
Sub-groups of policy development advisory groups 

 
g) Sub-groups of a Policy Development Advisory Group may be created from 

the membership of the Policy Development Advisory Group and with the 
assent of the group, duly noted by the Proper Officer 

h) Any sub-group created under provision g) will have a quorum of three 
i) Sub-groups will report to each meeting of the Policy Development Advisory 

Group.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 86



 

4b Overview and scrutiny procedure rules 
 

The Council shall have an Overview and Scrutiny Committee which may appoint 
such Sub-Committees as it considers appropriate from time to time. The 
Committee may appoint smaller groups to carry out detailed examination of 
particular topics for report back to them. Such groups may be appointed for a fixed 
period on the expiry of which they shall cease to exist. These shall be called ‘task 
and finish groups’.  

4b. 1 Who may sit on Overview and Scrutiny Committees? 

All Councillors, except members of the Cabinet and the Chairman of the Council, 
shall be eligible for appointment as members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or its Sub-Committees. However, no member may be involved in 
scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly involved. 

4b. 2 Co-optees 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Sub-Committees shall be entitled to 
appoint a maximum of six people as non-voting co-optees either as standing 
members of the Committee or on a time limited basis. The selection and 
nomination of co-opted members shall be in accordance with any protocol agreed 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4b. 3 Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Sub-
Committees 

The Council may determine a cycle of meetings for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. The Chairman, or if absent, the Vice-Chairman, may change the date 
or cancel meetings, or call additional meetings as they consider necessary to deal 
with the committee’s work programme. A meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and any of its Sub-Committees may be called by its Chairman (or if 
absent the Vice-Chairman) or by the Monitoring Officer, if either of them consider it 
necessary or appropriate. 

4b. 4 Quorum 

The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or its sub-committees shall 
be one quarter of the membership or three members, whichever is the greater. 

4b. 5 Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

There shall be a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee appointed annually at the first ordinary meeting of the Committee. Any 
Sub-Committee shall appoint a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman annually at the first 
ordinary meeting of that Sub –Committee. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Chairman shall be elected from those members who 
are not of the majority group unless they are not available or otherwise unwilling to 
be nominated as Chairman. The Vice-chairman shall be from the majority group. 

Page 87



In the absence of a Chairman the Vice-Chairman shall exercise the powers of the 
Chairman. 

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
shall be entitled to attend each Sub-Committee as an ex-officio member. 

4b. 6 Work programme 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and each of its Sub-Committees will, 
following consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, set their own work programme and in doing so the wishes of 
members on that Committee who are not members of the largest political group on 
the Council shall be taken into account. 

4b. 7  Agenda items 

a) Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committee who 
wants an item relevant to the functions of that Committee to be included on the 
agenda for the next available meeting shall be entitled to give notice of it to the 
Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer shall be given seven days’ notice of the 
item together with sufficient information to enable an officer to advise about the 
nature and purpose of the item. 

b) On receipt of such a request, so long as it is an appropriate matter to be 
considered, the Monitoring Officer will ensure that it is included on the next 
available agenda. 

c) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Scrutiny Sub-Committees shall also 
respond, as soon as their work programme permits, to requests from the Council 
and/or the Cabinet to review particular areas of Council activity. Where they do so, 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report its findings and any 
recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The Cabinet or the Council 
shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-
Committees within two months of receiving it. 

4b. 8 Policy review and development 

a) The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the development of 
the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

b) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not 
forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may make proposals to the Cabinet for policy development in so far as 
they relate to matters within their terms of reference. 

c) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Sub-Committees will be afforded 
sufficient resources to hold enquiries and investigate the available options for 
future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process. They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, 
hold public meetings, commission research and do all other things that they 
reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask 
witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may 

Page 88



pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for 
doing so. 

4b. 9 Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Sub-Committees 

a) All formal reports from Sub-Committees will be reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, before submission to the Cabinet or the Council, except in 
such circumstances where the agreement of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been given.    

b) Once it has formed recommendations, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
prepare a formal report and submit it to the Monitoring Officer for consideration by 
the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing Budget and Policy 
Framework), or to the Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation would 
require a departure from or a change to the agreed Budget and Policy Framework). 

c) The Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
within two months of it being submitted to the Proper Officer. 

4b. 10 Making sure that Overview and Scrutiny reports are considered by the 
Cabinet 

a) The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled ‘consideration of 
reports from the Overview and Scrutiny committee’. The reports of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee referred to the Cabinet shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) as soon as practicable. Where 
an item is not considered by the Cabinet within two months, the Cabinet will give 
an explanation of the reasons to the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as soon as practicable. 

b) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Sub-Committees will have access 
to the Cabinet's Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for 
consultation. Even where an item is not the subject of detailed proposals from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee following a consideration of possible 
policy/service developments, it will be able to respond in the course of the 
Cabinet's consultation process in relation to any key decision. 

c) Where the Cabinet has delegated decision-making power to an individual member 
of the Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will submit a copy of its 
report to that Cabinet member for consideration. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall also give a copy at the same time to the Monitoring Officer. The 
Cabinet Member with delegated decision-making power must consider the report 
and respond in writing to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee within four weeks 
of receiving it. A copy of this written response shall be sent to the Monitoring 
Officer and the Leader. The Cabinet Member will also attend a future meeting of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to present the response. 

4b. 11 Rights of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Sub-
Committees Members to documents 

a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and its sub-Committees have the additional right to documents, and to 

Page 89



notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 

b) Nothing in 4b. 11 prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its sub-committees as appropriate 
depending on the particular matter under consideration. 

4b. 12 Members and Officers giving account 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its sub-committees may scrutinise and 
review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any 
Council functions, save for excluded matters. As well as reviewing documentation, 
in fulfilling the Overview and Scrutiny role, it may require any chief officer or deputy 
chief officer to attend before it under provisions a) to c) of this paragraph.  The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall require the Leader and each member of 
the Cabinet individually to attend before it no less than once in every twelve month 
period to explain the following matters within their portfolio: 

 
a) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 
c) their performance 
 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

Where there are concerns about the appropriateness of the officer who should 
attend, the relevant chief officer shall discuss this with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Chairman or Vice Chairman with a view to achieving consensus. 

Where any member or officer is required to attend the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any of the Scrutiny Sub-Committees under this provision, the Chair 
of that Committee will inform the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer shall 
inform the member or officer, if necessary in writing, giving at least 7 working days’ 
notice of the meeting at which they are required to attend (unless agreed 
otherwise). Any notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required 
to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for 
the Committee. 

Where the account to be given to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny 
Sub-Committees will require the production of a report, then the member or officer 
concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation. 

Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on 
the required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Sub-
Committees shall in consultation with the member or officer arrange an alternative 
date for attendance. 

4b. 13 Attendance by others 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Sub-Committees may invite 
people other than those people referred to in paragraph 12 above to address it, 
discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish 

Page 90



to hear from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the 
public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 

4b. 14 Call-in 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hear the ‘call in’ of decisions made by 
the Cabinet (which term shall also include a Joint Committee), or an individual 
member of the Cabinet, but not yet implemented. The purpose is to consider 
whether to recommend that a decision be reconsidered by the Cabinet. This is a 
power which should only be used in exceptional circumstances and cannot be 
used in respect of day-to-day management and operational decisions. Key 
Decisions and Cabinet Member Non-Key decisions shall be subject to this rule. 

a) When a decision is made by the Cabinet, or an individual member of the 
Cabinet with delegated responsibility to make a non-key decision, or under joint 
arrangements, notice of the decision shall be published, including by electronic 
means, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council normally within 
2 working days of being made. All Overview and Scrutiny members will be sent 
copies of the records of all such decisions, electronically, within the same 
timescale, by the person responsible for publishing the decision. 

b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the 
decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of 5 
working days after the publication of the decision, unless the decision is called 
in under the provisions set out below. 

 

 

 

Within that period: 

I. the Chairman or, if absent, the Vice-Chairman, of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; or 

II. any five non-cabinet members of the Council 

may give notice (an email from each member in b) individually will suffice)) 
requesting that the decision be called in and submit the notice to the Monitoring 
Officer. The notice should give reasons for the request for call-in in accordance 
with paragraph 4b. 15, having regard to the principles of decision making set out in 
Article 12 of this Constitution. 

4b. 15 A notice invoking the call-in procedure must cite at least one of the following 
grounds in support of the request for call-in of a decision: 

a)  inadequate consultation with stakeholders prior to decision; 
b)  the absence of adequate evidence on which to base a decision; 
c) the decision would require a departure from or a change to, the agreed 

budget and policy framework; 
d) the action decided upon would not be proportionate to the desired 

outcome; 

Page 91



e) the decision would be open to a human rights challenge; 
f) insufficient consideration of legal and financial advice; or 
g) the decision is not within the Cabinet’s powers or terms of reference or 

within the portfolio of the Cabinet Member with delegated responsibility 
who took it. 

 
4b. 16 On receipt of the notice the Monitoring Officer will, as soon as possible, 

seek the views of the Chairman, or if absent the Vice-Chairman, of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4b. 17 The Chairman or Vice-Chairman to whom the request is referred will 
consider whether the request is reasonable according to 4b. 15 above. They 
will take account of whether a case has been made out for calling in the 
decision and whether delaying the implementation of the decision would be 
likely to cause significant damage to the Council’s interests. They will have 
regard to the advice of the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer on 
this point. 

4b. 18 If it is considered that the request for call-in is reasonable, the Monitoring 
Officer will convene a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
within 7 working days, after consulting the Chairman of the Committee 
about the date. The Committee will then proceed as in paragraph 4b. 20, 
below. 

4b. 19 If the Chairman or Vice-Chairman to whom the request is referred consider 
that the request is unreasonable the decision will not be called in. The 
Monitoring Officer will submit a report to the next available meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee giving details of the request and 
Chairman’s/Vice-Chairman’s reasons for refusing it. 

4b. 20 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers a call-in request, 
the format of the meeting will be as follows:- 

a) after the Chairman opens the meeting the members who asked for the 
decision to be called in will be asked to explain their reasons for the 
request and what they feel should be reviewed; 

b) on matters of particular relevance to a particular ward, ward members 
who are not signatories to a call-in have the opportunity to make 
comments on the call-in at the meeting, such speeches not to exceed 
five minutes each. Ward members will take no further part in the 
discussion or vote. Ward members must register their request to speak 
by contacting the Monitoring Officer by 12 noon on the day prior to the 
relevant meeting of the committee; 

c) the relevant Cabinet Member (or Members if more than one is relevant) 
will then be invited to make any comments; 

d) the relevant Chief Officer or his representative will advise the Committee 
on the background and context of the decision and its importance to 
achieving Service priorities; 

Page 92



e) Committee members will ask questions of members and officers in 
attendance; 

f) the Cabinet Member(s) will be invited to make any final comments on 
the matter. 

4b. 21  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, after considering the evidence 
presented to the meeting, will make one of the following resolutions: 

a) to take no further action, in which case the decision will take effect 
immediately; 

b) to refer the decision back to the decision-maker for reconsideration, 
setting out the nature of the Committee's concerns; the decision-maker 
must then re-consider the matter with a further 10 working days, taking 
into account the concerns of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
before making a final decision; 

c) to refer the matter to full Council, in which case paragraph 23  below will 
apply.  

4b. 22 If, following a request for call-in, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee does 
not meet in the period set out above, or does meet but does not refer the 
matter back to the decision maker or to full Council, the decision will take 
effect on the date of the relevant Committee meeting, or the expiry of that 
further 7 working day period, whichever is the earlier. 

4b. 23 If the matter is referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a 
decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the 
decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. If full 
Council does object, it has no locus to make decisions in respect of a 
Cabinet decision unless it is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary 
to or not wholly consistent with the Budget. Unless those provisions apply, 
the Council shall refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision 
maker, together with its views on the decision. That decision maker shall 
choose whether to amend the decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet 
meeting will be convened to reconsider it within 10 working days of the 
Council request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the 
individual will reconsider within 10 working days of the Council request. 

4b. 24 If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision 
back to the decision maker, the decision will become effective on the date of 
the Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting 
should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 

4b. 25   Exceptions 

In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor gives rise to unreasonable 
delay, certain limitations are placed on its use. These are: 

a) that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may only call-in a maximum 
of five decisions per year; 

Page 93



b) that call-in can be invoked in respect of a decision only once; 
c) that call-in will not apply to day-to-day management and operational 

decisions taken by Officers and decisions made by officers as defined in 
the officer scheme of delegation . 

d) Only key and non-key decisions made by the Cabinet and Cabinet 
Members may be called in, subject to the limitations placed by urgency 
provisions  
 

4b. 26 Call-in and Urgency 

a) The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being 
taken by the Cabinet is urgent. 

b) A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call in process 
would seriously prejudice the Council or the public interest. 

c) The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public shall state 
whether in the opinion of the decision maker, the decision is an urgent one, and 
therefore not subject to call-in. 

d) The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree both that 
the decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being 
treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, the consent of the Chairman of the Council, or the 
Vice-Chairman of the Council’s consent shall be required. In the absence of 
both the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council, the Head of Paid Service 
or his nominee’s consent shall be required. 

e) Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next available 
meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency. 

f) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be 
monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review 
if necessary. 

4b. 27 Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Sub-Committees shall 
consider the following business: 

a) minutes of the last meeting; 
b) declarations of interest; 
c) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee or Sub-Committee for 

a resolution in relation to call in of a decision; 
d) responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee; 
e) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 
f) In respect of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the work programme 

summary of all the bodies that form the overview and scrutiny function 
 

4b. 28 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any of its sub-committees may ask 
persons to attend to give evidence or answer questions about any items on their 
agenda. Meetings should be conducted in accordance with the following principles: 

Page 94



a) that the business be conducted fairly and all Members of the Committee or  
a Sub-Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, 
and to contribute and speak; 

b) that those assisting by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; 

c) that the business be conducted as efficiently as possible. 
 

Following any investigation or review, the Committee or Sub-Committees shall 
prepare a report, for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and 
shall make its report and findings public. 

4b. 29 Matters within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny body 

Where a matter for consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or one 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committees also falls within the remit of one or 
more other committees, the decision as to which committee will consider it will be 
resolved by the respective Chairmen or, if they fail to agree, the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4b.30 Scrutiny of Crime and Disorder Matters 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is designated as the Council’s Crime and 
Disorder Committee (in accordance with section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 
2006) with responsibility for scrutinising crime and disorder and community safety 
matters. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will delegate its function relating to 
scrutiny of crime and disorder matters to a Crime and Disorder Overview and 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  

Any Member of the Council may give notice to the Monitoring Officer that they want 
an item which they consider to be a crime and disorder matter to be included on 
the agenda for discussion at the next meeting of that Sub-Committee. 

On receipt of the request, the Monitoring Officer will ensure that the item is 
included on the next available agenda for consideration by that Sub-Committee. 

If the Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee decides not to 
make a report or recommendation in relation to the matter, it must notify the 
Member who referred the matter of its decision and the reasons for it. 

Where the Committee makes a report or recommendations it must, as it resolves 
appropriate: 

a) provide a copy of the report or recommendations to the Member who 
referred the matter to the Committee and 

b) provide a copy of the report or recommendations to such of: 

the responsible authorities (within the meaning of Section 5 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998); and 

the co-operating persons and bodies (i.e. those persons and bodies with 
which the responsible authorities have a duty to co-operate under Section 
5(2) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998); 

Page 95



4b.31 Where the Crime and Disorder sub-committee makes a report or 
recommendations or provides a copy of a report or recommendations, the 
Committee must provide a copy of the report or recommendations to that body 
or person, That body or person shall: 

 

a) consider the report or recommendations; 
b) respond to the Committee indicating what (if any) action it proposes to take; 
c) have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its functions. 
 

4b.32 For the purpose of carrying out its functions under the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations, 2009, the sub-committee will meet to 
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with 
the discharge by the responsible authorities of the crime and disorder functions, 
no less than twice in every 12 month period. 

4b.33 Where the Committee makes a report or recommendations to a responsible 
authority or to a co-operating person or body in accordance with section 
19(8)(b) of the Police and Justice Act, 2006, the sub-committee shall review the 
responses received and monitor the action (if any) taken by the relevant 
authority, person or body in accordance with its powers under section 19(1) of 
the 2006 Act. 

 

  

Page 96



4d Budget and policy framework procedure rules 
 

The framework for Cabinet decisions 

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy 
Framework as set out in Article 4. Once a Budget or Policy Framework is in place, 
it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

4d. 1 Process for developing the policy framework 

References in these Rules to the Policy Framework are to the plans and strategy 
required by law to be adopted by the Council and set out in Article 4. The Cabinet 
will be responsible for adopting all other significant policies. 

 
 

a) The Cabinet will publicise a Forward Plan timetable for making proposals to 
the Council for the adoption of any plan or strategy that forms part of the 
Policy Framework, and its arrangements for consultation after publication of 
initial proposals. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
also be notified. 

b) At the end of the consultation period, the Cabinet will draw up firm 
proposals having regard to the responses to the consultation.  

c) In its report to Council, the Cabinet will take into account any response from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and any comments made by 
consultees. 

d) Once the Cabinet has approved a firm proposal, it will refer it in a timely 
manner to the Council 

e) If the Council has any objections or wishes to make amendments to a draft 
plan or strategy submitted to it by Cabinet then it must: 

I. Inform the Leader of any objections and must give to instructions 
requiring the Cabinet to reconsider, in the light of those objections, 
the draft plan or strategy. 

II. Where the Council gives such instructions, it must specify the period 
(of at least five working days beginning on the day after the date on 
which the Leader receives the instructions) within which the Leader 
may: 

III. Submit to the Council for consideration a revision of the draft plan or 
strategy with the Cabinet's reasons for any amendments made; or 

IV. Inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with 
any of the Council’s objections giving reasons for any such 
disagreement. 
 

f) When the period specified by the Council has expired, the Council must 
take into account any amendments made to the draft plan or strategy that 
are included in any revised submission; the Cabinet's reasons for those 
amendments; any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the 
Council’s objections and the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement. 

Page 97



4d. 2 Process for developing the budget 

The Cabinet will follow the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. In addition the following process shall apply to the development of the 
budget: 

a) Before 8 February in any financial year, the Cabinet shall submit to the 
Council for its consideration, in relation to the forthcoming financial year: 

I. estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 
(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 32 to 37 or 43 to 49, of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992; 

II. estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of such a 
calculation; 

III. estimates of such a calculation; or 
IV. amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of Part I 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

b) The Cabinet will publicise a Forward Plan timetable for making proposals to 
the Council for the adoption of the Budget and its arrangements for 
consultation after publication of initial proposals. The Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will also be notified. 

c) At the end of the consultation period, the Cabinet will draw up firm 
proposals having taken into account responses to the consultation and any 
response from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

d) Once the Cabinet has approved the firm proposals, it will refer them in a 
timely manner to the Council. 

e) If the Council in its consideration of the estimates and calculations that are 
required to approve a Budget has any objections it must: 

I. Inform the Leader of such objections which it has to the Cabinet’s 
submission  and must give instructions requiring the Cabinet to 
reconsider, in the light of those objections, the  budget and any 
supplementary information submitted to it 

II. Where the Council gives such instructions it must specify the period 
(of at least five working days beginning on the day after the date on 
which the Leader receives the instructions) within which the Leader 
may:  

III. Submit a revision of the estimates or amounts with the Cabinet's 
reasons for any amendments made for the Council to consider. or 

IV. Inform the Council of any disagreement that the Cabinet has with 
any of the Council’s objections and the reasons for any such 
disagreement. 
 

f) When the period specified by the Council has expired, the Council must 
take into account, when making its deliberations and calculations (whether 
originally or by way of substitute) or  when issuing a precept under Chapter 
IV of Part I of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, any amendments 
from the Cabinet that are included in any revised proposals; the  reasons for 

Page 98



those amendments; any disagreement that the Cabinet has with any of the 
Council’s objections and the Cabinet's reasons for that disagreement. 

 
 g) Paragraph e) above shall not apply in relation to calculations or substitute 

calculations which the Council is required to make in accordance with 
section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
and amounts stated in a precept issued to give effect to calculations or 
substitute calculations made in accordance with section 52J or 52U of that 
Act. 

h) In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 
the extent of the virement (the transfer of funds from one part of a budget to 
another) and degree of in-year changes to the policy framework which may 
be undertaken by the Cabinet in accordance with paragraphs 4d. 5 and 4d. 
6 of these Rules (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other changes to 
the policy and budgetary framework are reserved to the Council. 

4d. 3  Decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

Subject to the provisions of Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, individual 
members of the Cabinet or any officers or joint arrangements discharging 
executive functions may only take decisions which in the opinion of the Monitoring 
Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer are in line with the Budget and Policy 
Framework. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is 
contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the Budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the 
Council, subject to paragraph 4d. 3. If the decision is a matter of urgency the 
provisions in paragraph 4d. 4 shall apply. 

4d. 4 Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

If a decision is a matter of urgency, the Cabinet may take a decision which is 
contrary to the Council’s Policy Framework or not in accordance with the Budget 
approved by full Council. However, the decision may only be taken: 

a) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and if 
the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that the 
decision is a matter of urgency. 

b) The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full 
Council and the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's 
consent to the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted 
on the record of the decision. In the absence of the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee the consent of the Chairman of the 
Council will be required. 

c) Following the decision, the Cabinet must provide a full report to the next 
available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and 
why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency. 

4d. 5  Transfer of funds from one part of a budget to another (virement) 

Page 99



Steps taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the 
Cabinet or Officers or joint arrangements discharging executive functions to implement 
Council policy, shall not exceed those budgets allocated to each budget head. In the 
event that the transfer of funds across budget heads or budgets becomes necessary or 
desirable, it shall be carried out in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules in Part 
4 of this Constitution. 

4d. 6  In-year changes to policy framework 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the Council and 
decisions by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an individual member of the 
Cabinet or officers or joint arrangements discharging executive functions must be in line 
with it. No changes to any policy or strategy which make up the Policy Framework may be 
made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 

a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of service 
in order  to meet a budgetary constraint; 

b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 
government guidance; 

c) in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which would normally 
be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the existing 
policy document is silent on the matter under consideration; or 

d) for which provision is made within the relevant budget or policy. 
 

4d. 7  Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework  

a) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that a 
Cabinet decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy Framework, 
or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Council’s Budget, then it 
shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer. 

b) If the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer concludes that 
such a decision would be a departure from the Policy Framework or Budget 
their report shall be made to the Cabinet with a copy to every Member of the 
Council regardless of whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet 
must then meet to decide what action to take in respect of that report and to 
prepare a report to Council 

 c) If the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that such a 
decision was not a departure from the Policy Framework or Budget their 
report will be to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

d) If the decision under paragraph 4d.7a has yet to be made, or has been 
made but not yet implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary 
to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to 
Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the 
decision or its implementation until the Council has met and considered the 
matter. The Council shall meet within 20 working days of the request by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. At the meeting it will receive a report of 

Page 100



the decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer. The Council may either: 

I. endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as 
falling within the existing Budget and Policy Framework. In this case 
no further action is required, save that the decision of the Council be 
minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or 

II. amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or policy concerned 
to encompass the decision or proposal of the body or individual 
responsible for that executive function and agree to the decision with 
immediate effect. In this case, no further action is required save that 
the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 
councillors; or 

III. where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary 
to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the Budget, and does not amend the existing Framework to 
accommodate it, require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in 
accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 

  

Page 101



4e Financial procedure rules 
 

4e. 1  Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that “every authority shall 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs”. 

Financial Procedures provide the framework for managing the Council’s 
financial affairs. Financial Procedures are supported by more detailed Financial 
Management Regulations, Standards and Policies which set out how the 
procedures will be implemented. These are available from the Chief Finance 
Officer or their deputy. 

These procedures identify the financial responsibilities of the full Council, the 
Cabinet and officers. 

To avoid the need for regular amendment due to changes in post: 

a) titles generic terms are included for officers as follows: 
b) The term, “Chief Finance Officer,” refers to the Section 151 Officer 

who is currently the Director of Corporate Resources. 
c) The term, “Chief Officers”, refers to the Council’s Chief Executive 

and the Corporate Directors. 
d) The term, “Monitoring Officer”, is currently the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services. 
e) The term, “Chief Internal Auditor”, refers to the Chief Audit 

Executive as defined by the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. 

f) The term, “Service Manager” or “Head of Service” are 
interchangeable and apply to any officer, who is not a director, but 
directly reports to one of the directors or the Chief Executive, 
“deputy chief officer”.  
 

4e. 2 To conduct its business effectively, the Council needs to ensure that sound 
financial management arrangements are in place and that they are strictly adhered 
to in practice. Part of this process is the establishment of Financial Procedures 
which set out the financial responsibilities of the Council. These procedures have 
been devised as a control to help the Council manage its financial matters properly 
in compliance with all necessary requirements. 

I. Good, sound financial management is a key element of Corporate 
Governance. This helps to ensure that the Council is doing the 
right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, 
inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 

II. Good financial management secures value for money, controls 
spending, ensures due probity of transactions and allows decisions 
to be informed by accurate accounting information. 

III. Good financial management requires secure and reliable records 
and systems to process transactions and information and 
substantiate the effective use of public money. 

Page 102



IV. Financial Procedures should not be seen in isolation, but rather as 
part of the overall regulatory framework of the Council as set out in 
this Constitution. 

Who do Financial Procedures apply to? 

4e. 3 Financial Procedures apply to every member and officer of the Council and 
anyone acting on its behalf.  Members and officers have a general responsibility 
for taking reasonable action to provide for the security and use of the resources 
and assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of such resources 
and assets is legal, is consistent with Council policies and priorities, is properly 
authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value. 

4e. 4 These Financial Procedures shall apply in relation to any partnership for which 
the Council is the accountable body, unless the Council expressly agrees 
otherwise. 

4e. 5 Failure to observe Financial Procedures may result in action under the Council's 
disciplinary procedures. 

Who is responsible for ensuring that they are applied? 

4e. 6 Chief Officers and Service Managers are ultimately responsible to the Council for 
ensuring that Financial Procedures are applied and observed by their staff and 
contractors providing services on the Council’s behalf. They are also responsible 
for reporting to the Chief Finance Officer any known or suspected breaches of such 
Financial Procedures. 

4e. 7 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the 
Financial Procedures and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the 
Council for approval. The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for reporting, 
where appropriate, breaches of the Financial Procedures to the Council and/or to 
the Executive Members. 

4e. 8 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 
underpin the Financial Procedures which Members, Chief Officers and others 
acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow. 

4e. 9 Any persons charged with the use or care of the Council’s resources and assets 
should inform themselves of the Council’s requirements under these Financial 
Procedure Rules. If any person is in any doubt about such obligations, they should 
seek advice. 

4e. 10 Where any Chief Officer considers that complying with Financial Procedures in a 
particular situation might conflict with the achievement of value for money or the 
principles of Best Value or the best interests of the Council, they shall raise the 
issue with the Chief Finance Officer who will, if considered necessary and 
appropriate, seek formal approval from the Council for a specific waiver of the 
procedures, or an amendment to the procedures themselves. 

 

4e. 11  Financial management – role of council and the cabinet 

Page 103



a) The Council is responsible for: 

I. The adoption and revision of these Financial Procedure Rules; 
II. The determination of the Policy Framework and Budget within which the 

Cabinet  works; 
III. Providing the Chief Finance Officer with sufficient staff, accommodation and 

other resources to carry out his or her duties; and 
IV. approving and monitoring compliance with the Council’s overall framework 

of accountability and control. 
 
b) The Cabinet is responsible for:  

I. controlling the Council’s financial resources; 
II. proposing the Budget and Policy Framework to full Council; and 

III. for discharging cabinet functions in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

 
4e. 12 The Role of the Chief Finance Officer 

The Chief Finance Officer is accountable to the Chief Executive and the Council 
and has statutory duties that provide overall responsibility for the financial 
administration and stewardship of the Council This statutory responsibility cannot 
be overridden. These statutory duties arise from: 

• Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
• The Local Government Finance Act 1988 
• The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
• The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer is the Council’s professional adviser on financial matters 
and is responsible for: 

a) The proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs. 
b) Maintaining a continuous review of Financial Procedures and 

submitting any additions or changes as necessary to the full 
Council for approval. 

c) Updating, and monitoring compliance with financial management 
standards. 

d) Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key 
financial controls necessary to secure sound financial 
management. 

e) Providing training for Members and officers on Financial 
Procedures and Financial Management Standards. 

f) Determining accounting policies and ensuring that they are applied 
consistently. 

g) Determining accounting procedures and records of the Council. 
h) Reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the Financial 

Procedures to the Council and/or Cabinet. 
i) Preparing and monitoring the revenue budget, capital programme 

and Medium Term Financial Plan. 
j) Ensuring the provision of an effective Internal Audit Function. 
k) Ensuring the provision of an effective Treasury Management 

Function. 

Page 104



l) Advising on risk management. 
m) Ensuring the Council complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 
n) Ensuring the Council complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards. 
o) Ensuring that Council spending plans and council tax calculations, 

identified in the medium term financial plan, are based upon robust 
estimates. 

p) Ensuring that the level of Council reserves is adequate to meet the 
known financial risks facing the Council over the medium term. 

q) Ensuring that the annual Statement of Accounts is prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK: A Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP). 

r) Ensuring that financial information is available to enable accurate 
and timely monitoring and reporting of comparisons of national and 
local financial performance indicators. 

s) Ensuring that proper professional practices, standards and ethics 
are adhered to. 

t) Acting as head of profession in relation to the standards, 
performance and development of finance staff including the 
training and professional development of all staff employed in 
posts designated as requiring a qualified accountant, accounting 
technician, or auditor, wherever located. 

u) The appointment of all finance staff and will be consulted on any 
proposal to create or delete a post requiring such a qualification for 
appointment. 
 

Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Chief Finance 
Officer to report to the full Council and to the External Auditors if the Council or one 
of its officers: 

I. Has made, or is about to make a decision which involves 
incurring expenditure which is unlawful. 

II. Has taken or is about to take, unlawful action which has 
resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the Council. 

III. Is about to make an unlawful entry in the Council’s accounts. 
IV. The Chief Finance Officer to nominate a properly qualified 

member of staff to deputise should he or she be unable to 
perform the duties under section 114 personally. 

V. The Council to provide the Chief Finance Officer with sufficient 
staff, accommodation and other resources, including legal 
advice where necessary, to carry out the duties under section 
114, as determined by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

            The Chief Finance Officer 

VI. is required to approve all financial procedures, records, systems 
and accounts throughout the Council which are necessary to 
ensure that the tasks defined in these procedures are properly 
carried out. The Council will also ensure that the Chief Finance 
Officer is consulted and given the opportunity to advise upon all 
financial management arrangements and notes of detailed 

Page 105



advice and guidance on financial systems and procedures 
necessary to ensure a satisfactory standard of accuracy, 
reliability, probity and regularity. 

VII. shall be given access to any information as is necessary to 
comply with their statutory duties and with the requirements and 
instructions of the Council. 

VIII. shall be entitled to attend and report on financial matters directly 
to the Council, the Cabinet, and any committees or working 
groups the Council may establish. 

IX. shall be sent prior notice of all meetings of the Cabinet and all 
Council bodies together with full agendas and reports and shall 
have authority to attend all meetings and take part in the 
discussion if  so desired 

4e. 13  The Role of Chief Officers 

Chief Officers are each accountable to the Council for the financial 
management and administration of those services and activities allocated to 
them in accordance with Council policy. 

 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

a) Ensuring that adequate and effective systems of internal control 
are operated to ensure the accuracy, legitimacy and proper 
processing of transactions and the management of activities, 
having regard to advice and guidance from the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

b) Ensuring that Cabinet members are advised of the financial 
implications of all proposals and that the financial implications 
have been agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 

c) Consulting with the Chief Finance Officer in seeking approval 
regarding any matters which may affect the Council’s finances 
materially, before any commitments are incurred. 

d) Consulting with each other on any issue with corporate financial 
implications before submitting policy options or 
recommendations to Members. 

e) Informing immediately the Chief Finance Officer of failures of 
financial control resulting in additional expenditure or liability, or 
loss of income or assets. 

Financial Planning 

4e. 14  Strategic Planning 

a) The full Council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s Budget and 
Policy Framework proposed by Cabinet. 

Page 106



b) The preparation of the medium term financial plan is part of the strategic 
policy framework of the Council and aims to ensure that the Council’s 
spending plans are prudent, affordable, and sustainable and reflect 
Council priorities. 

c) The full Council is responsible for approving procedures for agreeing 
variations to approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the policy 
framework and for determining the circumstances in which a decision 
will be deemed to be contrary to the budget or policy framework. Under 
the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer has a duty to advise whether 
decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

d) Chief Officers are responsible for the preparation and monitoring of 
service improvement plans within their service areas. Service 
improvement plans should align with Council values and priorities and 
be consistent with and based upon the budget allocated by the Council 
to the service. 

4e. 15  Budget Preparation 

The Cabinet, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 
determining the general Budget strategy and issuing guidance to Members and 
Chief Officers on: 

a) Preparing a detailed revenue Budget for the following year 
b) Preparing the medium term financial plan for a period of no less than 3 

years. 
c) Preparing the capital programme. 
d) The timetable for preparing and agreeing the Council’s revenue and 

capital Budget. 
 

The guidance will take account of: 

e) Council priorities as reflected in the Corporate Plan 
f) Spending pressures 
g) What future funding is available 
h) What level of reserves are available 
i) The affordability, sustainability and prudence of capital investment plans 
j) Legal requirements 
k) Value for money and other relevant government guidelines 
l) Other internal policy documents 
m) Cross-cutting or income growth issues (where relevant). 

 
4e. 16 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring budget process 

considers the full Council’s policy framework. 

4e. 17 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that a detailed 
revenue budget is prepared on an annual basis and a general revenue plan 
on a three yearly basis (medium term financial plan) for consideration 
by Cabinet before submission to full Council. 

Page 107



4e. 18 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring a capital programme 
is prepared annually for consideration by Cabinet before submission to the 
full Council. 

4e. 19 It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to advise the Cabinet 
and/or the full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council. 

4e. 20 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that budget estimates are 
prepared in accordance with guidance issued by Cabinet and reflect agreed 
service performance plans. 

4e. 21  Budget Approval 

a) The full Council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s Budget 
(including Prudential Indicators) and Policy Framework. The policy 
framework comprises of a number of statutory plans and strategies. 

b) The Council’s revenue and capital budget will be proposed by the 
Cabinet, (on the advice of the Chief Finance Officer), and will be 
approved by the full Council. 

c) The full Council may amend the proposed budget or ask the Cabinet to 
reconsider it before approving it. 

4e. 22  Budget Transfers 

a) During the year the Cabinet and Chief Officers may need to vary 
budgets to reflect changed service needs or priorities in order to deliver 
the budget policy framework within the financial limits set by the Council. 

b) The full Council is responsible for approving procedures for agreeing 
variations to approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the policy 
framework and for determining the circumstances in which a decision 
will be deemed to be contrary to the Budget or Policy Framework. 
Decisions should be referred to the full council by the Monitoring Officer. 

c) The full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet 
may reallocate budget funds. 

d) The full Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for carrying 
forward surpluses and deficits on budget headings at each financial year 
end. 

e) The following limits have been approved for the authorisation of budget 
transfers: 

I. Chief Officers 

a) Up to £50,000, between any one budget head to another for which 
they are responsible during the financial year after notification to 
the Chief Finance Officer 

Page 108



b) Up to £100,000, between any one budget head to another for 
which they are responsible during the financial year with written 
approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

c) In total, up to a total of 5% of the directorate budget for which they 
are responsible in any one financial year. 

II. Cabinet Member  

Up to £250,000, between any one budget head to another for 
which they are responsible during the financial year with written 
approval of the Cabinet Member responsible for Finance. 

III. Cabinet 

Individual transfers between budget heads in excess of £250,000 
following a joint report by the Chief Finance Officer and the 
responsible Chief Officer. The joint report must explain the 
implications in the current and coming financial year. 

IV. Full Council 

Any transfer which results in an excess of 5% of a directorate 
budget. 

4e. 23 The Chief Finance Officer will use their delegated authority to authorise 
the release of funds from contingencies. It is the responsibility of the 
Chief Officers to: 

a) Notify the Chief Finance Officer of any budget transfer agreed 
under delegated powers as set out above; 

b) Give prior notice to budget holders of any budget transfer affecting 
their service area and provide an explanation of the reason for the 
budget transfer. 

4e. 24 Council approval is required for any budget transfer, of whatever 
amount, where the proposed transfer will result in a change of policy, 
the introduction of a new Service or the termination of an existing 
Service. 

 4e. 25    A capital budget cannot be transferred to a revenue budget head. 

 4e. 26 Budget Monitoring and the Control of Income and Expenditure 

                           The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

a) Developing an effective framework of budgetary management and 
control. 

b) Providing appropriate financial information to enable budgets to be 
monitored effectively. 

c) Reporting to the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or its nominated Sub Committee, on the overall 
Council budget monitoring position on a quarterly basis. 

Page 109



d) All payments to employees, Members and creditors. 
e) Maintaining the Council’s tax records, making all tax payments, 

receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their due date 
as appropriate. 

f) Advising Chief Officers on all taxation issues that affect the 
Council. 

g) Ensuring that all funding notified by external bodies is received and 
properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 

h) Agreeing arrangements for the collection of income due to the 
Council. 

i) Agreeing banking, borrowing and other credit requirements e.g. 
leasing. 

j) Agreeing the write-off of bad debts in accordance with the 
Council’s Debt Recovery Policy. 
 

4e. 27 The Cabinet is responsible for approving contractual arrangements for any 
work for third parties or external bodies unless the responsible Chief Officer 
is authorised in this respect under the Scheme of Delegation in this 
Constitution. 

It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to: 

a) Control income and expenditure within their service area. 
b) Monitor performance in conjunction with the budget taking account 

of financial information provided by the Chief Finance Officer. 
c) Report on spending variances within their own areas. 
d) Take any corrective action necessary to avoid exceeding their 

budget allocation and alert the Chief Finance Officer to any 
problems. 
 

4e. 28 Reporting Council Spending at Year End 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for: 

I. Publishing a timetable for the closure of the accounts annually 

II. Ensuring that the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts is 
prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, CIPFA/LASAAC, the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 and any other relevant 
guidelines. 

It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that arrangements are put 
in place each year to deliver the Council’s closure timetable. 

4e. 29 Use of Council Reserves 

a) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising the 
Cabinet and/or the full Council on levels of reserves for the 
Council. The advice will be based upon an annual risk 
assessment of the prudent levels of reserves the Council should 
maintain. 

Page 110



b) The Chief Finance Officer will manage the Council reserves in 
accordance with decisions taken by the Cabinet and full Council. 

4e. 30 Risk management and control of resources   

Risk Management 

a) It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and 
maintained for identifying, evaluating and managing all 
significant Strategic and Operational risks to the Council. This 
should include the proactive participation of all those associated 
with planning and delivering services. 

b) The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the Council’s 
risk management policy statement and strategy and for 
reviewing the effectiveness of risk management. 

c) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for preparing the 
Council’s risk management policy statement and for promoting it 
throughout the Council and for advising the Audit Committee on 
proper insurance cover for material risks where appropriate. 

d) The Chief Officers are responsible for reviewing strategic risks 
and reporting progress on the management of strategic risk to 
the Audit Committee. 

e) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure there are 
regular reviews of risk within their areas of responsibility having 
regard to advice from the Council’s Corporate Risk Manager and 
other specialist officers (e.g. crime prevention, fire prevention, 
Health & Safety). 

Internal Control 

f) Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by 
management to help ensure the Council’s objectives are 
achieved in a manner that promotes economic, efficient and 
effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets and 
interests are safeguarded. 

g) The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for advising on effective 
systems of internal control. Effective systems of internal control 
should ensure compliance with all applicable statutes and 
regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice. They 
should also ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded 
and used economically, efficiently and in accordance with the 
statutory and other authorities that govern their use. 

h) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound 
arrangements for planning, appraising, authorising and 
controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 
improvement, value for money, effective use of resources and 
achieving their financial performance targets. 

Page 111



i) The Council is required to provide an Annual Governance 
Statement in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2011. As part of this statement, the Chief Executive 
and the Leader of the Council are required to comment on the 
effectiveness of the entire internal control environment within the 
Council as this is a key indicator of good governance. 

4e. 31  Insurance 

Insurance provision is a way of managing risk. The Chief Finance Officer is 
responsible for: 

I. Effecting insurances falling within the framework approved by 
the Cabinet and dealing with all claims in consultation with other 
Chief Officers where necessary. 

II. Reviewing, at least annually, all insurances in consultation with 
Chief Officers where necessary. 

It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to: 

a) Advise the Chief Finance Officer of all new risks, properties, 
vehicles or potential liabilities for which insurance may be 
required; and of any changes affecting existing risks or insurance 
cover required. 

b) Notify the Chief Finance Officer in writing without delay of any 
loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim, and 
shall provide such information and explanations required by the 
Chief Finance Officer or the Council’s insurers 

c) Consult with the Monitoring Officer on the terms of any indemnity 
which they are requested to give on behalf of the Council. 

d) Ensure that employees, or anyone covered by the Council’s 
insurances, do not admit liability or make any offer to pay 
compensation that may prejudice the assessment of liability in 
respect of any insurance claim. 

4e. 32  Audit Requirements 

The requirement for an internal audit function for local authorities is implied 
by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, and section 112 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988, which require that authorities “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”. The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 require that a, “relevant body must 
undertake an adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records 
and of its systems of internal control” and must “at least once in each year 
conduct a review of the effectiveness of its internal audit.” 

The Chief Finance Officer, as determined by the Council, will ensure that 
the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to maintain an adequate 
and effective internal audit. 

Page 112



The strategy and terms of reference for Internal Audit are detailed in the 
Council’s Internal Audit Charter which is approved and reviewed by the 
Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee. 

An external auditor is appointed to each local authority. The basic duties of 
the external auditor are governed by section 15 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1982, as amended by section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 
1998. They are also required to follow the current Audit Code of Practice. 
The duties include reviewing the work of the internal auditors. 

The Council may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 
investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs, who 
have statutory rights of access. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for reporting to the Audit 
Committee and the Cabinet, where appropriate, the findings of these 
inspections and taking relevant action to implement recommendations and 
action required. 

4e. 33  Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

 The Council will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its 
responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the Council. The Chief 
Finance Officer is responsible for the development maintenance and review 
of an anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy. It is the responsibility of Chief 
Officers to promote the Anti-fraud and Anti-corruption policy within their 
Service areas and ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported to the 
Chief Finance Officer. The Chief Internal Auditor will take whatever steps 
are considered necessary, on behalf of the Chief Finance Officer, to 
investigate and report upon the matter. Chief Officers are responsible for 
taking any appropriate action to prevent further loss and to secure records 
and documentation against removal or alteration. 

4e. 34  Use of and Disposal of Assets 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for issuing procedures to 
safeguard the use and disposal of Council assets. Chief Officers are 
responsible for ensuring that adequate and effective arrangements are in 
place for the care and custody all assets within their Service area and 
ensuring that assets are disposed of in accordance with procedures 
approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

4e. 35  Treasury Management 

The Council has adopted the key recommendations of CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Service Code of Practice. Accordingly, the full 
Council is responsible for approving a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement, on an annual basis, stating the policies and objectives of its 
treasury management activities. 

The full Council is also responsible for approving Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which the Council will seek to 

Page 113



achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage 
and control those activities. 

The Council will receive reports on its Treasury Management policies 
practices and activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and 
plan for the coming financial year at or before the start of each financial year 
and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in the TMPs. 

The Council has delegated its responsibility for the implementation and 
monitoring of its Treasury Management policies and practices to the Audit 
Committee. 

Responsibility for the execution and administration of its Treasury 
Management decisions, including decisions on borrowing, investment and 
financing, have been delegated to the Chief Finance Officer, who will act in 
accordance with the Council’s policy statements and TMPs. 

4e. 36  Banking 

All arrangements concerning banking services, including the opening, closing 
and operation of the Council's bank accounts shall be made solely upon 
direction of the Chief Finance Officer. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the reconciliation of the Council’s 
bank accounts with the Council’s financial accounts. 

Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all banking arrangements 
determined by the Chief Finance Office are observed and to advise him or her 
of any changes in their Services that may require a change in these 
arrangements. 

4e. 37  Income Collection 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for approving all methods of income 
collection, records and systems. 

The Council has a statutory responsibility to conform to the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 and the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 (as amended). 
Accordingly, the Cabinet is responsible for the approving the Council’s’ Money 
Laundering Policy. 

Responsibility for the implementation and administration of the Council’s Money 
Laundering Policy has been delegated to the Chief Finance Officer who is 
responsible for nominating an officer (and deputy) to act as the Council’s 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer. 

Chief Officers are responsible for: 

a) Ensuring all income is held securely 
b) Ensuring for compliance with income and banking arrangements 

specified by the Chief Finance Officer 
c) In consultation with the Chief Finance Officer reviewing prices, 

fees and charges, at least annually. 

Page 114



 
4e. 38  External Funding 

Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that any bids for external funding are 
made in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer. Chief Officers must ensure 
that any project to be funded by external funding does not commence until 
proper approval has been obtained and the source of external funding 
confirmed. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 
external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 
Chief Officers are responsible for providing all necessary information to enable 
this to be achieved. 

4e. 39  Debt Collection 

The Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s debt recovery policy. 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining records of debts and 
the implementation of the Council’s debt recovery policy. 

Chief Officers are responsible for: 

i. Ensuring effective systems are in place to allow sums due to the 
Council to be easily identified 

ii. Ensuring debtor accounts are raised accurately and promptly and 
that adequate records are maintained to support the raising of the 
debt and any recovery action taken. 

iii. Assisting in the collection of debt by providing any further information 
necessary to pursue the debt or monitoring debts on the Council’s 
behalf as requested by the Chief Finance Officer. 

iv. Ensuring that the appropriate approval is obtained to write off debts 
 

4e. 40 Partnerships 

The Cabinet may form partnerships with other local, public, private, voluntary and 
community sector organisations. The Cabinet is responsible for approving any 
delegations of its powers, to address local needs. 

The Council or the Cabinet can delegate its functions, including those relating to 
partnerships to officers. Details are set out in the Scheme of Delegation that forms 
part of this Constitution. Where its functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains 
accountable for them to the full Council. 

The Head of Paid Service or the appropriate chief officer or officer nominated by 
the chief officer may represent the Council on partnership and external bodies, in 
accordance with the respective decisions of the Council and the Cabinet. 

The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high 
standards of conduct in partnerships that apply throughout the Council. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the accounting 
arrangements to be adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are 

Page 115



satisfactory. He or she must also consider the overall corporate governance 
arrangements and legal issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. He 
or she must also ensure that the risks have been fully appraised before 
agreements are entered into with external bodies. 

Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained 
before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with external bodies. 

 

 

 

 

 

4f Contract procedure rules 
       (Contract Standing Orders) 

 
 
4f. 1 These Contract Standing Orders establish the legal framework applicable to all 

commissioning and to the purchase of goods & services or construction works by 
the Council. These Procedure Rules should be seen as setting minimum 
requirements and standards. Where better value for the Council might be achieved 
by seeking more tenders or quotations this should be done. The Contract Standing 
Orders should be used in conjunction with the Horsham Procurement Code (found 
at the following link).  

. 
4f. 2 These Contract Standing Orders are made pursuant to the Local Government Act 

1972. Nothing in these Contract Standing Orders shall prejudice the validity of any 
actions taken under any previous iteration. 

 
4f. 3 Subject to paragraph 4f. 5 every contract made by or on behalf of the Council 

including its Cabinet and Cabinet Members shall comply with:- 
 

a) these Contract Standing Orders; 
b) the Horsham Procurement Code; 
c) the Council’s Financial Regulations; 
d) all relevant statutory provisions 
e) European Union treaties and European Council directives; 
f) the rules on State Aid; 
g) any direction by the Council, the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or 

Committee having appropriate allocated or delegated Council by part 
three of this constitution. 

 
4f. 4 These Contract Standing Orders shall not apply or may be varied where : 
 

a) statute or subordinate legislation prescribes otherwise. 
 

Page 116



b) in accordance with the Horsham Procurement Code, the reasons for not 
complying with Contract Standing Orders have been recorded in a Procurement 
Exemption Form and approved in accordance with the sub-clauses  below:- 

 
i. for contracts below £50,000; by the relevant Service Manager, the 

Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

ii. for contracts of £50,000 and above; by the relevant Service 
Manager, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member; 

 
 
Upon approval, a copy of the electronic Exemption Form should be emailed to the 
relevant Head of Service and the Procurement Team who will retain a record of the 
Form. 
 

4f. 5 No exemption or variation to Contract Standing Orders can be made if the EU 
Procedure applies.  

 
4f. 6 The estimated value of a contract for the purposes of these Contract Standing 

Orders shall be as detailed in the Horsham Procurement Code.   
 
4f. 7 The Council’s Project Management Methodology and Sourcing Strategy shall be 

held by the Chief Finance Officer and should be followed for all requirements for 
goods & services estimated to have a total contract value of £50,000 and above 
and for  all works estimated to have a total contract value of £100,000 and above. 

 
   
Authority to enter into contracts 
 
4f. 8 In accordance with the Procurement Code, the Head of Paid Service, Chief 

Officers and deputy chief officers, have authority to accept tenders and enter into 
contracts to a total value of under £100,000.  

 
4f. 9 Individual Cabinet Members can authorise the acceptance of tenders and the 

conclusion of contracts - ‘non-key decisions’ with a value between £100,000 and 
the key decision threshold. The Cabinet can authorise the acceptance of tenders 
and the conclusion of contracts with a value at and above the key decision 
threshold. 

 
4f. 10 The authority to accept tenders and enter into contracts shall be documented as 

appropriate. Key and non-key decisions must be recorded on the report template.  
 

4f. 11 The Council, Cabinet, Cabinet Member, or officer shall not accept tenders or enter 
into contracts for the specialist requirements detailed below without having 
complied with the additional provisions in the Horsham Procurement Code with 
regard to : 
 

• Use of Consultants 
• Information Communication Technology 
• Purchases involving the use of financing and leasing 

 

Page 117



4f. 12 The Service Manager shall ensure a purchase order must be raised for all 
purchases via the Council’s financial management system. 

 
Contracts below £20,000 
 
4f. 13 Where the estimated value or the amount of a proposed contract is below £20,000 

and provision has been made in the Council’s annual budget for such expenditure, 
the Service Manager concerned shall have the authority to enter into any such 
contract provided they are satisfied that the Council is receiving value for money.   

 
4f. 14  The Council shall evaluate such contracts on the basis of the offer which: 
 

i. is the most economically advantageous to the Council based on the 
criteria outlined in the Horsham Procurement Code, or, 

 
ii. offers the lowest price. 

   
Contract value of £20,000 and above and below £50,000 for goods and services or 
below £100,000 for works 
 
4f. 15 For such contracts the relevant Service Manager must seek a minimum of three (3) 

written quotations in accordance with the provisions detailed in the Horsham 
Procurement Code. 

 
4f. 16 The Council shall evaluate contracts on the basis of the offer which: 
 

i. is the most economically advantageous to the Council based on the 
criteria outlined in the Horsham Procurement Code, or, 

 
ii. offers the lowest price. 

 
 
Contracts value of £50,000 and above for goods and services or £100,000 and 
above for works 
 
4f. 17 The Council’s Project Management Methodology should be followed.  
 
4f. 18 The relevant Service Manager must follow a formal tender and contract award 

procedure in accordance with the provisions in the Horsham Procurement Code 
and where applicable the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

 
4f. 19 The Council shall evaluate contracts on the basis of the offer which: 
 

i. is the most economically advantageous to the Council based on the 
criteria outlined in the Horsham Procurement Code, or, 

 
ii. offers the lowest price. 

 
 
Use of framework agreements 
 

Page 118



4f. 20 A Framework Agreement is a contract that has been officially tendered for by 
another local authority, public sector organisation, Purchasing Consortium, or 
central Government.  The contract is awarded to one or more suppliers, and has 
provision for other named public sector bodies to use the contract without having to 
undertake their own tender process so long as these public bodies have been 
clearly identified in such publicity (advertising) that may be pertinent to a particular 
procurement exercise which led to the creation of the Framework Agreement.   

 
4f. 21 The use of Framework Agreements is permitted for any value of contract but 

caution must be taken as the rules governing which bodies can use them, and the 
process for accessing them will vary from one Framework Agreement to another.  

 
 
Contract formalities 
 
4f. 22 All contracts must be concluded before the supply, service or construction work 

begins, except in exceptional circumstances only with the prior written consent of 
the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.   

 
4f. 23  Every contract shall be in a format as approved by the Monitoring Officer and 

defined in the Horsham Procurement Code.  
 
4f. 24 Subject to paragraphs 4f 17 - 19 every contract of £50,000 and above not required 

or intended to be made under seal shall be signed on behalf of the Council by two 
officers of the Council. These persons being the Monitoring Officer or their 
designated Deputy and one of the following: the Head of Paid Service, any Chief 
Officer or other officer authorised by the Head of Paid Service or under the 
Scheme of Delegation to Officers  

 
4f. 25 Every contract which is a lease finance or lease purchase agreement shall be 

signed by both the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer or their 
designated deputy. 

 
4f. 26 Every contract required or intended to be made under seal shall be sealed on 

behalf of the Council by the Head of Paid Service, any Chief Officer, the Monitoring 
Officer or their designated deputies. 

 
4f. 27 Every contract document shall bear its original date and not that ascribed by 

automatic updating means. 
 
  
Contract management 
 
4f. 28 No contract shall commence unless and until the procurement exercise and 

contract documents have been completed in accordance with these Contract 
Standing Orders and the Council’s Financial Regulations. 

 
4f. 29 All contracts shall be managed in accordance with the Council’s contract 

management guidance.  
 
Contracts register 
 

Page 119



4f. 30 Immediately upon completion of every procurement exercise of £5,000 and above, 
the relevant Service Manager shall complete and submit the Contracts Register e-
form with the required details of the contract for publication in the Council’s 
Contracts Register.  
 

 
Community right to challenge 
 
4f. 30 Receipt of an expression of interest in accordance with the Community Right to 

Challenge provisions must be considered by the Chief Finance Officer in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in the Horsham Procurement Code.  

 
4f. 31 Any procurement exercise commencing as a result of a successful expression of 

interest or contract entered into as a  ‘Community Right to Challenge’ shall be 
undertaken or completed in accordance with the provisions detailed in these 
Contract Standing Orders. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4g Access to information procedure rules 
 

Page 120



4g. 1 Scope 

Subject to paragraph 4g. 2 below, these rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the 
Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Sub-Committees, the Standards 
Committee and Regulatory Committees (including the Audit Committee and Governance 
Committee) only (together called meetings). 

Where the Standards Committee is convened to consider or review, as the case may be, 
an allegation that a member has contravened the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members, the provisions set out in the Standards Committee’s Procedure for Local 
Assessment of Complaints shall apply and the meeting and papers will not be open to the 
public 

4g. 2 Additional Rights to Information 

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in 
this Constitution or the law nor do these rules limit or diminish the Council’s duties to 
protect certain information, including personal information. This includes the rights and 
duties from the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Data Protection 
Act 1998. 

4g. 3 Rights to attend meetings 

a) Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions 
in these Rules. 

b) If a member of the public or press interrupts the proceedings at any meeting 
the Chairman may warn him. If he continues the interruption and a warning has 
been given, the Chairman may order his removal from the meeting place. 

c) In the event of a general disturbance in any part of the meeting place open to 
the public, the Chairman may order that part to be cleared. 

d) If the Chairman considers the orderly dispatch of business impossible, he may 
without question adjourn the meeting. 

e) The above powers of the Chairman are in addition to any other power vested 
in him/her. 
 

4g. 4 Notices of meeting 

The Council will give at least five clear days’ notice of any meeting referred to in 4g. 1 
above by posting details of the meeting at its offices and on its website. 

4g. 5 Access to Agenda and Reports before the meeting 

The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Scrutiny Sub-Committees 
shall be notified of the agenda and reports presented to the Cabinet including those 
containing exempt and/or confidential information. 

The Council shall make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 
inspection at its designated office and available on the website (if any) at least five 
clear days before the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda 
will be open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. Where reports 
are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Monitoring Officer shall make 
each such report available to the public as soon as the report is completed and sent to 
Councillors. 

Page 121



4g. 6  Supply of Copies 

The Council will make available to the public on its website the agenda and 
reports for the meetings specified in 1 above (save during any part of the 
meeting to which the public are excluded) the council will supply to any person 
on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs, copies of: 

a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the 

nature of the items in the agenda; and 
c) if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents 

supplied to Councillors in connection with an item 
 

4g. 7 Access to Minutes etc. after the meeting 

The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 

a) the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with reasons, for 
all meetings of the Cabinet and the Full Council, excluding any part of the minutes 
of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or which disclose 
exempt or confidential information; 

b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to 
inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

4g. 8 Background Papers 

 List of background papers 

The Officer preparing a report will set out in such report a list of those documents 
(called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his 
opinion: 

a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part 
of the report is based; and 

b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule), and in respect of executive reports, the advice of a 
political assistant if any. 

4g. 9 Public inspection of background papers 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the 
meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers. 

Page 122



4g.10 Summary of Public’s Rights 

A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 
documents will be kept at and made available to the public at the council offices and on its 
website.  

Exclusion of Access of the Public to Meetings 

4g. 11  Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 

The public must be excluded from meetings or parts of meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that 
confidential information would be disclosed. 

4g. 12 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 

The public may be excluded from meetings or parts of meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that 
exempt information would be disclosed.  Such a decision to exclude the public is to be 
made by resolution of the relevant decision making body. 

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

4g. 13 Meaning of confidential information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government Service 
or Agency on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be 
publicly disclosed by any enactment or Court Order. And, in either case, the reference to 
the obligation of confidence is to be construed accordingly.  

 

 

 

 

 

4g. 14 Meaning of exempt information 

Category Condition 

1. Information relating to any individual. 
 

Reports which relate to: 
• employees, a former employee, job applicants 
• occupiers or former occupiers of council accommodation, 
• applicants or recipients or former recipients of any service provided by 
the council 
• applicants or recipients or former recipients of any financial assistance 
provided by the council 

Page 123



Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any qualification): 

 

4g. 15 Exclusion of access by the public to reports 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to reports 
which in his opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 11, the meeting 
is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” 
together with the category of information likely to be disclosed. If the information is exempt 
information, the category of the exempt information must also be marked on the report. 

The relevant body is requested in the agenda to confirm the action set out by resolution. 
Arrangements will be made to recall the press and public immediately should the motion 
to exclude not be passed. If the matter is considered in public, any related report will also 
become available to the public. 

• protected informants in relation to civil matters. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual. 
 

Reports where personal data could be revealed indirectly. Names, 
addresses or telephone numbers can identify individuals 

3. Unless that information is required to be registered under: 
(a) the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the 
Companies Act 2006)]; 
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d) the Industrial & Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 
1978; 
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 2011, 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Council holding that information). 

Financial or business affairs are defined to include contemplated as well as 
past or current business activities 

• This exemption covers the financial or business affairs of the Council 
itself 

• It covers the financial or business affairs of individuals and companies, 
charities etc. registered in relation to information required to be registered 
under the Building Societies Act 1986, means recorded in the public file of 
any building society (within the meaning of that Act) 

• This covers reports about contracts and negotiations for the 
acquisition/disposal of property or supply of goods or services, the identity 
of the Council or any other person offering any particular tender for a 
contract for the supply of goods or services and the making of grants to 
external organisations 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter arising between the Council or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, 
the Council. 

 

Labour relations means matters which may be the subject of a trade 
dispute under the Trade Union and Labour Relations Act 1992, such as 
pay and terms and conditions of employment. Employee means a person 
employed under a contract of service Office holder in relation to the 
Council, means the holder of any paid office appointments which are or 
may be made or confirmed by the Council or by any joint board on which 
the Council is represented or by any person who holds any such office or 
is an employee of the Council. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

 

This covers legal advice given by a professional legal adviser, i.e Legal 
Services or external solicitors and barristers. It applies where no litigation 
is contemplated or pending (e.g. general advice on non-contentious 
matters), as well as in connection with legal proceedings by or against the 
Council. 

6. Information which reveals that the Council proposes – 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of 
which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

The wording of this exemption covers reports about proposed action under 
regulatory legislation such as planning, licensing and environmental health. 

 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 

 

The wording of this exemption covers reports about criminal investigations 
and prosecutions undertaken by the Council, and any actions which might 
be taken to prevent crime occurring. This would include information about 
a protected informant in relation to any criminal investigations. 

Page 124



4g. 16 Application of Rules to the Cabinet 

Rules 4g.1- 4g.15 apply to the Cabinet and its Committees (if any). If the Cabinet meets to 
take a key decision then it must also comply with Rules 4g.17 – 4g.20 unless Rule 21 
(general exception) or Rule 4g.22 (special urgency) apply. A key decision is as defined in 
Article 11 of this Constitution. 

Procedure before taking Key Decisions 

4g. 17  Notice of Key Decision 

Subject to Rule 4g. 21 (general exception) and Rule 4g. 22 (special urgency), a key 
decision may not be taken unless: 

a) a notice (called here a "Forward Plan Notice of Key Decision") has been 
published in connection with the matter in question; 

b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the "Notice 
of Key Decision"; and 

c) the decision must be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, and notice of the 
meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4g.4 (notice of 
meetings). 

4g. 18 Contents of Forward Plan Notice of Key Decision 

The Forward Plan Notice of Key Decision will state that a key decision is to be taken by 
the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet, officers, or 
under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge of an executive function. It will 
describe the following particulars: 

a) the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 

b) where the decision maker is an individual, his/her name and title, if any 
and where the decision maker is a body, its name and a list of its 
membership; 

c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be made; 

d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for consideration 
in relation to the matter; 

e) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 
disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 

f) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 
decision maker; and 

g) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 
become available.  

Page 125



4g. 19 Publication of the Notice of Key Decision 

The Forward Plan Notice of Key Decision must be made available on request for 
inspection by the public at the offices of the council and on the council’s website.  

4g. 20 The Forward Plan Notice of key decisions 

The Forward Plan Notice of Key Decision and a Notice of Private Meeting of Cabinet 
published by the Council set out not just details of specific key decisions, but also details 
of key decisions over a twelve month period including key decisions to be made by 
Cabinet, and ‘non- key’ individual Cabinet member decisions. In this constitution, such 
notices are together referred to as the “Forward Plan”. The Forward Plan does not have to 
include exempt information and should not include confidential information. 

4g. 21 General Exception 

If a Notice of Key Decision has not been published, then subject to Rule 22 (special 
urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 

a) the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable 
to publish a Notice of Key Decision; 

b) the Chief Executive has informed the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or in his absence the Vice-Chairman, in 
writing, or if there is no such person, each member of that 
committee in writing, by notice, of the matter about which the 
decision is to be made; 

c) the Chief Executive has made copies of that notice available to 
the public at the offices of the council on the council’s website; 
and 

d) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the Proper Officer 
complied with Rule 21 b) 

As soon as reasonably practicable after the Proper Officer has complied with Rule 4g.21, 
he must make available at the council’s offices and publish on the council’s website the 
reasons why compliance with Rule 4g.17 is impractical. 

4g. 22 Special Urgency 

If by virtue of the date by which a key decision must be taken Rule 21 (general exception) 
cannot be followed, then the Key Decision can only be taken if the Proper Officer obtains 
the agreement of the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the taking of 
the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is not available then the agreement of the Chairman of the Council, or in 
his/her absence the Vice Chairman of the Council will suffice. 

As soon as reasonably practicable after the Proper Officer has obtained agreement he 
must make available at the Council’s offices and publish on the Council’s website a notice 
setting out the reasons that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

Page 126



Report to Council 

4g. 23 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee thinks that a key decision has been taken 
which was not: 

a) the subject of a Notice of Key Decision; or 

b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 

c) the subject of an agreement with the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or the Chairman or Vice Chairman of 
the Council under Rule 4g.22; 

it may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within such 
reasonable time as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee specifies.  The report 
must include details of the decision and the reasons for the decision, the 
decision maker, and the reasons, if any, for the Cabinet believing that the 
decision was a key decision.   The power to require a report rests with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but is also delegated to the Monitoring 
Officer, who shall require such a report on behalf of the Committee when so 
requested by the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any 5 
members of the Committee. Alternatively the requirement may be raised by 
resolution passed at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4g. 24   Cabinet’s report to Council 

Following receipt of a requisition under rule 4g. 23, the Cabinet will prepare a report for 
submission to the next available meeting of the Council. However, if the next meeting of 
the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the 
Committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. The report to 
Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual member or body making the 
decision, and Leader of the Council is of the opinion that it was not a key decision the 
reasons for that opinion. 

4g. 24   Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions 

In any event the Leader of the Council will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the 
Cabinet decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 22 (special urgency) in the 
preceding three months. The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a 
summary of the matters in respect of which those decisions were taken 

4g. 25 Record of Decisions 

After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its Committees, whether held in public or in 
private, the Monitoring Officer or, where no Officer was present, the person presiding at 
the meeting, will produce a written record of every decision taken at that meeting within 2 
working days. The record will include: 

a) a record of the decision including the date it was made and the date by which 
any ‘call-in’ provision elapse 

b) a record of the reason for the decision; 
c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the decision-

making body at the meeting at which the decision was made; 

Page 127



d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 
declared by any member of the decision-making body which made the decision; 
and 

e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 

4g. 26 Meetings of the Cabinet to be held in public 

Meetings of the Cabinet and its committees will be held in public, unless it is likely that 
exempt or confidential information would be disclosed or whenever a lawful power is used 
to exclude a member or members of the public in order to maintain orderly conduct or 
prevent misbehaviour at a meeting. The public may only be excluded for the part or parts 
of the meeting during which it is likely that exempt or confidential information would be 
disclosed. 

4g. 27 Notice of Private Meetings of the Cabinet 

Members of the Cabinet or its committees will be entitled to receive five clear working 
days notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the meeting is convened at 
shorter notice as a matter of urgency. 

a) At least 28 clear days before a private meeting, the decision-making body 
must:- 

I. make available at the offices of the Council a notice of its 
intention to hold the meeting in private (a "Notice of Private 
Meeting"); and 

II. publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 

b)  At least five clear days before a private meeting, the decision-making body 
must:- 

I. make available at the offices of the Council a further notice of its 
intention to hold the meeting in private; and 

II. publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 

c) A notice under paragraph 4g. 27 must include:- 

I. a statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private 
II. details of any representations received by the decision-making 

body about why the meeting should be open to the public; and 
III. a statement of its response to any such representations. 

 
d) Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes compliance with 

Rule 4g.27(b) impractical, the meeting may only be held in private where 
the decision-making body has obtained agreement from:- 

I. the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or 
II. if there is no such person, or if the Chairman of the relevant 

overview and scrutiny committee is unable to act, the 
Chairman  of the Council; or 

Page 128



III. where there is no Chairman of either the relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee or of the Council, the Vice Chairman of the 
Council, 
 

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred 

e) As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-making body has 
obtained agreement under paragraph to hold a private meeting, it must 

I. make available at the office of the Council a notice setting out 
the reasons why the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be 
deferred; and 

II. publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 
 

 
 
4g. 28  Recording of Decisions and Delegations 
 

a) Key decisions will be recorded by the Cabinet report and a decision notice 
will be published on the council website in accordance with the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules.  

 
b) Non-key decisions will be recorded on the report template and decision 

notice issued by the Monitoring Officer which will be published on the 
council website in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules. 

 
c) Any decision made by an Officer which would normally be taken by a 

Council body, or a Committee or Sub-committee but it has been delegated 
to an Officer either, 

 
I. Under a specific express delegation, or 

II. Under a general delegation set out in this constitution, a written record must 
be made of all Operational and administrative decisions, 

 
must be recorded on the report template and decision notice issued by the 
Monitoring Officer which will be published on the council website in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 
d) A record must be retained of all operational and administrative decisions 

made by Officers. 
 

e)   Each service area must keep a record of all delegations that apply to that 
service area. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 129



 
 

 

 

 

4g Officer employment procedure rules 
 
 

1. Recruitment and appointment 
 
a) Declarations 
  

The Council shall draw up a statement requiring any candidate for appointment as 
an officer to state in writing whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner, 
child, stepchild, adopted child, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an 
existing councillor or senior officer of the Council; or the partner of such persons. 
No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be appointed without the 
authority of the relevant chief officer or an officer nominated by him.  

 
b)  Seeking support for appointment 
  

(i) Subject to paragraph (iii), the Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or 
indirectly seeks the support of any councillor for any appointment with the Council. 
The content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. (ii) 
Subject to paragraph (iii), no councillor will seek support for any person for any 
appointment with the Council. (iii) Nothing in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above will 
preclude a councillor from giving a written reference for a candidate for submission 
with an application for appointment.  

 
2.  Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 
 
Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not proposed that the 
appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, the Council will:  
 
a)  draw up a statement specifying:  
 

i) the duties of the officer concerned; and  
ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

 
b)  make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring 

it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and  
c)  make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph (1) to be 

sent to any person on request.  
 
3.  Appointment of Head of Paid Service and other statutory officers 
 

Page 130



The full Council will approve the appointment of the Chief Executive and Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief of Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 
following the recommendation of such appointments by the Employment Committee.  
 
4.  Appointment of Directors  
 
a)  The Employment Committee will appoint Directors.  

 
5.  Other appointments 
 
Appointment of officers below Director level is the responsibility of the Head of Paid 
Service or his nominee, and may not be made by councillors.  
 
6.  Disciplinary action 
 
a)  Suspension. The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged 
misconduct. That suspension will be on full pay.  

b)  Dismissal. The Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring 
Officer (a ‘relevant officer’) may not be dismissed by the Council unless the 
procedure set out in Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015, as enabled here, be complied with.  

c)  Dismissal of a relevant officer is a function of Full Council following consideration of 
the advice, views or recommendation of a Panel appointed for the purposes of 
advising the Council on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers of the 
Council.  

d)  The Panel referred to in c) will be formed of the Employment Committee (Article 8) 
and two independent persons appointed under section 28 (7) of the Localism Act 
2011  

e)  The Council must invite to the Panel such relevant Independent Persons in 
accordance with the following priority order 

 
I. a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the Council 

and who is a local government elector in the Horsham District;  
II. any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 

Council in the Horsham District;  
a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 
Council  
 

f)  Should any Panel be required to be formed, the Council must form the Panel at 
least 20 working days before full Council holds its meeting at which full Council 
takes a vote on whether or not to approve dismissal, taking into account, in 
particular:  

 
I. any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel 

II. the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and  
III. any representations from the relevant officer  

 
g) Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the Council to an independent 

person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration 
allowances or fees payable to that independent person in respect of that person’s 
role as independent under the 2011 Act.  

Page 131



 
 
 
7.  Dismissal  
 

Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any officer below Director except 
where such involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged 
misconduct. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part five  
Protocols and codes 

Page 132



 5a. Members’ Code of Conduct 

Introduction and interpretation 

This Code of Members’ Conduct (‘Code’) is made under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 
2011 and was adopted by Horsham District Council on 1 July 2012.  

1(1) This Code applies to you as a member of Horsham District Council. 

1(2) You should read this Code together with the general principles of public life 
referred to in section 28(1) of the Localism Act 2011  and set out in Part 5 of this 
Code. 

1(3) It is your personal responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

1(4) In this Code— 
‘meeting’ means any meeting of— 
(a) the authority; 
(b) the executive of the authority; 
(c) any of the authority’s committees, or its executive’s committees, sub-

committees, joint committees, joint sub-committees or area committees; 
(d) members formal or informal meetings with other members and/or with 

officers relating to the business of the authority. 
‘member’ includes a co-opted member and an appointed member; 
‘register of member’s interests’ means the authority’s register of member’s 
pecuniary and other interests established and maintained by the authority’s 
monitoring officer under section 29 of the Localism Act 2011; 
‘the authority’ or ‘your authority’ means Horsham District Council. 

1(5)  If you need guidance on any aspect of this code you should seek it from your 
authority’s monitoring officer or deputy monitoring officer.  

Scope 

2(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with this Code whenever 
you— 
(a) conduct the business of your authority (which, in this Code, includes the 

business of the office to which you are elected or appointed); or 
(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a 

representative of your authority, 
and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly. 

2(2)  This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than where it is in 
your official capacity. 

2(3) Where you act as a representative of your authority— 

Page 133



(a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other 
authority, comply with that other authority’s code of conduct; or 

(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply 
with your authority’s code of conduct, except and in so far as it conflicts 
with any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be 
subject. 

 
2(4) It is a criminal offence, without reasonable excuse, (a) to fail to notify the authority’s 
monitoring officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest (as defined in paragraph 13(1) of this 
Code, (b) to fail to disclose such an interest at a meeting (where it is not registered or notified), 
(c) to fail to notify the monitoring officer of such an interest that is not on the register that you 
have disclosed at a meeting, (d)  to take part in discussions or votes at meetings with such an 
interest, or (e) to take a decision where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. It is also an 
offence to knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information to the authority’s 
monitoring officer. 
2(5) Any written allegation received by the authority that you have failed to comply with this 
Code will be dealt with by the authority under the arrangements which it has adopted for such 
purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code the authority has the right 
to have regard to this failure in deciding (a) whether to take action and (b) what action to take 
in relation to you.  

General obligations 

3(1) You must treat others with respect. 

3(2) You must not— 
(a) do anything which may cause your authority to breach any of the 

equality enactments (as defined in the Equality Act 2010); 
(b) bully any person; 
(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be— 

(i) a complainant, 
(ii) a witness, or 
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or 
proceedings, 

in relation to an allegation that a member (including yourself) has failed 
to comply with his or her authority’s code of conduct; or 

(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, your authority. 

  

Page 134



 

4 You must not— 
(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to 
be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where— 

(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 
obtaining professional advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or 
(iv) the disclosure is— 

(aa) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
(bb) made in good faith and in compliance with 
the reasonable requirements of the authority*; or 

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law. 

5 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or authority into disrepute. 

 
* means the member should consult the Chief Executive (Head of the Paid Service), Director of 
Corporate Resources (Chief Finance Officer) or the Monitoring Officer before taking a decision on 
whether or not to disclose confidential information. 
 
6 You— 

(a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to 
confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or 
disadvantage; and 

(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of 
your authority— 

(i) act in accordance with your authority’s reasonable 
requirements; 
(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for 
political purposes (including party political purposes); and 

(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity 
made under the Local Government Act 1986. 

7(1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant 
advice provided to you by— 
(a) your authority’s chief finance officer; or 
(b) your authority’s monitoring officer, 

Page 135



where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory duties. 

7(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your 
authority. 

Part 2 

Personal and Prejudicial Interests 

Personal interests 

8(1) You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either— 
(a) it relates to or is likely to affect— 

(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management and to which you are 
appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(ii) any body— 

(aa) exercising functions of a public nature; 
(bb) directed to charitable purposes; or 
 
(cc) one of whose principal purposes includes 
the influence of public opinion or policy (including 
any political party or trade union), 
of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management; 

(iii) the interests of any person from whom you have received a 
gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50; 

 OR 
(b) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as 

affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or 
financial position of a relevant person to a greater extent than the 
majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
electoral division or ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision. 

8(2) In sub-paragraph (1)(b), a relevant person is— 
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close 

association; or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any 

firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are 
directors; 

Page 136



(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in 
a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 

(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii). 

Disclosure of Personal interests 

9(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (7), where you have a personal interest in any 
business of your authority described in paragraph 8 above and you attend a 
meeting of your authority at which the business is considered, you must disclose to 
that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that 
consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent. 

9(2) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority which relates 
to or is likely to affect a person described in paragraph 8(1)(a)(i) or 8(1)(a)(ii)(aa), 
you need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest 
when you address the meeting on that business. 

9(3) Where you have a personal interest in any business of the authority of the type 
mentioned in paragraph 8(1)(a)(iii), you need not disclose the nature or existence 
of that interest to the meeting if the interest was registered more than three years 
before the date of the meeting. 

9(4) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be 
aware of the existence of the personal interest. 

9(5) Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 16, sensitive 
information relating to it is not registered in your authority’s register of members’ 
interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest, but 
need not disclose the sensitive information to the meeting. 

9(6) Subject to paragraph 12(1)(b), where you have a personal interest in any business 
of your authority and you have made an executive decision in relation to that 
business, you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the 
existence and nature of that interest. 

9(7) In this paragraph ‘executive decision’ is to be construed in accordance with any 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under part 1A chapter 2 sections 9C -
9GC  of the Local Government Act 2000 (as inserted by the Localism Act section 
21 and schedule 2). 

Prejudicial interests generally 

10(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a personal interest in any business 
of your authority you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 

Page 137



would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your 
judgement of the public interest. 

10(2) You do not have a prejudicial interest in any business of the authority where that 
business— 
(a) does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a 

person or body described in paragraph 8; 
(b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, 

permission or registration in relation to you or any person or body 
described in paragraph 8; or 

(c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of— 
(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority 
provided that those functions do not relate particularly to your 
tenancy or lease; 
(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling 
expenses, where you are a parent or guardian of a child in 
full time education, or are a parent governor of a school, 
unless it relates particularly to the school which the child 
attends; 
(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security 
Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, where you are in 
receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay; 
(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 
(v) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 
(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

10(3) The determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration as 
referred to in paragraph 10(2)(b) shall include the amendment, modification, or 
variation of any such approval, consent, licence, permission or registration or 
any condition, limitation or term to which it is subject or the revoking of any 
approval, consent, licence, permission or registration. 

Prejudicial interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committees 

11 You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview and 
scrutiny committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) 
where— 
(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) 

or action taken by your authority’s executive or another of your 

Page 138



authority’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-
committees; and 

(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a 
member of the executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or 
joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph (a) and you were present 
when that decision was made or action was taken. 

Effect of prejudicial interests on participation 
12(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a prejudicial interest in any business 

of your authority— 
(a) you must withdraw from the room or chamber where a meeting 

considering the business is being held— 
(i) in a case where sub-paragraph (2) applies, immediately 
after making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence; 
(ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that 
the business is being considered at that meeting; 

unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority’s 
standards committee; 

(b) you must not exercise executive functions in relation to that business; 
and 

(c) you must not seek improperly to influence a decision about that 
business. 

12(2) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority, which is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest as described in paragraph 13 of this Code and 
defined in section 30 of the Localism Act 2011, you may attend a meeting 
(including a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee of your authority or of 
a sub-committee of such a committee) but only for the purpose of making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, 
provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the same 
purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise. 

        Part 3 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

13(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any business of your authority (as defined by section 30 of the Localism Act 2011) 
in relation to you or your partner where it relates to or is likely to affect any of the 

Page 139



matters within the descriptions set out in The  Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 SI 2012/1464. 

13(2) In sub-paragraph (1) your partner means: 

 (a) your spouse or civil partner; 

(b) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife; or 

(c) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners. 

13(3) In sub-paragraph (2) any interest which your partner may have is only treated as 
your interest if you are aware that your partner has the interest. 

13(4) A list of the descriptions of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests referred to in The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 SI 
2012/1464 is set out in Part 6 of this Code.  

13(5) There are criminal offences in relation to action you may take or fail to take 
concerning Disclosable Pecuniary Interests which are outlined in paragraph 2(4) of 
this Code and more particularly defined in section 34 of the Localism Act 2011. 

Disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

14(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any business of your authority and you attend a meeting of your authority at which 
the business is considered you must disclose to that meeting the existence and 
nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration or when the 
interest becomes apparent. 

14(2) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your authority 
you need only disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of the interest if the 
interest is not already registered on your register of member’s interests. 

14(3) If the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is not already on your register of member’s 
interests or the subject of a pending notification to the monitoring officer and is 
disclosed to the meeting you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 
28 days of disclosure to the meeting. 

Effect of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests on participation 

15(1) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of your authority: 

(a)  you must not participate or participate further in any discussions of the matter 
at a meeting; or 

(b) participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting; and 

(c) must withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the 
matter is being held; 

Page 140



unless you have received a dispensation from the monitoring officer or the 
standards committee. 

15(2) You may participate in any business of your authority that relates to the functions of 
your authority in respect of: 

(a) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those 
functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

(b) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education or are a parent governor 
of a school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child 
attends; 

(c) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and 
Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt 
of, such pay; 

(d) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members; 

(e) any ceremonial honour given to members; and 

(f) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

Part 4 

Registration of Members’ Interests 

Registration of members’ interests 

16(1) Subject to paragraph 17, you must, within 28 days of— 
(a) this Code being adopted by or applied to your authority; or 
(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later), 
register in your authority’s register of members’ interests (maintained under section 
29 of the Localism Act 2011) details of (i) your personal interests where they fall 
within a category mentioned in paragraph 8(1)(a) and (ii) your Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests where they fall within a category in paragraph 13, by providing 
written notification to your authority’s monitoring officer. 

16(2) Subject to paragraph 17, you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new 
personal interest or Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or change to any personal 
interest or Disclosable Pecuniary Interest registered under paragraph (1), register 
details of that new personal interest or Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or change by 
providing written notification to your authority’s monitoring officer. 

Page 141



16(3) You must within 28 days (beginning with the date of the disclosure at the meeting) 
provide written notification to your authority’s monitoring officer of any Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests disclosed at a meeting which is not already on the register or 
subject to a pending notification. 

16(4) Any interests notified to the authority’s monitoring officer will be included on the 
register of member’s interests. 

16(5) A copy of the register of member’s interests will be available for public inspection 
and will be published on the authority’s website. 

Sensitive information 

17(1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your  interests is 
sensitive information, and your authority’s monitoring officer agrees, you need not 
include that information when registering that interest, or, as the case may be, a 
change to that interest under paragraph 16. 

17(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances 
which means that information excluded under paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive 
information, notify your authority’s monitoring officer asking that the information be 
included in your authority’s register of members’ interests. 

17(3) In this Code, ‘sensitive information’ means information whose availability for 
inspection by the public could lead to you or a person connected with you being 
subject to violence or intimidation.  

17(4) The published register may state you have a personal or disclosable pecuniary 
interest details of which have been withheld under section 32(2) of the Localism 
Act 2011. 

     
 
Code of conduct dispensations 
 
1. Applicability 
 
The following arrangements for seeking dispensations from prohibitions on participation apply 
from the 1 July 2012. The statutory basis for the rules is to be found in the Localism Act 2011 
sections 33 and 31(1) and (4).  
 
The authority may on a written request made to the proper officer by a member or co-opted 
member of the authority grant a dispensation (a) relieving the member or co-opted member 
from either or both of the restrictions in section 31(4) of the Localism Act in cases described in 
the dispensation and/or (b) relieving the member or co-opted member from the restrictions in 
Paragraph 12 of the Code of Member’s Conduct in cases described in the dispensation. 
  

Page 142



 
2. Existing dispensations 
 
All dispensations granted before 1 July 2012 have ceased to apply. 
 
3. New rules 
 
The old rules for seeking dispensation under the Local Government Act 2000 are now 
replaced. In future, dispensations may only be granted by the Council’s Monitoring Officer or 
Standards Committee acting on a written request from a member. 
 
4. Legal criteria 
 

4.1 If a member or co-opted member of the authority (a) is present at a meeting of 
the authority, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee of the 
authority (b) has a disclosable pecuniary interest and/or a prejudicial interest in 
any matter to be considered, or being considered at the meeting, and (c) is aware 
that the condition in paragraph (b) is met the member or co-opted member may 
not participate in the matter. 

4.2 These rules apply: 
4.2.1  to either or both of the prohibitions from participation set out in the 

Localism Act 2011 section 31(4) concerning the matter in which a 
member or co-opted member has a disclosable pecuniary interest; and 

4.2.2 to prohibitions from participation concerning a matter in which a 
member or co-opted member has a prejudicial interest. 

Section 31(4) of the Localism Act 2011 provides in relation to disclosable 
pecuniary interests: 

“(4) The member or co-opted member may not - 
(a) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter 

at the meeting, or 
(b) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the 

meeting 
but this is subject to section 33” 

 
 
Paragraph 12 (1) of the Code of Member’s Conduct provides in relation to 
prejudicial interests: 

“(1) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your 
authority: 

(a) you must withdraw from the room or chamber where a meeting 
considering the business is being held (i) in a case where sub-paragraph 
(2) applies, immediately after making representations, answering questions 
or giving evidence; (ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent 
that the business is being considered at that meeting; unless you have 
obtained a dispensation from your authority.” 

4.3 A dispensation can only be granted if after having had regard to all relevant 
circumstances the authority: 

4.3.1 considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by 
section 31(4) from participation in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of 
the business, or 

4.3.2 considers that without the representation of different political groups on the body 
transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely 
outcome of any vote relating to the business, or 

Page 143



4.3.3 considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 
authority’s area, or 

4.3.4 if it is an authority to which Part IA of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and 
is operating executive arrangements considers that without the dispensation 
each member the authority’s executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from 
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the authority’s 
executive, or 

4.3.5 considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 
 
 
5. Development control 
 
The political balance requirements have been disapplied to Development Control Committees 
and accordingly the criterion in paragraph 4.3.2 for dispensation does not apply to the 
consideration of development control matters. 
 
6. Maximum period 
 
A dispensation will specify the period for which it has effect and the period specified may not 
last for more than four years from the date of the giving of the dispensation. 
 
7. When dispensation should never be given 
 
A dispensation should never be given where: 
 
7.1 A member is prohibited from voting on a matter at a meeting of an overview and 

scrutiny committee of the authority relating to a decision made by any body of which 
that person was a member at the time the decision was taken; OR  

 
7.2 A member of the authority’s executive is prohibited from exercising functions which are 

the responsibility of the executive and which would otherwise be discharged solely by 
that member. 

8. How to apply for a dispensation 
 
If a member wishes to seek dispensation to enable him or her to participate in the 
consideration of a matter from which he or she would be excluded by the provisions of section 
31(4) of the Localism Act 2011 or the Code, he or she should write to or e-mail the Monitoring 
Officer a request for a dispensation explaining why it is desirable for a dispensation to be 
granted.  At least fourteen working days’ notice must be given before the dispensation is 
required to enable (a) consideration of the matter by the Monitoring Officer together with all 
necessary consultations to be undertaken or (b) at the absolute discretion of the Monitoring 
Officer the convening of a meeting of the Standards Committee or sub-committee set up by 
the Standards Committee to consider the matter. 
 
9. Records 
 
The Standards Committee will record the existence, duration and nature of any dispensation 
and the record is to be kept with the Register of Members’ Interests. 
 

 

 

 

Page 144



 

 
5b Code of conduct for council employees 

 
 

5b. 1 The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of 
conduct from all employees who work for the Council. This Code 
is produced in the light of the challenges that officers face in the 
new and more commercially oriented environment, including the 
use of various approaches to service delivery (commissioning). 
The Code applies to all Horsham District Council employees, 
temporary staff, consultants, contractors and partner 
representatives and anyone working on behalf of the Council (or 
individual service areas) in either a paid or voluntary basis. 

 
5b. 2 Officers are expected to give the highest possible standard of 

service to the public, and to provide appropriate advice to 
councillors and fellow employees with impartiality. Officers will be 
expected, through agreed procedures and without fear of 
recrimination, to bring to the attention of the appropriate level of 
management any deficiency in the provision of service. Officers 
must report to the appropriate manager any impropriety or 
breach of procedure. O f f c e r s  should refer to the Confidential 
Reporting Code (Whistle-Blowing Policy) for information about 
reporting breaches of policy & procedure. 

 
 5b. 3 The Committee on Standards in Public Life promote The Seven 

Principles of Public Life. The principles of public life apply to 
anyone who works as a public office-holder. This includes all those 
who are elected or appointed to public office, nationally and 
locally, and all people appointed to work in the civil service, 
local government, the police, courts and probation services, 
NDPBs, and in the health, education, social and care services. All 
public office-holders are both servants of the public and stewards 
of public resources. The principles also have application to all 
those in other sectors delivering public services. 

 
Disclosure of information / confidentiality  
 

5b. 4  It is generally accepted that open government is best. The law 
requires that certain types of information must be available to 
members, auditors, government departments, service users and 
the public. The Council itself may decide to open other  types of 
information. Officers must be aware of which information within the 
Council is open and which is not, and act accordingly. 

 
5b. 5  Of f i ce rs  will, from time to time, be dealing with confidential 

matters. It is usually evident whether information is confidential 
or not. T h e y  should not use any information obtained in the 
course of their employment for personal gain or benefit, nor 
should pass it on to others unless required to do so by law or as 
directed by the appropriate manager. Any particular information 

Page 145



received by an officer from a councillor which is personal to that 
councillor and does not belong to the Council should not be 
divulged by them without the prior approval of that councillor, 
except where such disclosure is required or sanctioned by the 
law. 

   
5b. 6  Staffing, employment and organisational change issues relate to 

the internal operation and management of the council. These are 
confidential and there are existing policies and procedures to 
ensure that staff and their Trade Union representatives are 
consulted and engaged in dialogue on employment and 
organisational change issues. Speaking in public is not part of the 
procedure – this includes public meetings of the Council or its 
committees.

Page 146



   5b. 7 Similarly, discussion of employment matters outside the Council, for 
example press, social media, etc, is not part of the agreed procedure 
and policies. 

 
   5b. 8 A Media Protocol identifies which officers will speak directly to the 

press. 
 

 Political neutrality 
 
 5b. 9   Officers serve the Council as a whole. It follows that they must serve 

all councillors and not just those of any particular political group and 
must ensure that the individual rights of all councillors are respected. 
Officers must follow every lawful expressed policy of the Council 
and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere 
with their work. 

 
 Relationships 
 
 Councillors 
 
 5b. 10  Officers are responsible to the Council directly through their line 

manager. For some, their role is to give advice to councillors and 
senior managers and all are there to carry out the Council’s work. 
Mutual respect between officers and councillors is essential to good 
local government. Close personal familiarity between officers and 
individual councillors can damage the relationship and prove 
embarrassing to other employees and councillors and should 
therefore be avoided.  

 
 The Local Community and Service Users 
 
 5b. 11  Officers should always remember their responsibilities to the 

community  they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and 
impartial service delivery to all groups and individuals within that 
community as defined by the policies of the Council. 

 
 Contractors 
 

 5b. 12 All relationships of a business or private nature with external 
contractors, or potential contractors, should be made known to the 
appropriate manager. Orders and  contracts  must  be awarded  in 
accordance with  the Council’s Constitution, Contract Standing 
Orders, and Procurement Code on merit, by fair and genuine 
competition against other tenders, and no special favour should be 
shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or 
relatives in the tendering process. No part of the local community shall 
be discriminated against. 

 
 5b. 13  If of f icers engage or supervise contractors or have any other 

 

Page 147



official relationship with contractors and have previously had or 
currently have a relationship in a private or domestic capacity with 
contractors, they shall declare that relationship to the appropriate 
manager. 

 
 Inter Staff Relationships 
 

 5b. 14 Officers should be mindful of how personal relationships with 
colleagues might be perceived by fellow workers, members and third 
parties. Any potential conflicts of interest should be reported to the 
appropriate manager and o f f i c e r s  s h o u l d  take the necessary 
steps to ensure that the personal relationship does not affect their 
duties and responsibilities. 

 
 Appointment and other employment matters 
 
 5b. 15  If officers are involved in appointments they should ensure that these 

are made on the basis of merit. It would be unlawful for an officer to 
make an appointment which was based on anything other than the 
ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post. In order 
to avoid any possible accusation of bias, officers should not be 
involved in an appointment where they are related to an applicant, or 
have a close personal or business relationship outside work with him 
or her. 

 
 5b. 16  Similarly, of f icers  should not be involved in decisions relating to 

discipline, promotion or pay  adjustments for any other employee who 
is a relative, partner, or very close friend. 

 
 Outside commitments / other employment 
 
 5b. 17  Officers have conditions of service which require them to obtain 

written consent to undertake any outside employment. They should 
be clear about their contractual obligations and shall not take 
outside employment which conflicts with the Council’s interests. 

 
5b. 18  Any consent would normally take into account the additional time 

demands on their role with the Council and the potential for disruption 
or negative impact on their employment with the Council. 

 
 5b. 19  Officers should follow the Council’s rules on the ownership of 

intellectual property or copyright created during their employment. 
 
 Personal interests 
 
 5b. 20  Off icers must declare to the appropriate manager, any nonfinancial 

interests that could conflict with the Council’s interests (see 
paragraphs. x and x). 

 
 5b. 21  Officers must declare to the appropriate manager any financial 

 

Page 148



interests which could conflict with the Council’s interests (see 
paragraphs. x and x). 

 
 5b. 22  Officers must declare to the appropriate manager any personal 

interests that could conflict with the Council’s interests, (e.g., 
involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the 
Council, membership of another public body, involvement with an 
organisation or pressure group which may seek to influence the 
Council’s policies, and membership of any organisation not open to 
the public without formal membership and commitment of allegiance 
and which has secrecy about rules or membership or conduct) 
(see paragraphs. x and x). 

 
 Equality issues 
 
 5b. 23  Of f i ce rs  should ensure that policies relating to equality issues as 

agreed by the Cabinet are complied with in addition to the 
requirements of the law. All members of the local community, 
customers and other employees have a right to be treated with 
fairness. 

 
 Separation of roles during tendering (procurement code) 
 
 5b. 24  If Off icers are involved in the tendering process and dealing with 

contractors they should be clear on the separation of client and 
contractor roles within the Council, where this applies. Senior 
employees who have both a client and contractor responsibility 
must be aware of the need for accountability and openness. 

 
 5b. 25   If of f icers are in contractor or client units they must exercise 

fairness and impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, 
other contractors and subcontractors.  

 
 5b. 26   If officers are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for 

either internal bidders or external contractors they should not 
disclose that information to any unauthorised party or organisation. 

 
 5b. 27   If officers are contemplating a management buy out  (or other 

internal transfer service arrangements) they should, as soon as 
t h e y  have formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate 
manager and withdraw from the contract awarding processes. 

 
 5b. 28  Officers should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or 

recent former employees or their partners, close relatives or 
associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or 
employing them in a senior or relevant managerial capacity. 

 
  
 

 

Page 149



 Corruption 
 
  5b. 29  Officers must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence for them  

corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for 
doing or not  doing anything or showing favour or disfavour to any 
person in their official capacity. If an allegation is made it is for them to 
demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly obtained. 

  
 Use of financial resources 

 
 5b. 30  Off icers must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them 

in a responsible and lawful manner. They should strive to ensure 
value for money to the local community and to avoid legal challenge 
to the Council. 

 
  Hospitality and gifts 
 
 5b. 31  Officers should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine 

need to impart information or represent the Council in the 
community. Offers to attend purely social or sporting functions 
should be accepted only when these are part of the life of the 
community or where the Council should be seen to be represented. 
It should be properly authorised by the appropriate manager and 
recorded in the registers provided (see paragraphs. X and X) 

 
 5b. 32  Acceptance of moderate hospitality (e.g. a working lunch of a 

modest standard) is likely to be acceptable, but it is important to 
avoid any suggestion of improper influence. Any off icer unclear 
about this should contact the appropriate manager. When 
hospitality has to be declined the officer should courteously but 
firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating within 
the Council. 

 
 5b. 33  It is possible that in the course of their duties off icers might be 

offered gifts. The acceptance of such gifts by Council employees can 
easily lead to accusations of corruption. The general rule is that 
officers should refuse tactfully all offers of gifts from anyone who 
might provide work, goods or services to the Council or need some 
decision from the Council. The only exceptions are small gifts of a 
promotional nature given to a wide range of people, such as 
calendars, pens, diaries and minor articles of a similar nature for 
office use. 

 
 5b. 34  When receiving authorised hospitality officers should be particularly 

sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions which the Council 
may be taking affecting those providing the hospitality. 

 
 5b. 35  Acceptance by off icers of hospitality through attendance at 

relevant conferences and courses is acceptable where it is clear the 

 

Page 150



hospitality is corporate rather than personal, where the Council 
gives consent in advance and where it is satisfied that any 
purchasing decisions are not compromised. Where visits to inspect 
equipment etc. are required, They should ensure that the Council 
meets the cost of such visits to avoid jeopardising the integrity of 
subsequent purchasing decisions. 

 
 
  Sponsorship giving and receiving 

 
 

5b. 36  Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor or is seeking to 
sponsor a Council activity, whether by invitation, tender, 
negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning 
acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken 
when dealing with contractors or potential contractors. 

 
5b. 37  Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither 

officers  nor any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such 
sponsorship in a direct way without there being full disclosure to 
the appropriate manager of any such interest. Similarly, where the 
Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, 
gives support in the community, officers should ensure that 
impartial advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest 
involved. 

 

 Failure to comply with the code 
 
 

5b. 38  Breaches of any part of this Code of Conduct will be a 
disciplinary matter. 

 
5b. 39  Some breaches of the Code, e.g. paragraphs x and x, could lead 

to a finding of maladministration against the Council. 
 

5b. 40  Certain breaches, e.g. paragraphs x and x, could lead to criminal 
proceedings being brought against  an officer. 

 
Appropriate Manager 

 
 
 5b.41 In this Code where “appropriate manager” is referred to this shall 

mean the Line Manager, except where the officer concerned is a Line 
Manager, in which case it shall be their Director, and where the 
officer concerned is a Director, it shall be the Chief Executive. 

 
  Notes for general guidance   

 
5b. 42  Please refer to the Council’s Confidential Reporting Code which 

 

Page 151



can be found at the following link. 
 

Register of personal interests, hospitality and gifts and financial interests 
 

      5b. 43  The Council will hold a register for the proper recording of personal 
interests and of gifts and hospitality received as referred to 
throughout this document. These registers will be confidential but 
can be inspected, from time to time, by the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Internal Auditor.  

 
      5b. 44  Officers are required to declare a pecuniary interest in any contract 

and the Chief Executive will keep a record with particulars of any 
notice given by an officer of the Council under the Local Government 
Act 1972 Section 117 of a pecuniary (financial) interest in a contract 
and the record will be open during office hours for inspection by any 
member of the Council. 

 
   
  Planning applications 

 
 5b. 45 If a n  o f f i c e r  or anyone to whom t h e y  are related, has an 

interest in any planning application submitted to the Council t h e y  
are required to disclose the fact in writing to the Head of Paid 
Service, with a copy to the Proper Officer, and to take no part in the 
consideration of any such application or in any connected processes. 

 

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



5c Planning protocol 
 
This Protocol takes into account the updated ‘Seven Principles of Public Life’ (the ‘Nolan 
Principles’). These are selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty 
and leadership. It also takes into account  the changes introduced by  the Localism Act 2011 
regarding codes of conduct & predetermination and the guide on ‘Openness and 
transparency on personal interests’ published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government in 2013. 
 
 
Introduction 
 

The purpose of the planning system is to regulate the development and use of land in the 
public interest. This Protocol explains the correct conduct and procedures to be followed 
by members to ensure that in the planning process there are no grounds for suggesting 
that a decision has been biased, partial or not well founded in any way. When dealing with 
planning matters, the role of a member is to make planning decisions openly, 
impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons. Members are 
democratically accountable decision-takers who have been elected to provide and pursue 
policies. As such, they are entitled to be predisposed to make planning decisions in 
accordance with t h e i r  political views and policies provided that t h e y  have considered 
all material considerations and have given fair consideration to relevant points raised. 

 

When this Protocol applies 
It applies to members at all times when they are involved in the planning process. This 
includes when taking part in the decision making meetings of the Council, in exercising 
any Planning function of the Council or when involved on less formal occasions, such as 
meetings with officers or the public and consultative meetings. It equally applies to planning 
enforcement matters or site specific policy issues as it does to planning applications. 
 
If members have any doubts about the application of this Protocol to their own 
circumstances, they should seek advice early from the Monitoring Officer or one of his 
staff and preferably well before any meeting takes place. 
 
 
1. Relationship to the Members’ Code of Conduct 

  
Members should always first comply with the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct .This 
includes rules on interest and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs), other interests 
identified by the Council and the general rules giving effect to the seven (Nolan) principles 
of public life.  
 
This Members’ Planning Protocol seeks to explain and supplement the Members’ Code of 
Conduct and the law on decision making for the purposes of planning control. Members not 
abiding by this Members’ Planning Protocol may put the Council at risk of proceedings on the 
legality of the related decision or maladministration and themselves at risk of being named in 
 

Page 153



a report made to the Council. If the failure is also likely to be a breach of the interest 
provisions of Localism Act 2011, a complaint could also be made to the police to consider 
criminal proceedings. 
 
 
2. Development Proposals and Personal Interests.  

 
A member should:  

 a) Disclose the existence and nature of any interest as required by the 
Council’s Member’s Code of Conduct. 

 
 b) Take into account when approaching a decision that the Principle of 

Integrity is defined in terms that: “Holders of public office must avoid 
placing themselves under any obligation to people or organisations that 
might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not 
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships”. 

  
It is therefore advisable that members not seek or accept any preferential 
treatment, or place themselves in a position that could lead the public to 
think they are receiving preferential treatment, because of their position as a 
councillor. This would include, where they have a disclosable or other 
personal conflict of interest in a proposal, using their position to discuss that 
proposal with officers or m embers when other members of the public 
would not have the same opportunity to do so. 

  Members are not prevented from seeking to explain and justify a proposal 
in which they may have a conflict of interest to an appropriate officer, in 
person or in writing, but that their role as a councillor may place additional 
limitations on them in representing the proposal in which they have a 
personal interest.  

        

c) Notify the Monitoring Officer where it is clear to them that they have 
disclosable pecuniary interest or other personal conflict of interest and note 
that: 

I. where they can,  they should send the notification no later than 
submission of that application. 

II. the proposal will always be reported to the Committee as a main item 
and not dealt with by officers under delegated powers. 

III. they must not get involved in the processing of the application.  
 
 
3. Using Discretion in the Planning Process (natural justice, predisposition and 

predetermination). 
 
Members should:  

 

Page 154



a) Not approach the decision with a closed mind.  
b) Be aware that in the ir  role as elected counci l lors they are entitled, 

and are often expected, to have expressed views on planning issues and 
that these comments have an added measure of protection under the 
Localism Act 2011.  

 c) Keep at the front of their mind that, when they come to make the decision, 
they:  

I. are entitled to have and to have expressed their own views on the matter, 
provided they are prepared to reconsider the i r  position in the light of 
all the evidence and arguments;  

II. must keep an open mind and hear all of the evidence as well as the 
arguments from all sides; 

 
III. are not required to cast aside views on planning policy they held 

when seeking election or otherwise acting as a m ember, in giving fair 
consideration to points raised;  

IV. are only entitled to take account a material consideration and must 
disregard considerations irrelevant to the question and legal context at 
hand; and  

V. are to come to a decision after giving what they feel is the right 
weight to those material considerations.  

 d) Be aware that they can be biased where the Council is the landowner, 
developer or applicant if they have acted as, or could be perceived as being, 
a chief advocate for the proposal. ( This is more than a matter of 
membership of both the proposing and planning determination 
committees, but that through their significant personal involvement in 
preparing or advocating the proposal they will be, or perceived by the 
public as being, no longer able to act impartially or to determine the proposal 
purely on its planning merits). 

 
 e) Consider themselves able to take part in the debate on a proposal when 

acting as part of a consultee body (where they are also a member of the 
parish council, for example, or both a district and county councillor), provided: 

I. the proposal does not substantially effect the well-being or financial standing 
of the consultee body; 

II. they make it clear to the consultee body that: 
III. their views are expressed on the limited information before them only; 

IV. they must reserve judgement and the independence to make up their own 
mind on each separate proposal, based on their overriding duty to the whole 
community and not just to the people in that area, ward or parish, as and 
when it comes before the Committee and they hear all of the relevant 
information; and 

V. they will not in any way commit themselves as to how they or others may vote 
when the proposal comes before the Committee. 

 

Page 155



 
 f) Explain that they do not intend to speak and vote as a member of the 

Committee because they will be perceived as having judged (or they reserve 
the right to judge) the matter elsewhere, so that this may be recorded in 
the minutes.  

 
 g)  Take the opportunity to exercise their separate speaking rights as a 

Ward/Local Member (where this is granted by the Council’s standing 
orders or by the consent from the Chairman and Committee) where they 
have represented their views or those of local electors and a p p l i e d  
their discretion, but do not have a disclosable or other personal conflict of 
interest. Where they do they should: 

I. advise the proper officer or Chairman that they wish to speak in this 
capacity before commencement of the item; 

II. remove themselves from the seating area for members of the 
Committee for the duration of that item; and 

III. ensure that their actions are recorded. 
 
 
 
4. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors.  

 
Members should:  
a) Refer those who approach them for planning, procedural or technical 

advice to officers.  
b) Not agree to any meeting with applicants, developers or groups of objectors 

where they can avoid it. Where they feel that a formal meeting would be 
useful in clarifying the issues, they should seek to arrange that meeting 
through a request to the Proper Officer to organise it. The officer(s) will 
then ensure that those present at the meeting are advised from the start 
that the discussions will not bind the Council to any particular course of 
action, that the meeting is properly recorded on the application file and the 
record of the meeting is disclosed when the application is considered by the 
Committee. 

 c)  Otherwise follow the Council’s rules on lobbying and consider whether or not 
it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes when contacted 
and; 

 d)  Report to the Proper Officer any significant contact with the applicant and 
other parties, explaining the nature and purpose of the contacts and their 
involvement in them, and ensure that this is recorded on the planning file. 

    
7 .   U nless they have a disclosable or overriding other personal conflict of interest, 

they will not have correctly used their discretion or may have breached this 
Planning protocol by:  

 
a) listening or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested parties; 

 

Page 156



b)  making comments to residents, interested parties, other members or 
appropriate officers (making clear that they must keep an open mind when it 
comes to making the decision); 
c) seeking information through appropriate channels; or 
d)  being  a  vehicle  for  the  expression  of  opinion  of  others  in  their  role  as  
a ward member. 

 
8. Lobbying by Councillors.   

 
Members should:  
a) Not become a member of or lead/represent an organisation whose primary 

purpose is to lobby to promote or oppose planning proposals unless it is 
their intention to openly campaign on the matter and will therefore step away 
from the Committee when it comes to make its decision.  

b) Feel able to join general interest groups which reflect their areas of interest 
and which concentrate on issues beyond particular planning proposals 
(such as the CPRE, Ramblers Association or a local civic society), but they 
should normally seek to disclose that interest on the grounds of 
transparency where the organisation has made representations on a 
particular proposal.  

c) Not excessively lobby fellow councillors regarding their concerns or views 
nor attempt to persuade them that they should decide how to vote in 
advance of the meeting at which any planning decision is to be taken  

d) Not decide or discuss how to vote on any application at any political group 
meeting, or lobby any other m ember to do so. Political Group Meetings 
should never dictate how members should vote on a planning issue. 

 
 
9. Site Visits/Inspections.  

 
Members should:  

a) Try to attend site visits organised by the Council where possible.  
b) Not request a site visit unless they feel it is strictly necessary because: 

I. particular site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to them 
relative to other factors or there is difficulty in  assessing them  in the 
absence of a site inspection 

II. there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site factors 
need to be carefully addressed.  

c)  Ensure that they report back to the Committee any information gained from the site 
visit that they feel would benefit all members of the Committee  

d)  Ensure that they treat the site visit only as an opportunity to seek information and to 
observe the site.  

e)  Ask officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from them on matters 
which are relevant to the site inspection.  

 

Page 157



f)   Not hear representations from any other party at the site visit, with the 
exception of the ward members’ comments which must focus only on site factors 
and site issues. Where members are approached by the applicant or a third party, 
advise them that they should make representations to the council and direct 
them to or inform the officer present.  

g)  Not express opinions or views on the application at the site visit. 
 

h)  Not enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an official site 
visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the impression of bias 
unless: 

I. they feel it is essential for them to visit the site other than through 
attending the official site visit, 

II. they have first spoken to an appropriate Planning Development Officer 
about their intention to do so and why (which will be recorded on the file) 
and 

III. they can ensure they will comply with these good practice rules on site 
visits.  

 
10. Public Speaking at Meetings.  

 
Members should:  
a) Not allow members of the public to communicate with them during the 

Committee’s proceedings (orally or in writing) other than through the scheme 
for public speaking or through the Chair, as this may give the appearance of 
bias.  

 b) Ensure that they comply with the Council’s procedures in respect of public 
speaking. 

 
 
11. Dealing with Officers.  

 
Members should:  
a) Not put pressure on officers to put forward a particular recommendation. 

This does not however prevent them from asking questions or submitting 
their views to the appropriate officer which may be incorporated into any 
committee report.  

b) Recognise that officers are part of a management structure a n d  s o  
outside of any arranged meeting only discuss an application with a Head 
of Service or those officers who are authorised to deal with the proposal at 
a m ember level.  

c) Recognise and respect that officers involved in the processing and 
determination of planning matters must act in accordance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Officers and their professional codes of 
conduct, primarily the Royal Town Planning Institute’s Code of Professional 
Conduct. As a result, planning officers’ views, opinions and 
recommendations will be presented on the basis of their overriding 

 

Page 158



obligation of professional independence, which may on occasion be at odds 
with the views, opinions or decisions of the Committee or its members. 

 
12. Decision Making.  

 
Members should:  
a) Ensure that, if they request a proposal to go before the Committee rather 

than be determined through officer delegation, that their planning reasons 
are recorded and repeated in the report to the Committee.  

b) Come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that they are open-
minded.  

c) Comply with section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and make decisions in accordance with the Local Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

d) Come to their decision only after due consideration of all of the information 
reasonably necessary upon which to base a decision. If they feel there is 
insufficient time to digest new information or that there is simply 
insufficient information before them, request that further information. If 
necessary, defer or refuse the application.  

e) Not vote o n  an application unless they have read and understood the 
relevant committee report and been present to hear the debate on it. 

 
f) Have noted the reasons for Committee’s decision to defer any 

applicat ion and that this is in accordance with the Council’s protocol on 
deferrals. 

 
 g) Make sure that if they are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision 

contrary to officer recommendations or to the Local Development Plan 
that they clearly identify and understand the material planning 
considerations leading to this conclusion/decision. These reasons must be 
given prior to the vote and be recorded. Be aware that i n  t hese  
c i r cum stances  t he  m em ber  may have to justify the resulting decision 
by giving evidence in the event of any challenge. 

 
13. Training.  

 
Members should:  
a) Not participate in decision making at meetings dealing with planning 

matters if they have not attended any mandatory planning training prescribed 
by the Council.  

b) Endeavour to attend any other specialised training sessions provided, since 
these will be designed to extend their knowledge of planning law, 
regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans 
beyond the minimum referred to above and thus assist them in carrying out 
their role properly and effectively.  

 

Page 159



c) Participate in any annual review of a sample of planning decisions. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



 6. Scheme of Members’ Allowances 
 

 

1. Horsham District Council ("the Council"), in exercise of the powers 
conferred by Section 100 of the Local Government Act 2000 and The 
Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (as 
amended), hereby makes the following scheme: 
Citation and commencement 

 
2. This Scheme may be cited as the Horsham District Council Members' 

Allowances Scheme, and shall have effect from 11 May 2015 and for 
subsequent years as amended by the insertion of substituted appendices 
in accordance with paragraph 12. 

  Definitions 
 
3.   In this scheme, "Co-optee" means a non-Councillor Member of the 

Council's Standards Committee; "Councillor" means a member of the 
Council who is an elected Councillor; "Member" means a Councillor or a Co-
optee; “Regulations” means The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as may be amended) and “regulation” shall be 
construed accordingly; "year" means the 12 months ending with 31st March. 

 
4.   Basic Allowance 
   Subject to the provisions of this Scheme, for each year a basic allowance as 

set out in Appendix 1 to this scheme shall be paid to each Councillor. 
 
5. Special Responsibility Allowances 

a) For each year a special responsibility allowance s hall be paid to 
those Members who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the 
Council that are specified in Appendix 1.  

b) Where the members of the Council are divided into different political 
groups and a majority belongs to one of those groups, a special 
responsibility allowance shall be paid to at least one member who 
does not belong to the group to which the majority belongs. 

c) Subject to the provisions of this Scheme, the amount of each such 
 allowance shall be the amount specified against that special 
responsibility  in Appendix 1. 

 6. Dependants' Carers' Allowance 

A Councillor shall be entitled to be paid a dependants' carers' 
allowance at the rate specified in Appendix 1 to enable him or her 

 

Page 161



to provide for the care of children,  disabled or sick relatives 
whilst the Councillor is engaged on the duties set out  in 
Appendix 3. Such an allowance shall not be paid in respect of 
carers who are parents, spouses, co-habitees or  members of the 
same household as the Councillor. 

 
 

  7.  Travelling and subsistence allowance 
 
  

          a) A Member shall be entitled to be paid travelling and 
subsistence allowance at the rates specified in Appendix 2 in 
respect of travelling and subsistence undertaken in connection with 
or relating to the duties set out in Appendix 3. 

 
 b) The  rates  for  subsistence  shall  be  reduced  by  a  

corresponding amount  in  respect  of  any  meal  provided  free  
of  charge  by  the Council or by a third party. 

 
 c) The rates for subsistence shall be reduced to the actual cost of 

the meal if less than the allowance. 
 

• The following limitations apply on reimbursement of 
subsistence: 

• for breakfast an absence commencing before 0700  
• for lunch an absence commencing before 1100 and 

finishing after 1500 
• for tea an absence of more than four hours finishing after 1830  
• for evening meal an absence of more than four 

hours finishing after 2030  
• tea and evening meal allowances cannot be claimed on the 

same day. 
 
 d) Light refreshments will be provided for Member meetings (as defined 

in the Council’s calendar of meetings) that start at 5.00pm or later 
and are expected to last longer than 2 hours. 

 

8.  Co-optees’ allowance 

Subject to the provisions of this Scheme for each year a co-
optees' allowance as set out in Appendix 1 shall be paid to Co-
optees. 

 

9.   Suspension of a Member 
 

 I.   Where a Member is suspended from his or her responsibilities 

 

Page 162



or duties as a Member in accordance with Part III of the Local 
Government Act  2000 or regulations made thereunder the part 
of any allowance payable  to him or her in respect of the 
period for which he or she is suspended or partially suspended 
shall be withheld by the Council. 

 
 II. Where an allowance has already been made in respect of any 

period during which the Member concerned: 
 

a) is suspended or partially suspended from their 
responsibilities as a Member in accordance with Part III of 
the Local Government Act 2000 or regulations made 
thereunder; 

b) ceases to be a Member; or 
c) is in any other way not entitled to receive an allowance in 

respect of that period 
  

 the Member shall repay to the Council such part of the allowance 
as relates to any such period.  

 
 
10.  Election to forego allowances 
 

A Member may by notice in writing given to the Head of Paid Service 
elect to forego any part of his or her entitlement to an allowance under 
this scheme. 

  
  11.  Part-year entitlements 

a) The provisions of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate 
the entitlements of a Member to an allowance where, in the course 
of a year, this Scheme is amended or that Member becomes, or 
ceases to be, a Member, or accepts or relinquishes a special 
responsibility in respect of which a special responsibility allowance is 
payable. 

 b) If an amendment to this scheme changes the amount to which 
a Member is entitled then in relation to each of the periods: 

 
I. beginning with the year and ending with the day before 

that on which the first amendment in that year takes effect, 
or 

 
II. beginning with the day on which an amendment takes 

effect and ending with the day before that on which the 
next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the year, 
the entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the 
payment of such part of the amount of the allowance 
under this scheme as it has effect during the  relevant 
period as bears to the whole the same proportion as the 

 

Page 163



number of the days in the period bears to the number of 
days in the year. 

 
c) If an amendment to this Scheme changes the duties specified in 

this Scheme the entitlement to an allowance shall be to the 
payment of the amount of the allowance under the Scheme as it 
has effect when the duty is carried out. 

 
 d) Where the term of office of a Member begins or ends otherwise 

than at the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that 
Member to allowances shall be to the payment of such part of the 
allowance as bears to the whole the same proportion as the 
number of days during which his term of office subsists bears to 
the number of days in that year. 

 
 e) Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in paragraph (b), 

and the term of office of a Member does not subsist throughout 
the period mentioned in paragraph (b)(I), the entitlement of 
any such Councillor to an allowance shall be to the payment 
of such part of the allowance referable to each such period 
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears 
to the whole the same proportion as the number of days 
during which his term of office as a Member subsists bears to 
the number of days in that period. 

 
12.  Claims and payments 
 

a) Payments of basic, special responsibility and co-optees' 
allowances shall be payable monthly in arrears through the 
Council's payroll. 

 
b) Claims by Members in respect of dependants' carers' allowance 

and travelling and subsistence allowances should be made 
monthly and shall in any event be made by no later than 7 April 
next following the end of a year. 

 
c) Payments shall be made to each Member monthly in arrears. 

 
d) Where a payment of one-twelfth of the amount specified in 

this Scheme in respect of a basic allowance or a special 
responsibility allowance would result in the Member receiving 
more than the amount to which, by virtue of paragraph 11, he or 
she is entitled, the payment shall  be restricted to such amount 
as will ensure that no more is paid than the amount to which he 
or she is entitled. 

 
e) Where a Member is also a member of another Council within 

the meaning of Regulation 3(1) he or she shall not be entitled to 
receive allowances from more than one Council in respect of 

 

Page 164



the same duties. 
 

13.  Claims and payments 
  

a) The levels of the basic allowance, special responsibility 
allowance, dependants’ carers’ allowance and co-optees’ 
allowance specified in this scheme shall be varied with effect from 
and in accordance with the same  average percentage change 
in the levels of the Council's staff's remuneration. 

 
b) The travelling and subsistence allowance shall be the same as 

that for the Council's staff and shall alter accordingly. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 165



 Scheme of members’ allowances appendix one 
 
With effect from 11 May 2015 

 
1.  Basic allowance (Paragraph x) 

 
The basic allowance payable to each Councillor shall from 11 May 2015 
be £4768 per annum*. 

 
2.  Special Responsibility Allowances (Paragraph x) 

 
The amounts of special responsibility allowances and the special 
responsibilities for which they shall be payable shall be per annum: 

This revised scheme was approved by the Council on 9 September 
2015 and has effect from 11th May 2015 and for subsequent years. 

 

Allowance* £ pa 

Special Responsibility Allowances  
Leader of the Council (includes Cabinet Member Allowance) 12,000 
Deputy Leader (includes Cabinet Member Allowance) 8,169 
Leader of Minority Group (1/3 of allowance paid to Leader) 4,000 
Cabinet Member 6,669 
Chairman of Council 4,860 
Vice-Chairman of Council (1/3 of allowance paid to Chairman) 1,620 
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 5,084 
Vice-Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2,313 
Chairman of Development Management Committee 3,654 
Vice-Chairman of Development Management Committee 1,221 
Chairman of Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee 2,313 
Chairman of Licensing Committee 2,313 
Chairman of Personnel Committee 2,313 
Chairman of Standards Committee 3,654 
Chairman of Finance & Performance Sub-Committee 2,313 
Chairman of Business Improvement Sub-Committee 2,313 

 

* index linked in accordance with Paragraph X 
 

 3. Dependants' Carers' allowance (Paragraph x) 
 

From 11 May 2015 the rate by way of reimbursement is 
equal to the Living Wage rate (£7.85 per hour or part thereof as at 
9 September 2015) . 

 

4. Co-optees' allowance (paragraph x) 
 

Page 166



 
From 11  May 2015 the rate payable to independent and parish 
council representatives on the Standards Committee shall be £1221 per 
annum. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 167



Scheme of members’ allowances appendix two 
 

1. Travelling (with effect from 11 May 2015) 
 

a) Cars - the  HMRC rate (45p per mile as at 11 May 2015) 
b) Motorcycles 

Up to 249cc – 8p per mile 
250cc and above – 14.07p per mile 

c) Cycles – 20p per mile 
d) Use of public transport will be paid at the second class rail fare and/or bus. 
 

2. Subsistence  
 

Breakfast £6.45 
Lunch £8.91 
Tea £3.53 
Dinner £11.03 

 
 

 

Page 168



 

 
Scheme of members’ allowances appendix three 

 
1. Statutory approved duties  

 
(Regulation 8(1)(a) - (f)) 

  
a)  Attendance at a meeting of the Council or of any 

Committee or Sub- Committee of the Council or any other 
body to which the Council makes appointments or 
nominations or of any committee  or  sub- committee of such 
a body. 

 
b) Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is 

authorised by the Council or a Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Council or a Joint Committee of the 
Council and one or more other Authorities or a Sub-
Committee of such a Joint Committee, provided that where 
the Council is divided into two or more political groups, it is 
a meeting to which the Members of at least two such groups 
have been invited. 

 
c) Attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of 

which the Council is a member. 
 

d) Attendance at meetings of the Cabinet and of any 
committees appointed by the Cabinet. 

 
e) Duties in pursuance of any standing order requiring a 

Member or Members to be present while tender documents 
are opened. 

 
f) Duties in connection with the discharge of any function of 

the Council conferred by or under any enactment and 
empowering or requiring the Council to inspect or authorise 
the inspection of premises. 

 
 

2. Other approved duties 
 
(Regulation 8(1)(h)) 

 
 a) Any duties by Cabinet Members for the purpose of or in 

connection with the discharge of the functions of the Cabinet. 
 

b) Attendance at emergency planning courses at the 
Home Office Emergency Planning College. 

 
c) Duties in connection with emergency planning including 

training and attendance at rest centres 
 

d) Attendance at approved conferences. 

 Page 169



 

 
e) Attendance at approved seminars and training courses. 
 
f) Attendance at briefing meetings. 

 
g) Attendance at the offices to receive petitions. 

 
h) Attendance at meetings of advisory groups, sub- committees 

appointed by the Cabinet, Cabinet Members and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 i) Attendance at liaison meetings with West Sussex County Council. 
 

j) Attendance at meetings of West Sussex County Joint Leaders 
Group. 

 
k) Consultation with constituents. 

 
 
 
 
 

 Page 170



 

Part 7 
Management Structure 

 
7.1  Introduction 
 

The Council’s officer management structure comprises the Chief Executive, 
three directorates, and twenty service units. The Council’s Head of Paid 
Service, is ultimately responsible to the Council for the management of all 
staff. Each of the directorates is headed by a Director, and each of the 
service units is managed by a Service Manager. Directors report directly to the 
Head of Paid Service. Service Managers report to their Director or the Head of 
Paid Service. 

 
7.2 Organisational Chart 
 

The following is an organisational chart of the Council’s officer management  
structure:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 171



 

Chief Executive
Chief Executive

Chief Executive

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty

Chief Executive
Director of Planning Economic 

Development and Property

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty
Development

Development Manager

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty

Strategic tlanning and Sustainability
Head of Strategic Planning and 

Sustainability

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty

troperty and Cacilities
Property and Facilities 

Manager

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty

Economic Development
Economic Development 

Manager

tlanning Economic Development 
and troperty

Building Control
Building Control Manager

Corporate Resources
Chief Executive

Director of Corporate 
Resources

(S151)

Corporate Resources
Commissioning and terformance

Commissioning and 
Performance Manager

Corporate Resources
Cinance

Head of Finance (S151 Deputy)

Corporate Resources
Legal and Democratic Services

Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services / Monitoring Officer

Corporate Resources
CenSus LCT

Head of CenSus ICT

Corporate Resources
Audit

Chief Internal Auditor

Corporate Resources
IR and hD

Human Resource and 
Organisational Development 

Manager

Corporate Resources
Commissioning and terformance

Systems Development 
Manager

Community Services
Chief Executive

Director of Community 
Services

Community Services
Community and Culture

Head of Community and 
Culture

Community Services
Waste, StreetScene and Cleet

Head of Waste, Street Scene 
and Fleet

Community Services
tarking Services

Parking Services Manager

Community Services
Environmental Iealth and Licencing

Environmental Health and 
Licencing Manager

Community Services
Customer Services

Customer Services Manager

Community Services
Iousing

Housing Manager (Strategy 
and Provision)

Chief Executive
Communications

Communication Manager

 

P
age 172



 

 

P
age 173



 

 

 Page 174



 

Part 8 
Glossary of terms and schedule of 

proper officer designation 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 175



 

Glossary of terms and schedule of proper officer designations 
 
 
 
Acts - The principle Acts that this constitution discharges are: Local Government Act, 
1972, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Local Government Act, 2000; 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act, 2007; and the Localism Act 2011.  
 
Budget - means the Budget requirement of the Council (as provided for in the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 or any re-enactment thereof), all the components of the 
Budget, such as Budgetary allocation to different services and projects, proposed 
taxation levels, council tax base, contingency funds (‘reserves’ and ‘balances’), any 
plan or strategy for the control of the local authority’s borrowing or capital expenditure 
including Treasury. 
 
Cabinet – means between two and nine elected Council members appointed by the 
Leader and who, with the Leader, form the Cabinet. At Horsham District Council, the 
‘Executive’ is the Cabinet. 
 
Call-In – means the consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of a 
Cabinet key or cabinet member non-key decision made but not yet implemented, which 
may result in the recommendation that the decision be reconsidered by the person or 
persons who made that decision or that the decision be reviewed by full Council in 
accordance with Section 9F (2)(a) and (4) of the 2000 Act. 
 
Chief Officer - (unless otherwise stated) the Head of the Paid Service,  the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer (also known as the section 151 officer) and  any 
officer for whom the Head of the Paid Service is directly responsible, any officer who, 
as respects all or most of the duties of their post, is required to report directly or is 
directly accountable to the Head of the Paid Service, excluding any persons whose 
duties are secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support services, any 
officer who, as respects all or most of the duties of his/her post, is required to report 
directly or is directly accountable to the council itself, or to any committee or sub-
committee of a committee 
 
Confidential – information given to the Council by a government department on terms 
which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
court Order, or by virtue of any enactment, as defined in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules. 
 
Deputy Chief Officer - (unless otherwise stated) any officer who, as respects all or 
most of the duties of his/her post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable 
to one or more of the above statutory or non-statutory Chief Officers, excluding any 
person whose duties are solely secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of 
support service. 
 
Excluded matters – are found in the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by 
Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012, Statutory Instrument 
2012/1022.  
 

 Page 176



 

Local Choice – the Council has a local choice whether to reserve some of functions 
specified in the 2000 Regulations as Cabinet Functions, or as Non-Cabinet Functions. 
 
‘Key Decision’ – a decision that must be taken by the cabinet collectively as described 
in article X 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee - the committee established in accordance with 
Section 9F of the 2000 Act 
 
Policy Framework - all plans and strategies either (a) required by the 2000 
Regulations to be approved by full Council (rather than by Cabinet) and (b) any Local 
Choice plans and strategies which the Council has chosen to be approved by full 
Council (rather than by Cabinet). Further details of the Policy Framework are set out in 
Article 4. 
 
Political Balance - duty under section 15 of the 1989 Act, where the members of the 
Council are divided into different Political Groups, to appoint members to committees, 
sub-committees, and other bodies as described in this constitution, proportionally to the 
number of members of each Political Group. 
 
Political Groups - as defined in the Local Government (Committees and Political 
Groups) Regulations 1990 or any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof. 
 
Proper Officer -  such officers as are designated ‘proper officer’ by law, a scheme of 
which is maintained by the Monitoring Officer herewith 
 
Regulations -  the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations, 2000 
 
Regulatory Committee means a committee undertaking “quasi-judicial” functions of 
the Council (such as licensing and planning).  
 
Working Day - excludes Saturday, Sunday and bank and public holidays. 
 
 
  

 Page 177



 

Schedule of proper officer designations 
 

Act Purpose of Designation Proper Officer 

 

Local Government Act 1972 

 

Section 83 To witness, and to receive, 
declarations of acceptance 
of office 

Head of Paid Service or 
Monitoring Officer 

Section 84 To receive notices from 
members of resignation of 
office 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 87 To publish notice of 
vacancy 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 88 To convene, if necessary, a 
meeting of the Council 
when the office of 
Chairman is vacant 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 89 To receive notice by local 
government electors of a 
casual vacancy in the office 
of District Councillor 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 96 To receive from councillors 
notices of interests and to 
maintain a record of such 
disclosures 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100B To decide whether 
information is likely to be 
‘exempt’ when coming 
before the council, cabinet 
or a committee 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100C To produce a written 
summary of proceedings 
taken by the council, 
cabinet or a committee 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 100D To compile a list of 
background papers for a 
cabinet or committee report 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 100F To decide if a requested 
document appears to 

Monitoring Officer 

 Page 178



 

contain exempt information 

Section 115 To receive money due from 
officers 

Chief Finance Officer 

Section 146 To sign declarations and 
certificates with regard to 
securities 

Chief Finance Officer 

Section 191 To receive applications 
made by the Ordnance 
Survey office for assistance 
in determining boundaries  

Head of Paid Service 

Section 210 To exercise any power with 
respect to a charity 
exercisable by any officer 
of a former authority 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 225 To receive and retain any 
document deposited with 
the council for custody 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 228 To keep accounts open for 
inspection by any member 
of the authority 

Chief Finance Officer 

Section 229 To certify, for the purpose 
of any legal proceedings, 
photographic copies of 
documents 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 234 To authenticate notices, 
orders or other documents 
on behalf of the council 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 236 To send copies of 
confirmed bye-laws made 
by the Council to the 
County Council 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 238 To certify copies of bye-
laws 

Monitoring Officer 

Schedule 12 (4) To sign and send to all 
members of the council, the 
summons to attend 
meetings of the council 

Head of Paid Service 

Schedule 14 (25) To certify resolutions under 
that paragraph for the 
purposes of legal 

Head of Paid Service 

 Page 179



 

proceedings 

 

Local Land Charges Act 1975 

 

Local Land Charges Act 
1975 

To act as local registrar for 
the registration of local land 
charges and the issue of 
official certificates of search 

 

 

Director of Planning, 
Economic Development 
and Property 

 

Representation of the People Act 1983 

 

Section 24 To be the Acting Returning 
Officer for the conduct of 
Parliamentary elections 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 35 To be the Returning Officer 
for the conduct of local 
elections 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 67 To receive appointments of 
election agents 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 67 To publish a notice of 
election agents 

Head of Paid Service 

 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 

Section 2 To retain on deposit a list of 
politically restricted posts 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 4 Designation as the Head of 
Paid Service 

Chief Executive 

Section 5 Designation as the 
Monitoring Officer 

Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 

Sections 9, 15, 16 To undertake all matters 
relating to the formal 
establishment of political 

Head of Paid Service 

 Page 180



 

groups within the 
membership of the council 

 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) England Regulations 2012 

 

Section 3 To produce a written 
statement of cabinet 
decisions made at 
meetings 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 5 To make available for 
inspection by the public a 
copy of written statements 
of cabinet decisions and 
associated reports 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 6 To make available for 
inspection a list of 
background papers 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 12 To publish key decisions of 
the Authority 

Head of Paid Service 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 181



 

 
 

Part 9 
Register of cabinet members 

 
 
 
The register of cabinet members is maintained on the council’s website.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 182



 

 
 
 

 Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Council 

7 December 2016
By the Chief Executive
DECISION REQUIRED

Not Exempt 

Submission to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England on the  
Electoral Review Of Horsham: Warding Arrangements for Horsham District Council

Executive Summary

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) informed the Council 
in April 2016 that it would undertake an Electoral Review of the District to deliver electoral 
equality for voters in local elections. The Commission assesses electorate data for each 
local authority annually and conducts a review where significant electoral inequality is 
found. In 2016, 32% of Horsham’s wards have a variance of greater than 10% with little 
prospect of the variance correcting itself through development or population movements.

On 21 July 2016, following member briefings and two seminars, the Council agreed a 
submission to the LGBCE, proposing a Council size of 47 councillors from May 2019.  On 
27 September 2016 the LGBCE wrote to the Council advising that it was commencing its 
consultation on proposals for a new pattern of electoral wards and that it was minded to 
recommend that 47 district councillors should be elected to Horsham District Council in 
future.  This consultation ends on 5 December 2016 but the Council has been given an 
extension to 8 December to allow the matter to be considered at this meeting. 

In drawing up a pattern of electoral wards the LGBCE must balance its three statutory 
criteria: 

 To deliver electoral equality where each district councillor represents roughly 
the same number of electors as others across the district 

 That the pattern of wards should, as far as possible, reflect the interests and 
identities of local communities

 That the electoral arrangements should provide for effective and convenient 
local government

With these criteria in mind, and following engagement with Members of the Council a 
proposed response to the consultation has been prepared and is now submitted to Council 
for approval. Electoral equality has been demonstrated in 20 of the 22 wards. However, in 
the proposed Broadbridge Heath and Forest Wards there would be variances which would 
exceed the LGBCE’s criteria. The justification for exceptions to be made in these cases is 
set out at paragraph 3.3 below. 

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



Recommendations

Council is recommended:

To approve the appended submission to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England (LGBCE) on warding arrangements for Horsham District Council from May 2019 
and in doing so agree that the LGBCE be asked to approve a Council size of 48 
councillors (an increase in one from that originally proposed). 

Reasons for Recommendations

To provide the Council’s response to stage two of the electoral review process by 
proposing the warding arrangements that the council believes will be right for the authority 
from May 2019 to provide electoral equality whilst reflecting the interests and identities of 
local communities and providing for effective and convenient local government.

Background Papers

1. The presentation and papers issued by the LGBCE to the member briefing on 27 
April 2016

2. The summary of the outcome of the survey of all members

Wards affected: All wards

Contact:  Lesley Morgan, Democratic Services Manager

Page 186



Background Information

1 Introduction and Background

1.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) informed the 
Council in April 2016 that it would undertake an Electoral Review of the District to 
deliver electoral equality for voters in local elections. The LGBCE set out a 
timetable whereby the review would be undertaken in two distinct stages. The first 
stage considered council size and was concluded by the LGBCE in September 
2016.  The second stage, currently underway, considers warding arrangements. 

1.2 This report concerns the requirement for submissions to the LGBCE regarding 
warding arrangements to be made by 5 December 2016.  The Council has been 
given an extension to 8 December to allow the matter to be considered at this 
meeting. 

1.3 The LGBCE is not examining the external boundaries of the district as part of this 
review or the external boundaries of parish councils. The commission does not take 
into account local political implications and takes no account of parliamentary 
constituency boundaries which are the responsibility of the Boundary Commission 
for England. 

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 This warding arrangement proposal aligns with two objectives of the 2016/19 
Corporate Plan:

 Communities, Support our communities; and
 Efficiency, Great value services

3 Details

3.1 The LGBCE, in drawing up a pattern of electoral wards, must balance its three 
statutory criteria: 

 To deliver electoral equality where each district councillor represents roughly 
the same number of electors as others across the district 

 That the pattern of wards should, as far as possible, reflect the interests and 
identities of local communities

 That the electoral arrangements should provide for effective and convenient 
local government

3.2 A full engagement programme with members has taken place since April 2016, 
including an LGBCE briefing for Members and officers on 27 April, two seminars 
(one in May and one in July) before the decision on Council size was made at 
Council in July, two surveys issued to all members (one in May on Council size and 
one in August on warding patterns), area-based group/individual Member 
discussions and an all-Member briefing on 28 November. Appendix A provides the 
narrative considerations which form the submission to the LGBCE.

Page 187



3.3 Electoral equality has been demonstrated in 20 of the 22 wards. However, in the 
proposed Broadbridge Heath and Forest Wards there would be variances which 
would exceed the LGBCE’s criteria. The justification for exceptions to be made in 
these cases is set out below. 

a) Broadbridge Heath, which is 13% below the average.  It is considered that 
this is acceptable on the grounds that:
i. it is a rapidly developing area with a number of developments 

already in progress that may well see the electorate increase above that 
projected; and 

ii. it is a well-defined community being wholly contained within the 
Broadbridge Heath Parish Council boundary.

b) Forest, which is 13% above the average.  It is considered that this 
is acceptable on the grounds that it:
i. reflects the interests and identity of the local community - the proposed 

ward has a clear identity being mostly a long established community.
The Southern and Eastern boundary of this ward aligns to the rural 
area of Nuthurst Parish and Southwater Parish and the whole ward is 
covered by Forest Neighbourhood Council and it has distinct 
boundaries and the railway line. 

ii. provides for effective and convenient local government within the overall 
town area.

Page 188



4 Next Steps

4.1 If approved, officers will despatch the appended report and associated minute of 
council to the LGBCE on 8 December. The LGBCE timeline provides for a meeting 
of the commission to consider all proposals received on 17 January 2017 and 
prepare its draft recommendations.

4.2 The LGBCE’s draft recommendations will then be made available for public 
consultation from 7 February 2017 until 3 April 2017. Final recommendations are 
scheduled for publication by the LGBCE in June 2017.

4.3 Following receipt of the LGBCE’s draft recommendations Members will have the 
opportunity to consider and agree its response.  This will be undertaken by the 
newly formed Governance Committee (if approved at this meeting as part of the 
Constitution Review) in consultation with all Members.

5 Outcome of Consultations

5.1 All members of the Council have been consulted as described in 3.2 above. There 
was neither a requirement nor an expectation that the Council should consult with 
anyone other than its own members.  This is because the Council is a consultee in 
this process and is not the decision maker.

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 Other options including a pattern producing wards with a maximum of two Members 
were considered and rejected as not meeting the LGBCE’s statutory criteria. 

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 The proposal to increase the number of Members to 48 would require the budget for 
members’ allowances to be increased by a further £4,768 per annum than that 
reported at the meeting on 21 July 2016 (one further Member at the current basic 
allowance). This increase would have to be included within the budget setting 
process for 2019-2020. 

7.2 The technical guidance published by the LGBCE states that the commission does 
not consider the financial implications that the council size proposal could have 
when it considers effective and convenient local government. 

7.3 The Commission does not charge the local authority for the review. 

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England is an independent body 
established in 2010 by Parliament under the provisions of the Local Democracy, 
Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

8.2 The LGBCE is responsible for undertaking this review following statutory 
considerations. This report and methodology follows the guidance provided by the 
commission. 

Page 189



8.3 Electoral reviews are a matter for Full Council. Close alignment with electoral 
matters specified in the Local Authorities Functions and Responsibilities 
Regulations 2000, and local government convention exclude Electoral Reviews 
from the responsibilities of the Cabinet. 

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 Electoral review is not a corporate risk.  Mitigation of any operational risk is 
provided by the assurance that the LGBCE is an independent body, created by 
statute and accountable to Parliament, with a track record of delivering electoral 
reviews. 

10 Other Considerations

10.1 The governance arrangements of the Council provide for Members to offer public 
assurance and challenge around crime and disorder, human rights and equality and 
diversity matters. 

Page 190



Electoral Review of Horsham District Council

Submission to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England on the 
future warding arrangements for Horsham 
District Council 

Stage Two – Warding Arrangements
December 2016

Page 191



2

Executive Summary
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is the 
independent body that is responsible for conducting boundary and electoral 
reviews of principal authorities in England. The commission wrote to Horsham 
District Council in April 2016 to inform the council that it would undertake a 
boundary review within the local authority area in order to make changes to 
boundaries to ensure that each elected member of Horsham District Council 
would, by the elections in 2019, represent an equal number of electors. This 
means ensuring, so far as is reasonable, that for Horsham District Council, the 
ratio of electors to councillors in each electoral ward, is the same. The LGBCE 
identified that in 2016 seven of the 22 wards (31.8%) within the district needed to 
be corrected to deliver electoral equality in the future. An electoral review has 
two distinct stages:

 Stage one – the number of members (council size)
 Stage two – warding arrangements

Stage one – the number of members (council size)

The LGBCE asked Horsham District Council to propose the number of members 
that it thinks it will need in the future.  On 21 July 2016 the Council agreed a 
submission to the LGBCE, proposing a Council size of 47 councillors from May 
2019.  The LGBCE considered the proposal and, on 27 September 2016, wrote 
to the Council advising that it was commencing its consultation on proposals for a 
new pattern of electoral wards and that it was minded to recommend that 47 
district councillors should be elected to Horsham District Council in future. 

Stage two – warding arrangements

This report considers the future warding arrangements for Horsham District 
Council, bearing in mind the three statutory criteria the LGBCE will apply:

1. To deliver electoral equality where each district councillor represents 
roughly the same number of electors as others across the district

2. That the pattern of wards should, as far as possible, reflect the interests 
and identities of local communities

3. That the electoral arrangements should provide for effective and 
convenient local government

 
The consensus view of Horsham District Council’s members is that the Council 
should comprise 22 wards of varying sizes represented by 1, 2 or 3 members as 
appropriate and that in order to deliver electoral equality based on the projected 
electorate figures for 2021/22 (within a 10% tolerance) the total number of 
members for the district should be 48 (an increase of 1 above that previously 
suggested).  The detailed breakdown of electorate numbers/members per ward is 
shown in appendix A.

Page 192



3

About Horsham
Horsham district is located in West Sussex, within the South East of England. The 
district covers an area of 530km2 (205 square miles) and is predominantly rural in 
character, and contains a number of small villages and towns. The largest urban area 
is the market town of Horsham, situated in the north-east of the District and 95km2 
(36.49 square miles) of the District falls within the South Downs National Park. The 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) 2014-based subnational population projections 
indicate that the population of the South East is likely to grow at a faster rate than 
England as a whole; Horsham in particular is predicted to have a 7% population 
change from 134,000 in 2014 to 144,000 by 2024. 

The last electoral review of the district in July 2002 concluded that Horsham 
District Council would increase its number of members from 43 to 44, and that 
the number of wards be reduced from 25 to 22.   

Developing this proposal to the Commission

The review process in respect of warding arrangements was characterised by the 
engagement of all members in the development of this proposal to the 
commission. There were 4 clear phases of engagement. 

1. The LGBCE presented to an all member seminar on 27 April 2016 when 
members were informed of the overall review process. 

2. More than half of members completed an electronic survey which was 
issued to all members in August 2016 – the views expressed in the survey 
were borne in mind when drawing up proposals for new warding 
arrangements. 

3. All members were invited to engage with the officer preparing the 
proposals through geographical area-based group or individual member 
discussions – two thirds of members attended at least one meeting and 
efforts were made to address specific issues raised by members by 
revising the proposals where possible.

4. A member seminar was held on 28 November – members were again 
informed of the overall review process, the statutory criteria that needed to 
be addressed and how the current proposal had emerged. 

Page 193



4

1. Delivering electoral equality where each district 
councillor represents roughly the same number of 
electors as others across the district
Using the agreed future number of members for the district (47) and the projected 
electorate for the district in 2010/22 it was determined that the average number of 
electors per member was 2359.  A tolerance of plus or minus 10% then gave a 
range of 2123 to 2595. 

In preparing options for members to consider it became clear that drawing up 
warding patterns using the originally proposed number of members for the district 
would result in many parishes being split between district wards with the resultant 
warding of those parishes, which would impact negatively on the statutory criteria 
relating to reflecting the interests and identities of local communities and 
providing for effective and convenient local government.  It became apparent that 
an increase to 48 members produced a more consistent and less radical pattern 
across the district.

Therefore, using the currently proposed number of members for the district (48) 
and the projected electorate for the district in 2021/22, the average number of 
electors per member is 2310 with a range within tolerance of 2079 to 2541. 

Electoral equality has been demonstrated in 20 of the 22 wards. However, in the 
proposed Broadbridge Heath and Forest Wards there would be variances which 
would exceed the LGBCE’s criteria. The justification for exceptions to be made in 
these cases is set out below:

a) Broadbridge Heath, which is 13% below the average.  It is 
considered that this is acceptable on the grounds that:
i. it is a rapidly developing area with a number of 

developments already in progress that may well see 
the electorate increase above that projected; and 

ii. it is a well-defined community being wholly contained 
within the Broadbridge Heath Parish Council 
boundary.

b) Forest, which is 13% above the average.  It is considered 
that this is acceptable on the grounds that it:

i. reflects the interests and identity of the local  
community - the proposed ward has a clear 
identity being mostly a long established 
community. The Southern and Eastern boundary 
of this ward aligns to the rural area of Nuthurst 
Parish and Southwater Parish and the whole ward 
is covered by Forest Neighbourhood Council and it 
has distinct boundaries and the railway line. 

ii. provides for effective and convenient local 
government within the overall town area.

Page 194



5

In addition there are a number of areas where large scale development is 
underway and these are generally in the proposed wards that are on the low side 
of the tolerance to take account of imminent population growth. 

Most of the proposed wards at the higher end of the tolerance are in areas where 
there is unlikely to be large scale growth.

Page 195



6

2. Producing a pattern of wards that, as far as possible, 
reflects the interests and identities of local communities

Where possible, the building blocks used to produce the proposed pattern of 
wards are existing polling districts and parish council areas, which generally 
reflect the interests and identities of local communities.

There are just three areas where this has not been possible due to the need to 
deliver electoral equality:

i. Southwater Parish Council area – this is a large and rapidly growing 
parish which is already outside the tolerance for a 3 member ward and 
with current developments this situation will only worsen.  It is therefore 
proposed to create two parish wards, one containing the bulk of the old 
village, the retail centre and urban area to the north and east of the parish 
and the other containing the some of the southern part of the urban area 
and the south western-area of the parish where new development is 
underway.  The first of these parish wards will be a 2 member ward in its 
own right and the second will form another 2 member ward together with 
the Shipley Parish Council area.  This will also necessitate the redrawing 
of the polling districts in Southwater Parish.

ii. North Horsham Parish Council area – this is a very large parish, in terms 
of electorate numbers, adjoining the unparished area of Horsham town 
and already comprises four parish wards due to the current district ward 
arrangements.  A further parish ward will need to be created as a 
consequence of the recent West Sussex County Council review of 
divisions.  The proposed warding arrangements will necessitate a review 
of the parish ward areas and number of parish councillors per parish ward.  
This will include a new parish ward in the area to the north of the A264 
bypass (a clearly identifiable boundary) which whilst small in terms of 
electorate at present is expected to see considerable growth in the next 5 
to 15 years.

iii. Horsham town area - polling district NP has been split using the northern 
boundary of Horsham Park, which is unlikely to change, in order to provide 
a ward pattern that produces electoral equality (the exception being Forest 
– see section 1 above)

3. Providing for effective and convenient local government

The proposed warding arrangements are in many cases similar to or unchanged 
from the existing arrangements, which have worked well for many years.  Areas 
where changes are proposed are generally based on existing communities (e.g. 
parish council areas) and take account of projected electorate growth thus 
ensuring that no members are over-burdened and no area is under-represented.  
As the projected ratio of electors per member (2310 +/- 10%) is similar to the 
existing ratio (2338 +/1 10%) members should not experience an increase in 
casework.  Horsham District Council operates on the basis of ‘all-out’ elections 
every four years and, as such, a mixed pattern of 1, 2 and 3 member wards 
remains effective and convenient.  

Page 196



DRAFT Version 7 - Max 3 Member Wards

Area
Polling
District Parish Existing District Ward

WSCC
Electorate
Forecast
2021/22

Forecast
ward total Proposed District Ward Name No. of Members

No. of Electors
per Member

Over/
under

average
NXA North Horsham (part N of bypass) Holbrook West 176
NSB Rusper Rusper & Colgate 919
NZ Rusper Rusper & Colgate 490
PL Rusper Rusper & Colgate 620
NJ Colgate Rusper & Colgate 527
NSA Colgate Rusper & Colgate 1115

A NSC Colgate Rusper & Colgate 913 4760 Colgate and Rusper 2 2380 3%

NXA North Horsham (part S of bypass) Holbrook West 1804
NXB North Horsham Holbrook West 1520
NXC Denne NC Holbrook West 910

B NP part Denne NC Horsham Park 660 4894 2 2447 6%

NXD North Horsham Holbrook East 2328
C NXE North Horsham Holbrook East 1891 4219 Holbrook East 2 2110 -9%

NT North Horsham Roffey North 2708
D NU North Horsham Roffey North 2239 4947 Roffey North 2 2474 7%

NVA North Horsham Roffey South 2823
NVB North Horsham Roffey South 1280

E NVC Forest NC Roffey South 816 4919 Roffey South 2 2460 6%

PJ part Forest NC Horsham Park 456
PI Forest NC Horsham Park 1694
PH Forest NC Horsham Park 1880
PJ part Forest NC Horsham Park 888
NRA Forest NC Forest 1961

F NRB Forest NC Forest 1012 7891 Forest 3 2630 13%

PV Trafalgar NC Trafalgar 2648
G PW Trafalgar NC Trafalgar 2197 4845 Trafalgar 2 2423 5%

NN Denne NC Denne 4359
NO Denne NC Denne 1475

H NP part Denne NC Horsham Park 552 6386 Denne 3 2129 -8%

PA Nuthurst Nuthurst 1071
PD Nuthurst Nuthurst 488

I NM Lower Beeding Nuthurst 909 2468 Nuthurst and Lower Beeding 1 2468 7%

NL Cowfold Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 1500
QB Shermanbury Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 186
PM Shermanbury Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 268
PE West Grinstead Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 2173

J NQ West Grinstead Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 258 4385 Cowfold, Shermanbury & West Grinstead 2 2193 -5%

K NW Henfield Henfield 4271 4271 Henfield 2 2136 -8%

P
age 197



DRAFT Version 7 - Max 3 Member Wards

PPB Henfield Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 174
QD Woodmancote Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 434
NE Bramber Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 668
PPA Upper Beeding Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 620

L PX Upper Beeding Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 2382 4278 Bramber, Upper Beeding & Woodmancote 2 2139 -7%

PR Steyning Steyning 4745
M NC Ashurst Steyning 224 4969 Steyning and Ashurst 2 2485 8%

PS Storrington & Sullington Chantry 4008
PT Storrington & Sullington Chantry 1884
PZB Washington Chantry 846

N PZA Washington Chantry 667 7405 Storrington and Washington 3 2468 7%

NY Amberley Chantry 74
NA Amberley Chantry 395
PG Parham Chantry 177
NI Coldwaltham Pulborough & Coldwaltham 834
PF Pulborough Pulborough & Coldwaltham 4043
PB Pulborough Pulborough & Coldwaltham 564

O PC Pulborough Pulborough & Coldwaltham 254 6341 Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley 3 2114 -8%

QA West Chiltington Chanctonbury 3191
PU Thakeham Chanctonbury 1537
QC Wiston Chanctonbury 164

P NB Ashington Chanctonbury 2063 6955 West Chiltington, Thakeham and Ashington 3 2318 0%

NFA Billingshurst Billingshurst & Shipley 2003
NFB Billingshurst Billingshurst & Shipley 1347

Q NFC Billingshurst Billingshurst & Shipley 3912 7262 Billingshurst 3 2421 7%

R PK Rudgwick Rudgwick 2197 2197 Rudgwick 1 2197 -5%

ND Itchingfield Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham 1310
PO Slinfold Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham 1474

S PY Warnham Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham 1601 4385 Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham 2 2193 -5%

NH Southwater Southwater 713
PQD Southwater Southwater 2341
PQA (part) Southwater Southwater 75
PQB (part) Southwater Southwater 1068

T PQC (part) Southwater Southwater 676 4873 Southwater North 2 2437 5%

NK Shipley Billingshurst & Shipley 582
PN Shipley Billingshurst & Shipley 555
PQA (part) Southwater Southwater 1947
PQB (part) Southwater Southwater 112
PQC (part) Southwater Southwater 952

U PQE Southwater Southwater 56 4204 Shipley and Southwater South 2 2102 -9%

NGA Broadbridge Heath Broadbridge Heath 2323

P
age 198



DRAFT Version 7 - Max 3 Member Wards
V NGB Broadbridge Heath Broadbridge Heath 1688 4011 Broadbridge Heath 2 2006 -13%

Total electors 110865 110865 48

P
age 199



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PT

PQD

PQA

NH

NFC

NE

PPA

PX

PPB

NGB

NB

PU

QA

NN

NN

NN

PZB

NL

PE

NQ

NW

ND

PO

PY

NM

NK

NJ

NSA

QB

PM

PD

PA

NSB

NZ

PC

PL

PF

PB

NXA

NXD

PG

PS
QC

PQC

NFB

NFA

PH

PI

NRB

PK

NGANGA

PJ

NSD

NSC

PQB

NI

QD

QD

QD

NC

PR

NY

NA

PN

PN

NXC
NXB

NXE
NU

NT

NVC
NP

NVA

NVB

NRA

PV
PV

PW

PQE

NO

PZA

L

V

P

N

J

H F

C
B

S

I

O

D E

R

K

G

A

T

Q

U

M

Horsham District Council
Draft Ward Proposals

November 2016
  Reference No :   Date : 10/11/2016   Scale : 1:35000 (at A0)
  Drawing No :   Drawn : KA   Checked :   Revisions : 24/11/2016

Horsham District Council
Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

West Sussex RH12 1RL.
Chris Lyons : Director of Planning, Economic Development & Property

´
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO.  ©  Crown copyright and database rights (2016).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Parish Boundaries
Polling Districts
Draft Ward Proposals (Nov16)

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Council 

7 December 2016
By the Electoral Registration Officer
DECISION REQUIRED

Interim Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places           

Executive Summary

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) published their final 
recommendations for changes to the West Sussex County Council division boundaries on 
16 August 2016 and the draft Order was laid before Parliament on 26 October 2016. The 
recommendations required Horsham District Council to conduct an interim review of some 
polling districts and polling places. The Council undertook a 4 week consultation between 
20 October 2016 and 20 November 2016, this report summarises the conclusions of that 
consultation and presents the recommendation of the Electoral Registration Officer. 

Recommendations

That the Council is recommended:

i) to approve the changes to polling districts and places set out in section three of this 
report. 

Reasons for Recommendations

i) to discharge the duty to review polling districts and places consequent to the 
recommendations for West Sussex County Council made by the LGBCE

     

Background Papers

Notice of Interim Review of Polling Districts in the Horsham District 

Wards affected: Forest and Horsham Park. 

Contact: Lesley Morgan, Democratic Services Manager

Page 203

Agenda Item 11



Background Information

1 Introduction and Background

1.1 A full review of all polling districts and places was completed in 2014 by the District 
Council. This interim review arose as a consequence of the LGBCE 
recommendations for changes to the West Sussex County Council division 
boundaries. 

1.2 The review process, including the consultation was undertaken by officers 
according to the Electoral Commission guidance ‘Reviews of polling districts, polling 
places and polling stations’.

1.3 In determining where polling places should be located the Council sought to ensure 
that all electors have such reasonable facilities for voting as are practical in the 
circumstances and that, so far as is reasonable and practical, polling places chosen 
are accessible to all electors, including those who have a disability. 

2 Relevant Council policy

2.1 This is an operational matter covered by the Legal and Democratic Services 
Service Plan 2016/17.

3 Details

3.1 The Electoral Registration Officer consulted on the following proposals:

a) Polling District NRA (Forest Ward) – a small number of properties move into 
NRB and electors will then vote at YMCA Football Club

b) Polling District NRB (Forest Ward) – a small number of properties move into 
NRA and electors will then vote at Heron Way Primary School

c) Polling District PI (Horsham Park Ward) – a small number of properties move 
into PH and electors will then vote at St Leonards Church

d) Polling District PJ (Horsham Park Ward) – a small number of properties 
move into PH and electors will then vote at St Leonards Church

e) Polling District PJ (Horsham Park Ward) – the remaining majority of this 
polling district split to make PJA and PJB to take account of the new County 
Division boundary and to continue voting at Millais School. 

3.2 The responses to the consultation are summarised in section 5 of this report. 

4 Next Steps

4.1 The Parliamentary Order for West Sussex County Council is placed before 
Parliament for 40 sitting days. Parliament can either accept or reject the 
recommendations of the review. 

4.2 Consequently, the Register of Electors will be published on 1 December 2016, and 
will not include the changes recommended in this report.

4.3 The Register of Electors, including the changes recommended in this report, will 
need to be re-published subsequent to the conclusion of the statutory process. 

Page 204



4.4 If the recommendations in the Order are accepted, the new electoral arrangements 
will come into force at the next scheduled elections for West Sussex County Council 
on 4th May 2017.

5 Outcome of Consultations

5.1 A 4 week public notice of consultation was placed on 20 October 2016. The 
consultation process included consultation with groups concerned with access and 
disability issues, political parties, councillors, neighbourhood and parish councils 
and the Member of Parliament.   

5.2 The notice specified that any member of the public may make representations.  

5.3 Three responses to the consultation were received.

a) Forest neighbourhood council responded with no objections to the changes 
in the polling districts due to the new county divisions.

b) Councillor Newman (Forest Ward) responded in agreement with the 
changes.

c) The Senior Advisor – Council and Member Support, at West Sussex County 
Council responded in agreement with the proposals.

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1 No other courses of action were considered necessary as the outcome of the 
consultation process favoured the course of action proposed. 

7 Resource Consequences

7.1 There are no financial or human resource implications. No disability access 
implications were identified in the consultation process. 

8 Legal Consequences

8.1 This report demonstrates the discharge by the council of the relevant provisions of 
the Representation of the People Act 1983, as amended by the Electoral 
Registration and Administration Act 2013.

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 The Council manages strategic risks through its Corporate Risk Register and 
individual Departmental Risk Registers, all of which are formally reviewed quarterly. 
The Legal and Democratic Services Service Plan 2016/17 identifies the risk of 
‘successful challenge to a Returning Officer’. The mitigation for such a risk is 
compliance with both legislation and electoral commission guidance. 

 
10 Other Considerations

Page 205



10.1 Officers have given full consideration to the matters required and there are no 
additional material considerations.  

 

Page 206



Report to Council 

9 December 2016
By the Director of Corporate Resources (S151 Officer)
DECISION REQUIRED

Not Exempt 

Invitation from Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited for Horsham 
DC to become an opted in authority for the purposes of appointing 
external auditors

Executive Summary

By 31 December 2017 the Council has to appoint new external auditors to audit its 
accounts from the 2018/19 financial year.  The Council can do this on its own, with 
partners or through a national collective scheme.   If the Council appoints its own auditors 
it will need to set up an audit panel with independent members to manage the scheme.  
Due to its value the appointment will require an EU procurement process.  Since the Audit 
Commission had previously appointed the external auditors the Council has no officers 
with experience of procuring external audit services to carry out this work.

The Council has received an invitation to opt into the national collective scheme run by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited to appoint the external auditors and manage the 
contract.  Council is recommended to accept this offer to avoid the procurement and on-
going costs of running such a scheme, to achieve economies of scale, to be able to gain 
the same auditors as Councils with whom it is in partnership and to avoid the procurement 
risk of purchasing an unfamiliar service, as a small purchaser in a market overcrowded 
with purchasers but with a limited number of suitable suppliers.

Recommendations

That the Council is recommended:

i) to accept the invitation to become an opted in authority and delegate to Director of 
Corporate Resources to enter into the scheme on behalf of the Council after being 
satisfied as to the terms and conditions.

Reasons for Recommendations

i) Around 500 local authority bodies in the UK have to appoint new external auditors 
at the same time, for the auditing of the 2018/19 accounts.  Due to this high number 
the Council will be purchasing in a difficult market place.  Given Horsham District’s 
size and the value of its contract we are unlikely to attract much interest in the 
marketplace if we went alone. Since Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd will be 
letting the external audit contracts for a large number of Councils it is likely to be the 
largest purchaser in the marketplace and is likely to secure the most favourable 

Page 207

Agenda Item 12



prices.  Therefore the Council is likely to secure a better price for its external audit 
services by joining this arrangement.

ii) The Council and its officers have no experience of procuring external audit services 
because they were previously procured by the Audit Commission.  The procurement 
process would be an EU process, due to the value of the contract.  Therefore a 
local option would be time consuming and carry the risk of inexperienced officers 
involved in the task.  Public Sector Audit Appointments will complete the task for us 
for no direct cost and have officers experienced in buying external audit services.

iii) Due to the number of partnership arrangements the Council has, or is planning, with 
other West Sussex Councils we are likely to achieve a lower cost of audit if we have 
the same external auditors as them.  Our partner councils are all proposing to let 
their audit arrangements with Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd.

iv) Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd will provide on-going management of the 
contract thus avoiding the costs and workload of setting up an independent audit 
panel to manage the appointment.

   
Background Papers

None

Wards affected:  all

Contact: Jane Eaton, Director of Corporate Resources, telephone 01403 215300.

Page 208



Background Information

1. Introduction and Background

1.1. The Council’s current external auditors, were appointed by the Audit Commission to 
run to the end of the audit of the 2016/17 accounts. The current audit contracts 
were novated from the Audit Commission to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
on 1 April 2015. The contracts were due to expire following conclusion of the audits 
of 2016/17 accounts, but could be extended for a period of up to three years by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments, subject to DCLG amendment of the transitional 
provisions to extend the period in which the statutory functions are delegated to 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd.  

1.2. In October 2015, the Secretary of State confirmed the transitional provisions would 
be amended to allow an extension of the contracts for a period of one year for 
audits of principal local government bodies.  These include Horsham District 
Council.  This means new arrangements must be in place for Horsham District 
Council for the 2018/19 audits.

1.3. Therefore the audit of accounts from 2018/19 Horsham District Council has to 
appoint its own external auditor.  Appointments for 2018/19 must be made by 31 
December 2017. Councils can make the appointment themselves or in conjunction 
with other bodies. Another option is to join a national collective scheme.  In July 
2016, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government specified 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd as an appointing person under regulation 3 of 
the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 to operate a national 
collective scheme.  493 councils, including Horsham District Council, are eligible to 
take part in this scheme.  Public Sector Audit Appointments is a not-for-profit 
company which already administers the current audit contracts and was set up by 
the Local Government Association (LGA). 

1.4. To operate the new external audit contract each Council will have to set up an 
auditor panel with independent members to manage the contract in addition to the 
Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee.  

1.5. For audit of the accounts from 2018/19, Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd says 
it will be able to appoint an auditor to relevant principal authorities that choose to opt 
into its national collective scheme. Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd will also 
manage the contracts, avoiding the need for each individual council to set up and 
run its own auditor panel.

1.6. The Chief Executive expressed an initial interest in joining the national collective 
scheme in March 2016.  On 27 October 2016 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
invited Councils to opt into the collective scheme by 9 March 2017. The regulations 
for appointing an external auditor say this is a decision that must be made by full 
Council.

Page 209



2. Relevant Council policy

2.1. This report supports the Corporate Plan priority of ensuring financial sustainability 
by taking a procurement route most likely to secure the optimal combination of price 
and quality for external audit services.

3. Details 

3.1. Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd are offering a procurement approach that 
includes: 

 following the OJEU restricted procedure;
 a 5 year contract length;
 two or three contract areas (likely to be contiguous geographically);
 awarding lots to the most economically advantageous tenders;
 graduating lot size to reward the better tenders with larger volumes of work;
 awarding no more than one lot per area to any successful supplier to support 

independence locally;
 maximising the number of firms invited to tender aligned to the volume of 

principal authorities that opt in, by applying a framework of rules and evaluation 
criteria which will ensure multiple suppliers in each geographical area and which 
will avoid undue dominance across the areas and lots as a whole.

3.2. This procurement approach has a number of attractions to Horsham District 
Council:

 avoids the cost and time involved in carrying out an EU procurement exercise 
itself;

 because the Audit Commission made all previous external audit appointments 
avoids the risk of a contract being let by officers who have never let a contract 
for these services before;

 avoids any direct procurement costs because Public Sector Audit Appointments 
Ltd is a not for profit company who will cover their costs as part of the on-going 
price;
is likely to mean Horsham will have the same auditors as West Sussex partners 
in shared services, all of whom have indicated they are likely to opt in;

 is likely to give us a better price and quality mix than we could achieve by 
tendering alone in a market with a lot of buyers and only a limited number of 
suppliers:

 reduces the risk of a substantial increase in fees above those of the current 
contracts that the Audit Commission obtained at very competitive rates;

 gives us assurance we will have a qualified, registered and independent 
external auditor appointed on time;

 avoids the cost of setting up an auditor panel to manage the contract while 
providing professional ongoing management of the contract on our behalf.

4. Next Steps

4.1. This report recommends the Council accepts the invitation to become an opted in 
authority to the Public Sector Audit Appointments’ procurement and delegate to 
Director of Corporate Resources to enter into the scheme on behalf of the Council 

Page 210



after being satisfied as to the terms and conditions.  If the Council approves this 
recommendation the Director of Corporate Resources will notify Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd as soon as possible, and certainly before the 9 March deadline.

4.2. Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd’s timetable for the procurement is detailed in 
the table below.

Key milestone Target Date

Issue OJEU Contract Notice and Selection 
Questionnaire (SQ) available on request

20 February 2017

Deadline for eligible bodies to notify PSAA of 
their decision to opt in to the scheme for audits 
of 2018/19 accounts

9 March 2017

Deadline for submission of SQs 21 March 2017

Issue ITT to short-listed suppliers 6 April 2017

Deadline for submission of tenders 10 May 2017

PSAA Board approves contract award 30 June 2017

5. Outcome of Consultations

5.1. The Chairman of Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee and the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance & Assets were consulted.  Both support the proposal. 

5.2. The Monitoring Officer and the officer Senior Leadership Team have been 
consulted and support the proposal.  

6. Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected

6.1. Appointing our own auditor was considered but rejected because there are 493 
Councils seeking new auditors in the same time frame and as one of the smaller 
organisations involved we are likely to get a better price buying as a collective.  
Other reasons are we have no experience of appointing external auditors, as they 
were previously appointed by the Audit Commission and the letting of the contract 
would be over the EU procurement limit and therefore would be time consuming  
and potentially expensive, to let.  Managing such a contract would require us to set 
up an auditor panel with independent members to manage the contract in addition 
to the Accounts, Audit and Governance Committee.  This would carry on-going 
costs that would be covered in the joint arrangements if the Council opted for the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited approach.

Page 211



6.2. We could, theoretically, appoint auditors jointly with other Councils.  In discussion 
with the West Sussex Chief Finance Officers all propose to recommend joining the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd national procurement so there is no scope for 
a local option.  The Council has not been notified of any other partnerships we 
would be eligible to join.

7. Resource Consequences

7.1. There are no immediate financial implications of this decision.  There will not be a 
fee to join the sector-led arrangements. The audit fees that opted-in bodies will be 
charged will cover the costs to Public Sector Audit Appointments of appointing 
auditors and managing the arrangements. Public Sector Audit Appointments expect 
to achieve fees lower than the costs individual authorities will be able to negotiate. 
However, due to the relatively low fees of the current contracts the Council does 
carry a risk the new fees could be higher than those paid at present. 

 
7.2. Opting into the Public Sector Audit Appointments offer, authorities will avoid the 

Council incurring its own procurement and management of contracts and also the 
costs of meeting the requirement to set up an auditor panel with independent 
members 

8. Legal Consequences

8.1. The legal implications of this recommendation are referred to in the body of the 
report.

9. Risk Assessment

9.1. Appointing Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd substantially reduces the key risks 
associated with appointing an external auditor.  If the Council accepts this decision 
we do not consider there are any medium or high risks of not appointing an auditor 
on time, or achieving sub-optimal price or quality from the service.

10. Other Considerations

10.1. There are no specific equality, diversity or sustainability issues arising from this 
decision.  In its use of lots, mostly regionally based, Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd is seeking to ensure the best possible local access to the work 
without undermining the pressure to achieve value for money from the service.

Page 212


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	7 Recommendations from Cabinet
	9 Revised Constitution
	Appendix 1 Constitution Schedule of Revisions
	Appendix 2 Draft Constitution
	A1 Appendix 2 Draft Constitution
	Political neutrality
	5b. 9   Officers serve the Council as a whole. It follows that they must serve all councillors and not just those of any particular political group and must ensure that the individual rights of all councillors are respected. Officers must follow ever...
	Relationships
	Councillors
	5b. 10  Officers are responsible to the Council directly through their line manager. For some, their role is to give advice to councillors and senior managers and all are there to carry out the Council’s work. Mutual respect between officers and coun...
	The Local Community and Service Users
	5b. 11  Officers should always remember their responsibilities to the community  they serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all groups and individuals within that community as defined by the policies of the Council.
	Contractors
	5b. 12 All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or potential contractors, should be made known to the appropriate manager. Orders and  contracts  must  be awarded  in accordance with  the Council’s Constitution, Co...
	5b. 13  If officers engage or supervise contractors or have any other official relationship with contractors and have previously had or currently have a relationship in a private or domestic capacity with contractors, they shall declare that relation...
	Inter Staff Relationships
	5b. 14 Officers should be mindful of how personal relationships with colleagues might be perceived by fellow workers, members and third parties. Any potential conflicts of interest should be reported to the appropriate manager and officers should tak...
	Appointment and other employment matters
	5b. 15  If officers are involved in appointments they should ensure that these are made on the basis of merit. It would be unlawful for an officer to make an appointment which was based on anything other than the ability of the candidate to undertake...
	5b. 16  Similarly, officers  should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion or pay  adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner, or very close friend.
	Outside commitments / other employment
	5b. 17  Officers have conditions of service which require them to obtain written consent to undertake any outside employment. They should be clear about their contractual obligations and shall not take outside employment which conflicts with the Coun...
	5b. 18  Any consent would normally take into account the additional time demands on their role with the Council and the potential for disruption or negative impact on their employment with the Council.
	5b. 19  Officers should follow the Council’s rules on the ownership of intellectual property or copyright created during their employment.
	Personal interests
	5b. 20  Officers must declare to the appropriate manager, any nonfinancial interests that could conflict with the Council’s interests (see paragraphs. x and x).
	5b. 21  Officers must declare to the appropriate manager any financial interests which could conflict with the Council’s interests (see paragraphs. x and x).
	5b. 22  Officers must declare to the appropriate manager any personal interests that could conflict with the Council’s interests, (e.g., involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Council, membership of another public body, involve...
	Equality issues
	5b. 23  Officers should ensure that policies relating to equality issues as agreed by the Cabinet are complied with in addition to the requirements of the law. All members of the local community, customers and other employees have a right to be treat...
	Separation of roles during tendering (procurement code)
	5b. 24  If Officers are involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors they should be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the Council, where this applies. Senior employees who have both a client and contracto...
	5b. 25   If officers are in contractor or client units they must exercise fairness and impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and subcontractors.
	5b. 26   If officers are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either internal bidders or external contractors they should not disclose that information to any unauthorised party or organisation.
	5b. 27   If officers are contemplating a management buy out  (or other internal transfer service arrangements) they should, as soon as they have formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate manager and withdraw from the contract awarding processes.
	5b. 28  Officers should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial...
	Corruption
	5b. 29  Officers must be aware that it is a serious criminal offence for them  corruptly to receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or advantage for doing or not  doing anything or showing favour or disfavour to any person in their official capa...
	Notes for general guidance
	Register of personal interests, hospitality and gifts and financial interests
	Planning applications
	5c Planning protocol
	This Protocol takes into account the updated ‘Seven Principles of Public Life’ (the ‘Nolan Principles’). These are selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. It also takes into account  the changes introduc...
	Introduction
	If members have any doubts about the application of this Protocol to their own circumstances, they should seek advice early from the Monitoring Officer or one of his staff and preferably well before any meeting takes place.

	Members should always first comply with the rules in the Members’ Code of Conduct .This includes rules on interest and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs), other interests identified by the Council and the general rules giving effect to the seven (...
	This Members’ Planning Protocol seeks to explain and supplement the Members’ Code of Conduct and the law on decision making for the purposes of planning control. Members not abiding by this Members’ Planning Protocol may put the Council at risk of pro...
	2. Development Proposals and Personal Interests.
	A member should:
	3. Using Discretion in the Planning Process (natural justice, predisposition and predetermination).
	Members should:
	4. Contact with Applicants, Developers and Objectors.
	Members should:

	7.  Unless they have a disclosable or overriding other personal conflict of interest, they will not have correctly used their discretion or may have breached this Planning protocol by:
	a) listening or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested parties;
	8. Lobbying by Councillors.
	Members should:
	9. Site Visits/Inspections.
	Members should:
	10. Public Speaking at Meetings.
	Members should:
	11. Dealing with Officers.
	Members should:
	12. Decision Making.
	Members should:
	13. Training.
	Members should:

	Citation and commencement
	2. This Scheme may be cited as the Horsham District Council Members' Allowances Scheme, and shall have effect from 11 May 2015 and for subsequent years as amended by the insertion of substituted appendices in accordance with paragraph 12.
	Definitions
	5. Special Responsibility Allowances
	a) For each year a special responsibility allowance shall be paid to those Members who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the Council that are specified in Appendix 1.
	b) Where the members of the Council are divided into different political groups and a majority belongs to one of those groups, a special responsibility allowance shall be paid to at least one member who does not belong to the group to which the majori...
	c) Subject to the provisions of this Scheme, the amount of each such  allowance shall be the amount specified against that special responsibility  in Appendix 1.
	6. Dependants' Carers' Allowance
	8.  Co-optees’ allowance
	9.   Suspension of a Member
	11.  Part-year entitlements
	2.  Special Responsibility Allowances (Paragraph x)
	3. Dependants' Carers' allowance (Paragraph x)
	4. Co-optees' allowance (paragraph x)
	b) Motorcycles
	2. Subsistence
	2. Other approved duties
	7.1  Introduction



	10 Electoral Review of Horsham: Warding Arrangements
	Warding arrangements response to LGBCE consultation
	Warding Arrangements Proposal
	Map Draft Ward Proposal Polling Districts and Parishes Nov16

	11 Interim Review of Polling Districts and Places
	12 Appointment of External Auditors

